
  
 

APOPKA CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
June 06, 2018 1:30 PM 

APOPKA CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 

CALL TO ORDER 
INVOCATION 
PLEDGE 

 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  

1. City Council special meeting April 11, 2018. 
2. City Council regular meeting May 16, 2018. 

 
AGENDA REVIEW 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT; STAFF RECOGNITION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

Employee Recognition: 
1. Ten Year Service Award - Kenneth Krouse – Public Services/Water Plants  

Thirty Year Service Award - Kevin Kwader – Fire Department/EMS 
 
Presentations: 

1. Sunshine Law Review.            City Attorney Cliff Shepard 
 

2. Presentation on the final report from Woodard & Curran on the     Kevin Burgess 
Management Assessment of the Apopka Water Meetering & Billing Systems.  

 
Public Comment Period:  
The Public Comment Period is for City-related issues that may or may not be on today’s Agenda. If you are here for a matter that 
requires a public hearing, please wait for that item to come up on the agenda. If you wish to address the Council, you must fill out an 
Intent to Speak form and provide it to the City Clerk prior to the start of the meeting. If you wish to speak during the Public Comment 
Period, please fill out a green-colored Intent-to-Speak form. If you wish to speak on a matter that requires a public hearing, please fill 
out a white-colored Intent-to-Speak form. Speaker forms may be completed up to 48 hours in advance of the Council meeting. Each 
speaker  will  have  four minutes to  give  remarks,  regardless  of  the  number  of  items  addressed.  Please refer to Resolution No. 
2016-16 for further information regarding our Public Participation Policy & Procedures for addressing the City Council. 
 
CONSENT (Action Item) 

1. Authorize the sale of Alcohol at the 4th of July City Event. 
2. Approve the appointment of a new Planning Commission member.   
3. Approve the appointment of a new Fire Department Pension member. 
4. Authorize a private street agreement for traffic control with the Townhomes at Wekiva Park. 
5. Authorize the disposal of Jet A fuel as surplus property. 
6. Award a contract for the construction of a Reclaim Water System Extension on Golden Gem Road.  
7. Approve the extension of the Piggybacking Agreement for Disaster Recovery and Debris Removal Services with CrowderGulf. 
8. Accept and update signatories with Florida Community Bank.  

 
BUSINESS (Action Item) 

1. Designate an official voting delegate for the Florida League of Cities.   Edward Bass 
2. Approve the issuance of a blanket purchase order for the purchase of utility commodities.           Kevin Burgess 
3. Approve a budget amendment for the Public Services Water Maintenance Division.                 Kevin Burgess 
4. Award a contract for a Capital Improvement Revenue Note.       Edward Bass 
5. Authorize the replacement of the Fire Department Tower Truck. Chief Carnesale 
6. Authorize the construction of a life support ambulance for the Fire Department.                                  Chief Carnesale 
 
7. Final Development Plan – Carter Electric                                                                                                       Jean Sanchez 

Project:  Carter Land Development, LLC  
Location: Southwest corner of Marshall Lake Road and Bradshaw Road.  

1



  
 

 
8. Final Development Plan – Church's Chicken                                                            Jean Sanchez 

Project:  CHC-845 S Orange Blossom Trail Apopka FL LLC – Location: 845 South Orange Blossom Trail 
 

9. PUD Master Plan - Final Development Plan – RaceTrac                                                                             Jean Sanchez 
Project: Zellwood Properties, LLC – Location: Northwest corner of Hermit Smith Road and US 441 

 
PUBLIC HEARINGS/ORDINANCES/RESOLUTION (Action Item) 

1. Ordinance No. 2646 – Second Reading - Comp Plan Amendment                 Phil Martinez 
Project:  Lynn R. Fontaine – Location: 4353 McDonald Gley Road 
 

2. Ordinance No. 2647 – Second Reading – Change of Zoning                                                                       Phil Martinez 
Project:  Lynn R. Fontaine – Location: 4353 McDonald Gley Road 
 

3. Ordinance No. 2648 – Second Reading - Comp Plan Amendment                 Phil Martinez 
Project: Janine and Richard Edmondson – Location: 3904 Plymouth Sorrento Road 
 

4. Ordinance No. 2649 – Second Reading - Change of Zoning                                                                        Phil Martinez 
Project: Janine and Richard Edmondson – Location: 3904 Plymouth Sorrento Road 
 

5. Ordinance No. 2650 – Second Reading – Comp Plan Amendment                 Phil Martinez 
Project: SunTrust Bank – Location: 920 East Semoran Boulevard 
 

6. Ordinance No. 2651 – Second Reading – Change of Zoning                                                                      Phil Martinez 
Project: SunTrust Bank – Location: 920 East Semoran Boulevard 
 

7. Ordinance No. 2653 - Second Reading – Change of Zoning                                                                        Phil Martinez 
Project: Laura R. Murphy – Location: 359 W. Lester Road 
 

8. Ordinance No. 2656 – First Reading - Change of Zoning & Master Plan                                                             Bobby Howell 
Project:  AHIFO-18, LLC (Bridle Path Subdivision) – Location:  West of Plymouth-Sorrento Road;  
east of SR 429 approximately½ mile north of the intersection of Kelly Park Road and Plymouth-Sorrento Road. 
 

9. Ordinance No. 2658 – First Reading - Comp Plan Amendment                         Phil Martinez 
Project: Eagles Landing at Ocoee, LLC – Location:  South of Peterson Road, west of SR 429 
 

10. Resolution No. 2018-08 – Vacate – Stanton Ridge Plat                                                                                            Bobby Howell 
Project:  Central Florida Expressway Authority – Location: West side of SR 429, west of the 
intersection of Belgian Street and Plymouth Sorrento Road 

 
CITY COUNCIL REPORTS 
 
MAYOR’S REPORT 

1. Appointment of Finance Director. 
2. Community Center acknowledgement and dedication discussion.    

 
ADJOURNMENT 

 
 

MEETINGS AND UPCOMING EVENTS 

DATE TIME EVENT 

June 6, 2018 1:30pm –  City Council Meeting 

June 7, 2018 5:30pm – Food Truck Round Up 

June 11, 2018 6:30pm –  CONA Meeting – UCF Apopka Business Incubator 

June 12, 2018  5:30pm – 7:30pm Planning Commission Meeting 

June 16, 2018 11:00am – 12:00pm Cookies & Milk with a Cop – NW Orange/Apopka Library 

June 20, 2018  7:00pm –  City Council Meeting 

June 25, 2018 10:00am – Lake Apopka Natural Gas District Board Meeting: Winter Garden 

July 4, 2018 - Independence Day – City Offices Closed 

2



  
 

July 4, 2018 6:00pm – 9:00pm July 4
th
 Event – Entertainment, Food & Fireworks – NW Recreation Complex 

July 5, 2018 5:30pm –  Food Truck Round Up 

July 5, 2018 1:30pm –  City Council Meeting is cancelled however a Budget Workshop will take its place.  

July 9, 2018 6:30pm –  CONA Meeting – UCF Apopka Business Incubator 

July 10, 2018 5:30pm – 7:30pm  Planning Commission Meeting 

July 11, 2018 6:00pm –  Tentative Budget Workshop 

July 18, 2018 7:00pm –  City Council Meeting 

July 21, 2018 11:00am – 12:00pm  Cookies & Milk with a Cop – NW Orange/Apopka Library 

July 23, 2018 10:00am –   Lake Apopka Natural Gas District Board Meeting: Winter Garden 

 
Individuals with disabilities needing assistance to participate in any of these proceedings should contact the City Clerk at least two (2) working days in 
advance of the meeting date and time at (407) 703-1704.  F.S. 286.0105 If a person decides to appeal any decision or recommendation made by 
Council with respect to any matter considered at this meeting, he will need record of the proceedings, and that for such purposes he may need to ensure 
that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. 
 
Any opening invocation that is offered before the official start of the Council meeting shall be the voluntary offering of a private person, to and for the 
benefit of the Council.  The views or beliefs expressed by the invocation speaker have not been previously reviewed or approved by the City Council or 
the city staff, and the City is not allowed by law to endorse the religious or non-religious beliefs or views of such speaker.  Persons in attendance at the 
City Council meeting are invited to stand during the opening ceremony. However, such invitation shall not be construed as a demand, order, or any other 
type of command.  No person in attendance at the meeting shall be required to participate in any opening invocation that is offered or to participate in the 
Pledge of Allegiance.  You may remain seated within the City Council Chambers or exit the City Council Chambers and return upon completion of the 
opening invocation and/or Pledge of Allegiance if you do not wish to participate in or witness the opening invocation and/or the recitation of the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 
  

3



CITY OF APOPKA 

 

Minutes of the special City Council meeting held on April 11, 2018, at 5:30 p.m., at the 

Apopka Community Center. 
 

PRESENT:   Mayor Joe Kilsheimer 

Commissioner Billie Dean  

Commissioner Diane Velazquez 

Commissioner Kyle Becker  

Commissioner Doug Bankson 

City Attorney Cliff Shepard 

 

PRESS PRESENT:  John Perry - The Apopka Chief 

    Reggie Connell, The Apopka Voice 

 

INVOCATION: - Mayor Kilsheimer introduced Reverend John Fisher, First United Methodist 

Church, who gave the invocation. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Mayor Kilsheimer led in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

PUBLIC HEARING/ORDINANCES/RESOLUTION 

David Moon, Planning Manager, said the three items for public hearing this evening are the New 

Errol Future Land Use Amendment, the PUD rezoning and Master Plan, and the Development 

Agreement. He advised the recommendations from the Development Review Committee (DRC) 

is to adopt Ordinance No. 2581 for the future land use amendment. The recommendation is to 

adopt Ordinance No. 2638 for the change of zoning and Master Plan, subject to the effective date 

of Ordinance No. 2581. The third item is the New Errol Development Agreement which only 

requires one public hearing. The recommendation is to approve the New Errol Development 

Agreement and authorize the Mayor to execute the agreement subject to final review by the City 

Attorney for format and content. He advised over the last few weeks city staff and the applicant’s 

attorney have been ironing out the details of the Development Agreement and there may be some 

new issues identified to be addressed. He affirmed this condition authorizes the City Attorney to 

make minor changes to the Development Agreement without coming back to City Council.  

 

Mr. Moon said to summarize the Development Agreement, the first key item is transportation of 

the spine road, also known as Staghorn Drive where the entire right-of-way must be dedicated by 

the first residential permit. The developer is responsible for design, planning, and permitting of 

the spine road. The first phase of the construction from Errol Parkway to Golf Course Drive is 

required to occur prior to issuance of the first vertical permit and the second phase from Golf 

Course Drive to Vick Road is to be completed prior to issuance of the thirty-fourth vertical 

building permit. The developer is also required to place a performance bond for the construction 

of the road in the event they are unable to complete the road, the City can rely on the bond to 

finish construction.  An updated Traffic Impact Analysis is required at the time of the first 

Preliminary Development Plan and this analysis is to cover all of the New Errol development 

project. He said an onsite circulation plan has to be presented to the City to address bike trails, 

golf cart paths, etc. Dedication of right-of-way on the east side of the New Errol property is 

4



CITY OF APOPKA 
Minutes of a special City Council meeting held on April 11, 2018 at 5:30 p.m.  

Page 2 

 

necessary to accommodate future expansion of Vick Road right-of-way. He advised there is a 

phasing plan for the development.  

 

Mr. Moon advised after the last public hearing, there was new language in terms of the buffers 

that has been placed in the Development Agreement. He stated at the time of Preliminary 

Development Plan, there can be adjustments made to the landscaping to accommodate additional 

screening and buffering adjacent to existing residential areas if it is determined the existing 

buffers are not sufficient. The location of the perimeter walls within the buffer will be 

determined at the Preliminary Development Plan and shall provide sufficient setback of the 

perimeter wall from the property boundary, not to exceed three feet to allow for installation and 

maintenance of the wall. One master association will be developed for all of New Errol and there 

is assignment which means the developer cannot transfer the development agreement and master 

plan over to another entity unless it is approved in writing by the City.  

 

Commissioner Becker inquired regarding assignment concerning transfer of the development 

agreement subject to council approval and how this would support or affect section three where 

it discusses the developer will have the right to develop improved market and/or sell phases or 

portions of the property.  

 

City Attorney Shepard said typically with developments like this they will have different 

builders, but they are not the developer.  

 

Commissioner Bankson discussed the Traffic Impact Analysis and the Transportation Capacity 

Study and inquired about transportation mitigation for a signal at Vick Road was required for the 

future, stating it seems to be represented differently throughout the documents. Mr. Moon said an 

updated Traffic Impact Analysis will be required at the time of the first development application. 

He spoke of how close the wall will be to some of the existing homes stating there are two 

people who have to maintain, both the developer and the homeowner. The homeowners of 

properties extremely close need to be able to maintain their property stating the four to one rule 

is a good rule that for every four feet up you go one foot out for placement of a ladder. He stated 

he discussed this with the attorney and said he would like to see a minimum of five feet setback 

in to the buffer for these existing structures. He said the purpose of the PUD zoning procedures is 

to encourage imaginative and innovative design for tracts of land, stating this gives the ability to 

be creative and change density, which has been done for them. He pointed out that on the other 

side, the code states the location and arrangement of structures shall be designed to ensure the 

proposed uses are not detrimental to existing or committed surrounding land uses or 

neighborhoods and shall include buffers, access controls, setbacks, etc. He said there are some 

extenuating circumstances for existing structures they have to consider.  

 

City Attorney Shepard with regards to the request that a fence being placed further into the 

property or buffer of the developer would create a taking, in his opinion, if that were the case, 

anytime you were asked to setback your home from a property line, you would have a taking. He 

declared we all know there are reasons for setbacks and certain zoning categories and a PUD is a 

negotiated zoning category. He said the developer may have legitimate concerns such as once the 

wall or perimeter buffer is up, it makes it more difficult for the developer to maintain the other 

side of the wall and it also creates a liability hazard. He stated the issue here is one for both 

parties to have an ability to maintain their structure, stating some existing structures will have 

5



CITY OF APOPKA 
Minutes of a special City Council meeting held on April 11, 2018 at 5:30 p.m.  

Page 3 

 

difficulty in maintaining their property. He suggested, as a possible solution, an easement for 

maintenance purposes or a cross access easement where the developer would grant additional 

space. He said this could be worked into the development agreement.  

 

Helmut Wyzisk, III of Signature H property Group, said it was brought to their attention 

yesterday that certain unverified information collected from the internet was distributed to City 

Council concerning Jonathan Leinwand, an attorney with Greenspoon Marder Law Firm that 

previously assisted Signature H with legal representation on a business deal for the New Errol 

project. He advised Mr. Leinwand’s involvement with New Errol was strictly as an attorney at 

the very early stages of the project. He is not a partner, principal or participant in Signature H. 

They do not believe the truth or veracity of the information provided to Council, or believe it has 

any relevancy to the decisions before Council tonight, they would like to state on the record for 

affirmative steps they will immediately take to prevent this issue from potentially serving as a 

distraction from the evaluation of the merits of this project. Mr. Leinwand will no longer be 

involved in any capacity with New Errol. To that end, any future legal work on the project will 

be handled from different attorneys from a different law firm. Additionally, the registered agent 

designated for Signature H will be immediately transferred to the Lowndes Law Firm. It is their 

hope these actions will be met with Council’s approval and remove this issue from further 

discussion at this public forum.  

 

Mr. Wyzisk said at the last hearing they had an opportunity to introduce their team and tonight 

they are here to specifically address the Development Agreement, the phasing plan, and provide 

more information on assurances they have in place. He advised they have incorporated some 

items in the development agreement that were requested at the last meeting, as well as 

specifications requested. He reviewed the timeline from the introduction of this project. He 

advised they held meetings with the Villas HOA Board and worked with them, stating he felt 

very confident in their relationship with the Villas. He advised they have expedited the beginning 

of removal of debris and fallen trees around the golf course.  

 

Jonathan Huels, representing Signature H, said this was the second reading from the March 27, 

2018, meeting and they will have a much shorter presentation. He said they will be focusing on 

the Master Development Agreement and if approved by City Council, this is a legal binding 

contract between Signature H and the City of Apopka that assures this project will be developed 

in a manner as presented to the community and the City with contractual obligations. He said as 

they move forward, with each phase in this project a Preliminary Development Plan will be put 

together with much more detail that will be reviewed by City Staff, DRC, and then by City 

Council for final review and decision. He reviewed the development standards and the phasing 

plan with conditions and the development timeline. He advised other transportation obligations 

include dedication of land adjacent to Vick Road for future road widening, construction of a 

northbound left turn lane from Vick Road on to the spine road, and he stated internal streets will 

be privately owned and maintained. He advised the spine road will serve as the primary 

construction access into the project. The perimeter walls will be setback sufficient distance from 

the property boundary, and the location of the perimeter wall will be determined during the 

Preliminary Development Plan. He spoke of requests from the Errol Estate Property Owners 

Association (EEPOA) and most of these concerns being addressed.  He spoke of Commissioner 

Bankson’s comments concerning the perimeter wall and said they can work on a compromise by 

adding a condition to setback the perimeter wall a minimum of five feet from any adjacent 

6



CITY OF APOPKA 
Minutes of a special City Council meeting held on April 11, 2018 at 5:30 p.m.  

Page 4 

 

structure on a third parties private property. He said they recognize those issues and they want to 

work through them. He said they would require it be subject to a mutually agreeable access 

easement with full indemnification to their property owner and feel it would make most sense to 

have an easement with the EEPOA or a sub-association rather than negotiating with each 

property owner. He advised their recommendation is to approve the Comprehensive Plan 

Amendment, PUD Rezoning and Master Development Agreement consistent with 

recommendations of the Planning Commission and City Staff.  

 

Commissioner Becker said his comments are in line with Ordinance 2581 regarding the 

Comprehensive Plan Amendment. He stated the biggest gap in his opinion is the idea of 

finances. He reviewed the timeline starting on August 3
rd

 when he met with Signature H Group 

and his questioning the funding and being told it would be through equity financing. At the 

August 22
nd

 public meeting he was told they had selected a finance partner investor and it would 

be made public within two weeks. He affirmed that was never made public. He declared he had a 

meeting on February 19
th

 with Signature H and members from Developer Capital at City Hall 

where he asked for two outputs; any sort of referenceable projects or material Developer Capital 

had done previously; and if they had letter of intents, what are some of the terms within those 

letters. He said there was pause regarding wanting to divulge company information and he was 

fine with that if they wanted to redact that information. He stated to this date he has not seen 

anything in terms of any letter of intent of any investor that wants to invest in this project. He 

stated at the last meeting on March 27
th

, Mr. Carmichael highlighted some past projects he has 

done with Developer Capital and Mr. Wyzisk said they had multiple letter of intents. He had a 

scheduled meeting this past Monday at 8:00 a.m. at City Hall with them and he was not met with 

any financial information. He affirmed that five different times he asked for financial detail of 

how they would go through with this project and to date he does not have any information. He 

spoke of comments made previously regarding Mr. Leinwand and replacing him as the registered 

agent for Signature H and asked if they had done projects with him previously and why this 

would happen this late in the process.  

 

Mr. Huels said he wanted on the record that this was a private development project and this line 

of questioning is outside the scope of the criteria before them of how they should be looking at a 

Comprehensive Plan Amendment, a rezoning, and development agreement. He stated if this was 

a joint venture with the City, if the City was contributing land, or if they were going to be a 

partner, then they could ask those questions. He stated Signature H was not asking for any 

funding from the City to do this project, and they were not asking for impact fee credits. He 

declared if this were denied on this basis, and had to go to appeal, it would not survive through 

the judicial process. 

 

Bob Carmichael, Developer Capital, said as it relates to the project financing, this is a project 

with multiple phases and it will be financed under multiple phases. He declared they had letters 

of intent for each phase of the project. He advised that once there was a project, then full 

underwriting will occur and they will be seeing commitment letters and a closing. He said they 

have a letter of intent for $20 million for all infrastructure; they have a letter of intent for $15-

17.5 million for outside project equity and advised they were looking at 50% of the equity 

coming from the developer based on what has been done and land contribution; he stated they 

have a $14 million construction revolver and he has worked with the lenders on a five year 

program; there is a $20 million construction mini-permanent on the clubhouse area; and a $20 

7



CITY OF APOPKA 
Minutes of a special City Council meeting held on April 11, 2018 at 5:30 p.m.  

Page 5 

 

million letter of intent for the building of the first phase of the assisted living facility. He advised 

they are also in discussion with one of their hedge funds wanting to fund all aspects of the 

project, but he stated he was not sure that would be best for their client. He said he envisions 

specialty lenders in the various aspects of this project. He declared confidentiality was very 

critical to lenders and investors and they do not want their names divulged. He stated it will be 

announced at the right time and right place.  

 

Commissioner Becker said he wants this to happen for the residents of Errol Estates and he does 

support it, however, he feels he has an obligation to ask these questions and protect the residents. 

He stated Signature H has not done this before and he was trying to vet this to the best ability he 

can to make sure it is fiscally sound to come to fruition and property values go up. He said they 

need to be accountable for what they say they are going to do.  

 

Commissioner Bankson said in the staff report the future land-use map shows the golf course 

green space as PUD and felt this was in error since the golf course is not subject to the PUD.  

 

Commissioner Velazquez said she met with Mr. Hitt and Mr. Moon to review the Development 

Agreement and said she was satisfied with this after meeting with staff.  

 

In response to Commissioner Becker asking if the City was comfortable with the language in 

section three regarding amenities, City Attorney Shepard advised he was satisfied with the 

language in terms of protecting the resident. He declared that he represents the City and said that 

nothing Commissioner Becker said was unfair or unusual. He stated this agreement does not stop 

ill intent on either side, but the goal is to express the intentions of the parties. He said in terms of 

the task to provide the most protection he could in a contract form to get the citizens in Errol 

Estates what they are promised and to commit the developer on the path to do that, with 

incentives and the path for the developer to make a profit. He stated regardless of what they think 

of the questions being asked here, they are being asked to benefit the residents.  

 

Commissioner Becker said to better qualify his questions, the waterpark is to consist of a splash 

pad, water slides, lazy river, and swimming lanes. As written the language states “at minimum, 

but not limited to uses” and stating if they are talking the same language, he will have more 

comfort. He spoke of discrepancies in the Master Plan and the Development Agreement. 

 

City Attorney Shepard said the Master Plan was drafted looking at the big picture and the 

Development Agreement is drilled down to specifics. He advised there is a statement that in a 

conflict, the Development Agreement controls.  

 

Mr. Huels based on the meeting on Monday, he worked with the City Attorney to put in a clause 

that states if there is a conflict between the two documents, the Development Agreement 

controls. 

He stated with regards to Commissioner Becker’s question regarding the waterpark, those are the 

minimums and they have obligated themselves contractually that the waterpark will contain 

those elements.  

 

8



CITY OF APOPKA 
Minutes of a special City Council meeting held on April 11, 2018 at 5:30 p.m.  

Page 6 

 

Commissioner Becker said he understands no preliminary or final design required for the golf 

course of the Highlands section, but why is there no final required for the section of the course 

that will materially change. 

 

Mr. Hitt said when the golf course comes in for review, any of the water courses do have to be 

reviewed by SJWMD and the City Engineer. He advised they would get something to City 

Council.  

 

Commissioner Becker spoke of concerns regarding soil contamination and asked if the level one 

study will be applicable to the golf course as well as the residential area. 

 

Mr. Hitt responded in the affirmative.  

 

In response to Commissioner Becker, Mr. Huels advised the construction access will be part of 

the Final Development Plan for each phase of construction.  

 

Commissioner Becker said he agreed with Commissioner Bankson’s concern regarding the 

buffer and he supported expansion of that.  

 

1. Ordinance No. 2581 – Second Reading - Comprehensive Plan Amendment – Large Scale – 

Project: New Errol - Apopka - Signature H Group LLC – Located north of Old Dixie 

Highway, south of Lester Road, west of Vick Road. The City Clerk read the title as follows: 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2581 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING THE 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM PARKS AND RECREATION 

TO RESIDENTIAL MEDIUM LOW (0-7.5 DU/AC), RESIDENTIAL LOW 

(0-5 DU/AC), RESIDENTIAL LOW SUBURBAN (0-3.5 DU/AC), 

COMMERCIAL (MAXIMUM 0.25 FAR) FOR CERTAIN REAL 

PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED WEST OF VICK ROAD, SOUTH 

OF WEST LESTER ROAD, AND NORTH OF OLD DIXIE HIGHWAY, 

COMPRISING APPROXIMATELY 75.06 +/- ACRES, MORE OR LESS 

AND OWNED BY 5
TH

 HOLE INVESTMENTS LLC; PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

Mayor Kilsheimer opened the meeting to a public hearing. He advised this public hearing would 

be for all three items on the agenda. The title of Ordinance No. 2638 was also read into the 

record.  

 

Eric Wynot, Esquire, representing the EEPOA, said the EEPOA as a fiduciary obligation to its 

members to protect and preserve the welfare and property values of the residents. He said the 

tough questions are for the benefit of the residents, as previously pointed out by Attorney 

Shepard. As stated at previous presentations, the EEPOA does not disagree with the view of this 

beautiful project that Signature H has proffered. What they do disagree with is certain items they 

9



CITY OF APOPKA 
Minutes of a special City Council meeting held on April 11, 2018 at 5:30 p.m.  

Page 7 

 

feel should be included in the Development Agreement. He stated the EEPOA has had one 

request, that City Council mitigate the negative impacts of this project on the current Errol 

residents. He declared a number of those issues have been handled, but they do have two items 

that remain. First is to limit construction traffic on public streets where there is a high risk to 

pedestrian safety and property damage. The second is to ensure sufficient setback of the buffer 

walls in order to allow the New Errol owner, as well as the subsequent HOA to properly 

maintain the buffer walls and to allow the neighboring residents to maintain their own property. 

He stated there are two particular issues they have been hitting on with regards to the 

construction traffic. First is the use of Errol Parkway and second is the use of Lexington 

Parkway. Errol Parkway is an island divided roadway that contains no sidewalks and there are 

significant safety concerns of its use as a primary construction entrance. However, it is going to 

be unavoidable, so a portion of Errol Parkway will need to be used for the development of Phase 

1 of this project. The performance bond offered is great for the City, but there is no protection for 

the pedestrians that share the road or property damage that is likely to occur and gave examples 

of waterlines and irrigation in the median that will be at the expense of the EEPOA and Errol 

residents. The EEPOA asks that an alternative baseline construction entrance be provided for 

Phase I so that use of Errol Parkway from 441 not be utilized and that this be contained in the 

Development Agreement. He said Lexington Parkway was a bigger concern, stating Signature H 

will be using Lexington Parkway for access to and development of Neighborhood F. He declared 

this posed more safety concerns than Errol Parkway with Lexington Parkway being a two way in 

and out road to the existing neighborhoods, particularly The Courtyards. The EEPOA requests 

that the Development Agreement specifically provide alternatives at a minimum be considered or 

that Lexington Parkway be specifically excluded from use that would force the developer to 

explore alternatives.  With regards to the buffers, the proposed Development Agreement does 

provide that the Preliminary Development Plan shall provide for sufficient setback of the 

perimeter wall, but as written now, limits it to three feet. He stated there were representations 

made today by Signature H similar to representations made in the past, that they will agree to a 

five foot setback, which is appreciated by the EEPOA. He stated if this gets added to the 

Development Agreement, the EEPOA considers that a win, but it needs to be added to the 

Development Agreement which, explained by Mr. Huels, controls all the other documents.  He 

affirmed that Commissioner Bankson touched on Section 2.0218, subsection D(5) of the Apopka 

Land Development Code that states “ the location and arrangement of structures shall be 

designed to ensure that the proposed uses are not detrimental to existing neighborhoods”. He 

stated this is a detriment and the setbacks need to be expanded beyond the three feet and this 

needs to be added into the Development Agreement. He stated these mitigation actions can only 

be implemented by the City Council since they are not necessarily required by the City Code or 

Florida Statutes. He said this can be done as the Development Agreement is a negotiable 

document between two parties that, one is negotiating for the protection of residents and the 

other is negotiating for the protection of themselves to make money.  He stated these requests 

will not negatively affect the success of the project and stated that they urge Council amend the 

proposed Development Agreement to include these two mitigation actions.  

 

The following people spoke in favor of the project and requested approval: 

 

Victoria Davies 

Tom Watson 

Christina Angott 

Joyce Clark 

Jean Swette 

Barbara McLeod 

10



CITY OF APOPKA 
Minutes of a special City Council meeting held on April 11, 2018 at 5:30 p.m.  

Page 8 

 

Greg Zbylet Clarence Hodges 

 

The following people spoke not against the project, but requested conditions such as requesting 

the perimeter wall be setback five feet into the buffer to allow for ongoing access for 

maintenance and repair, alternative routes be utilized for the construction.  

 

Dale Fenwick 

Robert Goff 

Frank Maxwell 

No one else wishing to speak, Mayor Kilsheimer closed the public hearing. 

 

Mr. Huels clarified the condition being proposed to be added to the Development Agreement is 

that would modify the Agreement would further advise the setback of the perimeter wall to be a 

setback up to three feet for maintenance of the wall or up to five feet from a structure on an 

adjacent property, whichever is greater.  

 

City Attorney Shepard said he has the suggested language and he would like the opportunity to 

wordsmith this language.  

 

Commissioner Becker said they do not know how many homes come into play with this 

condition, but from the public comments there seems to be three main areas of concern 

expressed. Along the Villas on the west side of hole number nine seems to be problematic where 

the berm is being proposed, the south side of Neighborhood E and the north side of 

Neighborhood F.  

 

Mr. Huels said this is a perimeter wall and when it is setback it creates issues with liability, 

control, and security. He said they cannot agree to a one size fits all, but they hear the issues and 

are willing to, when appropriate, accommodate in order to allow room for existing homeowners 

to be able to move around their property to conduct necessary maintenance without a wall up 

against their current structure.  

 

Commissioner Becker said when this comes before Council during Preliminary Development 

Plan there will be an opportunity for vetting of the placement to make sure this condition is 

adhered to.  

 

Mayor Kilsheimer said the watchword of the night has been in terms of safeguards. He stated all 

of the questions have been appropriate and have been with an eye toward safeguarding the 

existing residents of Errol. He said this is a redevelopment project of a golf course and there are 

very few successful models of redevelopment of golf courses across the United States. He said 

this is a very unique project with the existing homes in a historic community for the City of 

Apopka.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Dean to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2581 for the Comprehensive Plan Amendment for the New Errol project. 

Motion carried 4-1 with Mayor Kilsheimer, and Commissioners Dean, Velazquez, and 

Bankson voting aye, and Commissioner Becker voting nay. 

 

11



CITY OF APOPKA 
Minutes of a special City Council meeting held on April 11, 2018 at 5:30 p.m.  

Page 9 

 

2. Ordinance No. 2638 – Second Reading - Change of Zoning & Master Plan – Project: New 

Errol - Apopka - Signature H Group LLC – Located north of Old Dixie Highway, south of 

Lester Road, west of Vick Road. The City Clerk read the title as follows prior to the public 

hearing: 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2638 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 

THE ZONING FROM PARKS AND RECREATION AND PLANNED UNIT 

DEVELOPMENT TO PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (NEW ERROL); 

FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED WEST OF 

VICK ROAD, SOUTH OF WEST LESTER ROAD, AND NORTH OF OLD 

DIXIE HIGHWAY, COMPRISING APPROXIMATELY 75.06 +/- ACRES, 

MORE OR LESS AND OWNED BY 5
TH

 HOLE INVESTMENTS LLC; 

PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Velazquez, and seconded by Commissioner Bankson, to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2638. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Kilsheimer, and 

Commissioners Dean, Velazquez, Bankson, and Becker voting aye.  

 

3. Development Agreement – New Errol - Project: Signature H Group LLC – Located north of 

Old Dixie Highway, south of Lester Road, west of Vick Ro 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Velazquez to 

approve the Development Agreement with the contingency of where applicable that the 

wall be setback five feet from the existing property. Motion carried unanimously with 

Mayor Kilsheimer, and Commissioners Dean, Velazquez, Bankson, and Becker voting aye. 

 

ADJOURNMENT – There being no further business the meeting adjourned at 7:54 p.m. 

 

 

        __________________________ 

ATTEST:       Bryan Nelson, Mayor 

 

 

___________________________ 

Linda F. Goff, City Clerk 

12



CITY OF APOPKA 

 

Minutes of the regular City Council meeting held on May 16, 2018, at 7:00 p.m., in the 

City of Apopka Council Chambers. 
 

PRESENT:   Mayor Bryan Nelson 

Commissioner Doug Bankson 

Commissioner Kyle Becker  

Commissioner Alice Nolan 

Commissioner Alexander Smith 

City Attorney Cliff Shepard 

City Administrator Glenn Irby 

City Administrator Edward Bass 

 

PRESS PRESENT:  Teresa Sargeant - The Apopka Chief 

    Reggie Connell, The Apopka Voice 

 

INVOCATION: - Mayor Nelson introduced Reverend John Fisher, First Methodist Church of 

Apopka, who gave the invocation. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Mayor Nelson called on Dixie Kepler, Lovell Elementary 

School student who led in the Pledge of Allegiance. She said May 16, 1866, the U.S. Congress 

approved the Shield Nickel. It was called the Shield nickel because of its design and being made 

out of copper-nickel. The Shield nickel came into circulation because of gold and silver coins 

being hoarded or exported after the Civil War.  

 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
1. City Council special meeting March 27, 2018. 

2. City Council regular meeting May 2, 2018. 

 

Commissioner Nolan noted a correction to the May 2, 2018, minutes wherein Commissioner 

Nolan moved to appoint Commissioner Bankson as the Vice Mayor.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan and seconded by Commissioner Smith to approve 

the minutes of March 27, 2018, and May 2, 2018, with the correction as noted.  Motion 

carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Nolan 

and Smith voting aye.  

 

AGENDA REVIEW – City Administrator Irby advised there were no changes.  

 

PUBLIC COMMENT; STAFF RECOGNITION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
Proclamations: 

1. National Police Week Proclamation presented to Chief Mike McKinley. 

 Mayor Nelson read a proclamation recognizing National Police Week and presented it to 

Chief McKinley.  

13



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on May 16, 2018 at 7:00 p.m.  

Page 2 

 

Presentations:  

1. Police Department Certificate of Appreciation.  

Chief McKinley and Deputy Chief Fernandez recognized Makayla Kepler for painting Cops 

Rock rocks and handing them out to police. He said her small token of support has reached 

officers from several agencies. She dreams of becoming a K-9 handler one day and he was 

sure she would reach that goal. He then presented her with a Certificate of Appreciation.  

 

Public Comment Period:  There were no speakers.  

 

CONSENT 
1. Approve the re-appointment of James Greene & Linda Laurendeau to the Planning 

Commission. 

  

 MOTION by Commissioner Bankson and seconded by Commissioner Nolan to approve 

one item on the Consent Agenda. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson and 

Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye.  

 

BUSINESS 

1. PLAT – Binion Reserve Subdivision - Project:  Gail W. Brown – Location: 1078 South 

Binion Road 

 

Jean Sanchez, Planner, presented the Binion Reserve Subdivision Plat. She reviewed the 

location on a map and aerial photo. There are 44 single family residential lots proposed. The 

proposed PLAT/FDP meets the Land Development Code. The developer proposes 

active/passive recreation space and an 11-foot wide walking/bike trail adjacent to Binion 

Road that will connect to the regional trail system. The Planning Commission met on March 

13, 2018 and recommended approval.  

 

Randy June, June Engineering, was present for any questions.  

 

MOTION by Commissioner Becker, and seconded by Commissioner Smith to approve 

the Binion Reserve Subdivision Final Development Plan and Plat as presented. Motion 

carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Nolan, 

and Smith voting aye. 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS/ORDINANCES/RESOLUTION (Action Item) 
1. Ordinance No. 2591 – Second Reading – Comp Plan Amendment - Large Scale 

Project:  Chul Lee Et. Al. – Located at 2309 & 2405 West Kelly Park Road. The City Clerk 

read the title as follows: 
 

ORDINANCE 2591 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING 

14



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on May 16, 2018 at 7:00 p.m.  

Page 3 

THE FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM “COUNTY” RURAL 

TO “CITY” MIXED USE - INTERCHANGE FOR CERTAIN REAL 

PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED NORTH OF WEST KELLY PARK 

ROAD AND WEST OF JASON DWELLEY PARKWAY, OWNED BY 

WON CHUL LEE; BONG JIN CHOE; SOON CHONG; WON CHUL LEE; 

AND SEA MYOG; COMPRISING 39.48 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, 

PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

Phil Martinez, Planner, provided a brief lead-in and reviewed the location. He advised this 

was a request to change the future land use designation from “County” Rural to “City” 

Mixed Use Interchange. The subject property straddles the one-mile radius from Wekiva 

Parkway interchange at Kelly Park Road and is eligible to be within the Kelly Park Crossing 

Form Based Code Area. He advised the property is compatible with the character of the 

surrounding area and consistent with the Mixed Use Interchange Land Use designation.  This 

ordinance was before Council for a First Reading on December 6, 2017, and was transmitted 

to the state. There were no comments or objections from the state agencies. It is now back for 

Second Reading and adoption.  

 

Geoff Summit, applicant, was present for any questions.  

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak he closed the 

public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Becker to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2591. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and 

Commissioner Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye.  

 

2. Ordinance No. 2611 – Second Reading – Comp Plan Amendment - Large Scale 

Project: AHIFO-18 LLC – Located on the north side of West Kelly Park Road, west of 

Plymouth Sorrento Road. The City Clerk read the title as follows: 

 

ORDINANCE 2611 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM “COUNTY” RURAL 

SETTLEMENT TO “CITY” MIXED USE - INTERCHANGE FOR 

CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED WEST OF 

PLYMOUTH SORRENTO ROAD AND EAST OF THE PROPOSED 429, 

OWNED BY AHIFO-18 LLC; COMPRISING 51.0 ACRES, MORE OR 

LESS, PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

15



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on May 16, 2018 at 7:00 p.m.  

Page 4 

Mr. Martinez provided a brief lead-in for Ordinance 2611, explaining that this was before 

Council on December 6, 2017 for First Reading and transmittal to the state. There were no 

objections from the state.  There have been no changes since the First Reading and the 

recommendation is to adopt Ordinance No. 2611. 

 

Jim Hall, representing the applicant, said this will be back before Council in June with 

details. This ordinance is for the future land use and they request approval.  

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak he closed the 

public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Smith to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2611. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and 

Commissioner Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye.  

 

3. Ordinance No. 2644 – Second Reading - Change of Zoning - Project:  Spirit SPE Portfolio 

CA C-Stores, LLC – Location: 1305 West Orange Blossom Trail. The City Clerk read the 

title as follows: 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2644 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 
ORDINANCE 2292, WHICH AMENDS THE ADOPTED “RACETRAC 
PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) MASTER PLAN” FOR 
CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1305 WEST ORANGE 
BLOSSOM TRAIL, COMPRISING 2.94 ACRES MORE OR LESS; 
OWNED BY SPIRIT SPE PORTFOLIO CA C-STORES, LLC; 
PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

Bobby Howell, Senior Planner, advised Ordinance No. 2644 was before Council May 2, 

2018 for First Reading and there have been no changes. The recommendation is to approve at 

Second Reading and adoption. 

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak he closed the 

public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Becker to adopt 

Ordinance No. 2644. Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and 

Commissioner Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye.  

 

4. Ordinance No. 2645 – First Reading - Comp Plan Amendment – Large Scale - Project:  Kent 

Greer – Location:  South of West Kelly Park Road, East of Round Lake Road. The City 

Clerk read the title as follows: 

ORDINANCE NO. 2645 

 

16



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on May 16, 2018 at 7:00 p.m.  

Page 5 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE 

FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING THE FUTURE LAND USE 

DESIGNATION FROM RURAL SETTLEMENT TO MIXED USE – 

INTERCHANGE FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED 

SOUTH OF WEST KELLY PARK ROAD AND EAST OF ROUND LAKE ROAD, 

OWNED BY KENT GREER; COMPRISING 39.6 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, 

PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 

DATE. 

 

Mr. Martinez provided a brief lead-in reviewing the location of the project. He reviewed the 

surrounding land uses and advised this is in compliance with the comprehensive plan.  The 

Planning Commission and DRC recommend approval of the First Reading and authorize 

transmittal to the state agencies.  

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak he closed the 

public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Smith, to approve 

Ordinance No. 2645 at First Reading and authorize transmittal to the state. Motion 

carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioner Bankson, Becker, Nolan, 

and Smith voting aye.  

 

5. Ordinance No. 2646 – First Reading - Comp Plan Amendment – Small Scale - Project:  Lynn 

R. Fontaine – Location: 4353 McDonald Gley Road. The City Clerk read the title as follows: 
 

ORDINANCE 2646 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM “COUNTY” RURAL 

TO “CITY” RESIDENTIAL LOW SUBURBAN FOR CERTAIN REAL 

PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED NORTH OF CHANDLER 

ESTATES DRIVE AND EAST OF WEST ORANGE BLOSSOM TRAIL, 

COMPRISING 5.2 ACRES, MORE OR LESS AND OWNED BY LYNN R. 

FONTAINE; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR 

AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

Mr. Martinez advised this was amending the future land use designation from County Rural 

to City Residential Low Suburban for property north of Chandler Estates Drive and east of 

West Orange Blossom Trail.  He reviewed the surrounding land use and advised this is in 

compliance with the comprehensive plan. Planning Commission and DRC recommend 

approval at First Reading and carry it over for a Second Reading and adoption. 

 

17



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on May 16, 2018 at 7:00 p.m.  

Page 6 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak he closed the 

public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Becker, and seconded by Commissioner Nolan, to approve 

Ordinance No. 2646 at First Reading and carry it over for a Second Reading. Motion 

carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioner Bankson, Becker, Nolan, 

and Smith voting aye.  

 

6. Ordinance No. 2647 – First Reading – Change of Zoning - Project:  Lynn R. Fontaine – 

Location: 4353 McDonald Gley Road. The City Clerk read the title as follows: 
 

ORDINANCE 2647 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 
THE ZONING FROM “COUNTY” A-1 AGRICULTURE TO “CITY” 
RESIDENTIAL COUNTRY ESTATES FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY 
GENERALLY LOCATED NORTH OF CHANDLER ESTATES DRIVE 
AND EAST OF WEST ORANGE BLOSSOM TRAIL, COMPRISING 5.2 
ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND OWNED BY LYNN R. FONTAINE; 
PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

Mr. Martinez advised this Ordinance was in conjunction with the prior ordinance wherein 

this ordinance changes the zoning from “County” Agriculture to “City” Residential Country 

Estates. The recommendation is to approve at First Reading and carry it over for a Second 

Reading and adoption. 

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak he closed the 

public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Nolan, to 

approve Ordinance No. 2647 at First Reading and carry it over for a Second Reading. 

Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioner Bankson, Becker, 

Nolan, and Smith voting aye.  

 

7. Ordinance No. 2648 – First Reading - Comp Plan Amendment – Small Scale - Project: 

Janine and Richard Edmondson – Location: 3904 Plymouth Sorrento Road. The City Clerk 

read the title as follows: 
ORDINANCE 2648 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM “COUNTY” RURAL 

TO “CITY” RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW SUBURBAN FOR CERTAIN 

REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED EAST OF PLYMOUTH 

18



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on May 16, 2018 at 7:00 p.m.  

Page 7 

SORRENTO ROAD AND SOUTH OF WEST KELLY PARK ROAD, 

COMPRISING 1.0 ACRES, MORE OR LESS AND OWNED BY JANINE 

AND RICHARD EDMONDSON; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 

AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

David Moon, Planning Manager said Ordinance 2648 and Ordinance 2649 are on the same 

property and will be presented together. Ordinance 2648 changes the future land use 

designation to City Residential Very Low Suburban. This property was recently annexed in 

to the City of Apopka. The next case involves the same property to change zoning to “City” 

R-1AA. The intent is to use the property for residential. He advised this property is in 

transition as Apopka grows in the future. The recommendation is to approve at First Reading 

and carry over for Second Reading and adoption. 

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak he closed the 

public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Becker, to approve 

Ordinance No. 2648 at First Reading and carry it over for a Second Reading. Motion 

carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioner Bankson, Becker, Nolan, 

and Smith voting aye.  

 

8. Ordinance No. 2649 – First Reading - Change of Zoning - Project: Project: Janine and 

Richard Edmondson – Location: 3904 Plymouth Sorrento Road. The City Clerk read the title 

as follows: 

 
ORDINANCE 2649 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 
THE ZONING FROM “COUNTY” A-2 AGRICULTURE TO “CITY” R-
1AA FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED WEST 
OF PLYMOUTH SORRENTO ROAD AND SOUTH OF WEST KELLY 
PARK ROAD, COMPRISING 1.0 ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND OWNED 
BY JANINE AND RICHARD EDMONDSON; PROVIDING FOR 
DIRECTIONS TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, 
SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak he closed the 

public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Smith, and seconded by Commissioner Bankson, to 

approve Ordinance No. 2649 at First Reading and carry it over for a Second Reading. 

Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioner Bankson, Becker, 

Nolan, and Smith voting aye.  

 

9. Ordinance No. 2650 – First Reading – Comp Plan Amendment – Small Scale - Project: 

SunTrust Bank – Location: 920 East Semoran Boulevard. The City Clerk read the title as 

follows: 

19



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on May 16, 2018 at 7:00 p.m.  

Page 8 

 

ORDINANCE 2650 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM “COUNTY” 

COMMERCIAL TO “CITY” COMMERCIAL FOR CERTAIN REAL 

PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED EAST OF SOUTH SHEELER 

ROAD AND SOUTH OF EAST SEMORAN BOULEVARD, COMPRISING 

0.37 ACRES, MORE OR LESS AND OWNED BY SUNTRUST BANK; 

PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE.  

Mr. Martinez advised this was the same situation where this ordinance and the next are on 

the same property, this one being the future land use amendment from “County” Commercial 

to “City” Commercial. The next ordinance is the zoning ordinance changing from “County” 

R-2 to “City” C-1. The Planning Commission recommends approval and the DRC 

recommends approval at First Reading and carry it over for a Second Reading.  

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak he closed the 

public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Bankson, and seconded by Commissioner Smith, to 

approve Ordinance No. 2650 at First Reading and carry it over for a Second Reading. 

Motion carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioner Bankson, Becker, 

Nolan, and Smith voting aye.  

 

10. Ordinance No. 2651 – First Reading – Change of Zoning - Project: SunTrust Bank – 

Location: 920 East Semoran Boulevard. The City Clerk read the title as follows: 
 

ORDINANCE 2651 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 

THE ZONING FROM “COUNTY” R-2 TO “CITY” C-1 FOR CERTAIN 

REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED EAST OF SOUTH 

SHEELER ROAD AND SOUTH OF EAST SEMORAN BOULEVARD, 

COMPRISING 0.37 ACRES, MORE OR LESS AND OWNED BY 

SUNTRUST BANK; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND 

PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak he closed the 

public hearing. 

 

20



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on May 16, 2018 at 7:00 p.m.  

Page 9 

MOTION by Commissioner Nolan, and seconded by Commissioner Becker, to approve 

Ordinance No. 2651 at First Reading and carry it over for a Second Reading. Motion 

carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioner Bankson, Becker, Nolan, 

and Smith voting aye.  

 

11. Ordinance No. 2653 – First Reading – Change of Zoning - Project: Laura R. Murphy – 

Location: 359 W. Lester Road. The City Clerk read the title as follows: 

 
ORDINANCE 2653 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 
THE ZONING FROM AGRICULTURE TO R-1 SINGLE FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY 
LOCATED NORTH OF WEST LESTER ROAD AND EAST OF VICK 
ROAD, COMPRISING 19.94 ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND OWNED BY 
LAURA R. MURPHY; PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY, 
CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

Mr. Martinez reviewed the location on a map and advised this was a request to change the 

zoning from Agriculture to R-1 Single Family Residential. The proposed zoning is 

compatible with the surrounding land use.  The recommendation is to approve at First 

Reading and carry it over for a Second Reading and adoption.  

 

Mayor Nelson opened the meeting to a public hearing. No one wishing to speak he closed the 

public hearing. 

 

MOTION by Commissioner Becker, and seconded by Commissioner Nolan, to approve 

Ordinance No. 2653 at First Reading and carry it over for a Second Reading. Motion 

carried unanimously with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioner Bankson, Becker, Nolan, 

and Smith voting aye.  

 

CITY COUNCIL REPORTS 

Commissioner Bankson said the Firefighter Challenge was a great success, in spite of the 

weather, and the Apopka firefighters did a great job. 

 

Mayor Nelson had a banner that was presented to the Apopka Fire Department for the second 

annual Scott’s Safety Firefighter Challenge drawing over 80 participants from all over.  He said 

Apopka did very well placing second and third in many categories. The Apopka Fire Department 

Explorers took overall first and second place.  

 

Commissioner Smith inquired what the appropriate action or steps were to name a street after 

someone, stating he would like to have a street or portion of a street names after Commissioner 

Bill Arrowsmith and Commissioner Billie Dean.  

 

Mayor Nelson said he was supportive but they needed to first research as to the appropriate steps 

required.  

 

21



 

 

CITY OF APOPKA 

Minutes of a regular City Council meeting held on May 16, 2018 at 7:00 p.m.  

Page 10 

Commissioner Smith said with the budget workshops, he would like them to be setup so that the 

public can have input.  

 

MAYOR’S REPORT 

1. Appointment of two representatives to the Lake Apopka Natural Gas District Board. 

 

Commissioner Nolan said Bill Arrowsmith has served on the LANGD board and is interested 

in being a representative.  

 

Commissioner Becker said he was interested in serving on the LANGD board and felt his 

financial background would serve well in this capacity. 

 

MOTION:  Commissioner Nolan nominated Bill Arrowsmith to be a representative to 

the LANGD board, seconded by Commissioner Bankson. Motion carried unanimously 

with Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye.  

 

MOTION:  Commissioner Nolan moved to appoint Commissioner Becker to the 

LANGD board, seconded by Commissioner Bankson. Motion carried unanimously with 

Mayor Nelson, and Commissioners Bankson, Becker, Nolan, and Smith voting aye.  

 

ADJOURNMENT – There being no further business the meeting adjourned at 7:57 p.m.  

 

 

 

       _______________________________ 

       Bryan Nelson, Mayor 

ATTEST; 

 

 

____________________________ 

Linda F. Goff, City Clerk 

 

22



City of Apopka 
Smart Water Metering Update 
May 16, 2018 

23



The Challenge… 

Apopka water system: 
• ~3 Billion gallons of water/year 

• 350 miles water pipe, 160 miles reclaimed pipe 

• 22,200 meters 

• Meters measure potable, reclaimed & sewer 

2007 
• “Unaccounted-for” water reported at 2-4% 

• City introduced AMI technology for meter reading 
efficiency (radio-read) 

2016 
• “Unaccounted-for” water is 26% (750MG) 

• Represents $1,200,000 revenue loss 

• Affects both Water & Sewer revenues 

 

 

24



About the City’s Water Meter System… 

Existing Advanced Metering Infrastructure 
• 22,200 radio read meters 

• Radios transmit to a central system 

• Reading system (Sensus) sends data to billing system 
(Edmunds) 

• City Customer Service can see meter usage to address 
customer inquiries 

• Management can see meter reading errors & deploy staff to 
resolve 

Great baseline technology 
• Meter age & City resources limit effectiveness… 

 

 

25



The City’s Plan for Better Understanding the Challenge… 

Woodard & Curran hired to review situation & provide 

recommendations 

• Woodard & Curran retained this Winter 

• Draft report February, revised report April 2018 

Recommendations 

• Short-term – immediate action has started 

• Mid-term – Summer/Fall 2018 

• Long-term – TBD 

26



Benchmarking: Apopka vs Other Water Utilities 

2017 SmartWater Survey of Water Utilities 

 100% of utilities believe AMR & AMI is critical 
• Only 32% have AMR 

• Only 17% have AMI 

• 62% of AMR is > 5-years-old 

 98% believe data management & reducing water loss is 

critical to their utility 
• Only 13% are doing meter data management or analytics 

• Only 15% do leak detection 

Other Utility Survey Facts 

 

Less than half of utilities: 

• Have formal Work Order 
management systems 

 

More than half: 

• Agree their Staff is not 
trained well in SmartWater 
tech 

• Will spend > $500K on 
SmartWater tech in 2018 

 

Apopka is not unique & is appropriately tackling this issue!  
27



Benchmarking: Apopka vs Other Water Utilities 

2017 SmartWater Survey of Water Utilities 

 100% of utilities believe AMR & AMI is critical 
• Only 32% have AMR 

• Only 17% have AMI 

• 62% of AMR is > 5-years-old 

 98% believe data management & reducing water loss is 

critical to their utility 
• Only 13% are doing meter data management or analytics 

• Only 15% do leak detection 

Other Utility Survey Facts 

 

Less than half of utilities: 

• Have formal Work Order 
management systems 

 

More than half: 

• Agree their Staff is not 
trained well in SmartWater 
tech 

• Will spend > $500K on 
SmartWater tech in 2018 

 

Apopka is not unique & is appropriately tackling this issue!  

Baltimore is now  
referencing the 
Apopka Water 
Study! 

28



Notable Initial Facts & Findings… 

 1/3 of the “unaccounted-for” water is from old & under-

registering meters 
• “Apparent Losses” 

Under-registering meters represent ~260 MG/year 

Other significant loss  
• Leaks/breaks in the distribution system  

• Under-estimating non-revenue usage (~490 MG/year) 

• “Real Losses” 

Bench-marking challenge 
• Imprecise use of “unaccounted-for” makes comparing past & present 

difficult, but a problem does exist now 

Water Terms & Definitions 

• “Unaccounted-for” Water 
• Outdated term, widely used but 

imprecisely applied 

• Inaccurate performance indicator 

• Non-revenue Water 
• Authorized, but unbilled (hydrant 

flushing) 

• Apparent Losses (meters) 

• Real Losses (leaks) 

• Future audits will use consistent 
terminology! 

29



The Aging Meter Infrastructure Challenge… 

Sample Meter Register Age Distribution 

Register Age – 
meters are even 

older! 

30



Findings Regarding Current Metering System 

Meter Program 
• Inventory is not tracked in an easy way 

• Database setup makes auditing very difficult  

• The City does not test for meter accuracy 

Metering Equipment  
• Most meters are residential (95%) 

• Most equipment is old & beyond warranty 

Utility Challenges (not unique to Apopka!) 
• Billing staff are very busy with customers (no extra time) 

• Billing staff mails notices midway thru monthly billing cycles for high-water 
(>15,000 gallons in 2 weeks) 

• Prior to 2 new Service Workers, water staff often taken off meter work to 
handle emergencies 

• Maintenance work orders are not tracked systematically 

• City doesn’t have the capacity nor expertise to fully analyze meter data 

New Metering Facts 

• The City recently began replacing 
meters at an accelerated rate  

• Testing of 10 recently replaced 
meters found: 

• 5 “almost accurate”  

• 2 “stopped” 

• 3 “almost stopped” 

31



Recommendations to Move Forward 

Recommendation Summary 

• Get outside help to proactively 
move program to: 

• return revenue 

• gain compliance 

• leverage technology 

• environmental stewardship 

32



Next steps… 

Keep the momentum for improvement! 
 

1. Council to authorize staff to engage professional 
services for assistance with in-house programs & capital 
procurement ( “Service Contract” RFQ, etc.) 

 

2. Staff to report back to Council regularly on progress, 
challenges, next steps, etc. 

33



How much for the next steps? 

Former Metering Program (2012) 
• $3,034,000 for 22,500 meters (18,000 register only) 

• $265,902 for meter installation 

• ~$12/meter 

New Metering Program (2018/2019)  
• Estimated $4,600,000 for total potable water meter 

replacement (capital)  

• Estimated $700,000 for contracted meter replacement 

• Additional support services (training, data support, etc.) 
to be included 

City has adequate funding in current utility reserves  

– no rate increase is needed! 34



Discussion… 

Thank you! 

35



   

   

d

woodardcurran.com 
COMMITMENT & INTEGRITY DRIVE RESULTS 

MANAGEMENT 

ASSESSMENT 

OF THE 

APOPKA WATER 

METERING AND 

BILLING SYSTEMS  

 

 

0214493.00 

City of Apopka 

 April 2018 36



  

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) i Woodard & Curran 
FINAL DRAFT Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

SECTION PAGE NO. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ......................................................................................................................................... ES-1 

1. BACKGROUND AND PURPOSE .................................................................................................................... 1-1 

1.1 Water System Summary ................................................................................................................. 1-1 
1.2 Unaccounted-For / Non-Revenue Water ........................................................................................ 1-1 
1.3 Report Scope ................................................................................................................................. 1-2 

2. METERING SYSTEMS .................................................................................................................................... 2-1 

2.1 Metering Hardware ......................................................................................................................... 2-1 
2.1.1 Metering Infrastructure ......................................................................................................... 2-1 
2.1.2 Wireless Transmitter Infrastructure .................................................................................... 2-10 
2.1.3 Network Infrastructure ....................................................................................................... 2-11 

2.2 Metering Software ........................................................................................................................ 2-11 
2.2.1 Regional Network Interface (RNI) ...................................................................................... 2-11 
2.2.2 Sensus Analytics ............................................................................................................... 2-11 

2.3 Alerts from Sensus Analytics Software ......................................................................................... 2-12 

3. UTILITY BILLING ............................................................................................................................................ 3-1 

3.1 Summary ........................................................................................................................................ 3-1 
3.2 Billing Procedures & Software ........................................................................................................ 3-1 

3.2.1 Monthly customer billing and payment tracking ................................................................... 3-1 
3.2.2 Mid-Month Notices ............................................................................................................... 3-1 
3.2.3 Meter Installation Records ................................................................................................... 3-2 
3.2.4 Work Order Dispatch ........................................................................................................... 3-2 

3.3 Use of Metering Data ...................................................................................................................... 3-3 
3.4 Impact on Unaccounted-For Water ................................................................................................ 3-3 

3.4.1 Zero Consumption from Stopped Meters ............................................................................. 3-3 
3.4.2 High Bill Allowances ............................................................................................................ 3-4 

4. WATER DISTRIBUTION MAINTENANCE ...................................................................................................... 4-1 

4.1 Summary ........................................................................................................................................ 4-1 
4.2 Water Distribution Maintenance Processes and Responsibilities ................................................... 4-1 
4.3 Use of Metering Data ...................................................................................................................... 4-2 
4.4 Impact on Unaccounted-For Water ................................................................................................ 4-2 

4.4.1 Stopped Meters ................................................................................................................... 4-2 
4.4.2 Under-Registering Meters .................................................................................................... 4-2 
4.4.3 Leaks and Breaks in the Distribution System ...................................................................... 4-8 

5. RECOMMENDATIONS .................................................................................................................................... 5-1 

5.1 Summary and Discussion ............................................................................................................... 5-1 
5.2 Immediate Capital Recommendations ............................................................................................ 5-4 

5.2.1 Implement a meter change-out program for aged SR II meters and test large meters ........ 5-4 
5.2.1.1 Implementation Considerations ............................................................................. 5-5 

5.2.2 Conduct a proactive leak detection survey .......................................................................... 5-7 
5.3 Immediate Process Recommendations .......................................................................................... 5-7 

37



  

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) ii Woodard & Curran 
FINAL DRAFT Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

5.3.1 Implement ongoing management and review of metering infrastructure and data analysis 5-7 
5.3.2 Improve data collection and analysis for meter-related work orders .................................... 5-8 
5.3.3 Provide customers with access to screened hourly consumption data ................................ 5-9 
5.3.4 Implement a leak detection notification program for customers ........................................... 5-9 

5.4 Ongoing Capital Recommendations ............................................................................................. 5-10 
5.4.1 Implement a long-term meter change-out program ........................................................... 5-10 

5.4.1.1 Implementation Considerations ........................................................................... 5-10 
5.4.2 Implement distribution system AMI for optimized system operation, maintenance, and 

monitoring .......................................................................................................................... 5-11 
5.5 Ongoing Process Recommendations ........................................................................................... 5-11 

5.5.1 Perform annual water loss audit according to AWWA M36 Methodology .......................... 5-11 
5.5.2 Develop a leak tracking form with standardized fields ....................................................... 5-12 
5.5.3 Monitor meter change-out program effectiveness ............................................................. 5-13 
5.5.4 Provide a comprehensive customer engagement experience ........................................... 5-13 

6. REFERENCES ................................................................................................................................................. 6-1 

 

TABLES 

Table ES-1: Recommendations Summary 
Table 2-1: Type of Meters by Meter Size as of January 2018 
Table 2-2: Type of Meters by Service Type as of January 2018 
Table 2-3: One-Way vs Two-Way MXUs as of January 2018 
Table 2-4: Sensus Analytics Insights and Alarms – December 2017 
Table 2-5: Breakdown of Meter Size and Type for Sensus Analytics “No Read Available” – December 2017 
Table 3-1: Breakdown of Meter Size and Type for Zero Consumption in January 2018 
Table 4-1: 2016 Consumption by Meter Size and Type (potable only) 
Table 4-3: Breakdown of Count of Meters and 2016 Consumption (Potable 3/4” & 1” only) by Meter Type 
Table 4-4: Comparison of Apparent Losses to Unaccounted-For Water for 2016 
Table 5-1: Recommendations Summary 
 

FIGURES 

Figure ES-1: Report Recommendations Flow Chart 
Figure 1-1: Metering System Schematic 
Figure 2-1: Typical SR II Meter 
Figure 2-2: Typical iPERL Meter 
Figure 2-3: Typical OMNI Meter 
Figure 2-4: Distribution of Meters by Size and Type 
Figure 2-5: Distribution of Meters by Service Type and Meter Type 
Figure 2-6: Age Distribution for Meters with ICE Registers as of January 2018 (all sizes) 
Figure 2-7: Age Distribution for iPERL Meters as of January 2018 (3/4” and 1”) 
Figure 2-8: Age Distribution for 3/4" Meters as of January 2018 
Figure 2-9: Age Distribution for 1" Meters as of January 2018 
Figure 2-10: Age Distribution for 1.5" – 3” Meters as of January 2018 (all ICE registers) 
Figure 2-11: Age Distribution for 4" – 12” Meters as of January 2018 (all ICE registers) 
Figure 2-12: Sample Sensus Analytics Screen 
Figure 2-13: Sample Sensus Analytics Meter Insight Screen 
Figure 2-14: Sample Sensus Analytics Reports Screen 

38



  

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) iii Woodard & Curran 
FINAL DRAFT Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

Figure 3-1: Number of Billing System Entries Containing “Leak” 2010-2017 
Figure 4-1: Histogram Showing Distribution of 3/4" Potable Meter Consumption for 2016 
Figure 4-2: Histogram Showing Distribution of 1"-3” Potable Meter Consumption for 2016 
Figure 4-3: Histogram Showing Distribution of 4"-10” Potable Meter Consumption 2016 
 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendix A: Estimation Calculations of Apparent Losses 

Appendix B:  Calculation of Retail and Production Rates 

 

39



  

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) ES-1 Woodard & Curran 
FINAL DRAFT Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Woodard & Curran conducted a Management Assessment of the existing Customer Service & Water Meter Reading 
hardware, software, and management systems of the City of Apopka.  This included a detailed review of the Advanced 
Metering Infrastructure (AMI) hardware and software programs currently being utilized.  Each program was reviewed 
for City usage, current challenges, capacity for expanded program usage, , opportunities for efficiency, and 
implementation considerations during program improvements. Additional areas of improvement were identified that 
will: 

• Enhance and/or improve customer service operations; 

• Optimize the water system through water loss reductions; 

• Improve asset management; 

• Review end-of-life meter replacement management; 

• Identify “smart water” improvements that modernize system operations and management; and 

• Review related administrative policies.  

In 2016, the City calculated that 26.1% of potable water was unaccounted-for, 
amounting to approximately 750 million gallons (MG). This is equivalent to the 
volume of water needed to fill approximately 1,136 Olympic-sized swimming 
pools (which are 660,000 gallons each or 0.66 MG). Unaccounted-for potable 
water in Apopka was reported by the City to be 2-4% annually prior to 2007, 
which coincided with the implementation of AMI technology.  The current level 
of unaccounted-for water represents a substantial revenue loss for the City, 
approximately $1,200,000 (including both water and sewer revenue based on 
metered water usage). The City expressed a concern that a significant portion 
of unaccounted-for water is could be from meter malfunctions. 

Based on our review of data provided by the City (described fully in Section 4.4.2), we estimate that roughly one third 
of the City’s unaccounted-for water is likely due to old and under-registering meters, which have continued to degrade 
since 2007. These under-registering meters are estimated to amount to approximately 260 MG per year. In addition, a 
significant component of water loss could be due to leaks and breaks in the distribution system (approximately 490 
MG), with a smaller percentage attributed to expected background leakage and under-accounting of known non-
metered water uses, such as hydrant testing and fire protection. Some component could also be due to incorrectly 
sized meters, but that analysis was beyond the scope of this report and would be corrected if the recommendations of 
this report are implemented.  

Other key findings from our review of the City’s metering infrastructure are as follows: 

• Meter inventory is not tracked in a way that is easy to understand system assets 

• Most water meters are residential usage meters (3/4” meters are 95% of system total) 

• Most meters, registers, and wireless transmitters are older, beyond warranty period  

• The City does not test its meters for accuracy 

• Billing staff are very busy assisting customers with inquiries for high water usage, bill adjustments, and basic 
payment tasks 

• Billing staff send out postal notices midway through monthly billing cycles for high water usage 

Challenges in Apopka: 
 
26.1% Unaccounted-for water 
 
Annual Revenue losses 
estimated at $1.2M 
 
Approximately 1/3 of water 
could be meter related 

40



  

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) ES-2 Woodard & Curran 
FINAL DRAFT Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

• Prior to the addition of 2 new Service Workers who are focused on meter replacements, distribution 
maintenance staff are often taken off meter maintenance work to address leaks and more immediate system 
issues 

• Distribution maintenance staff work orders are not tracked in a systematic way that is easy to query/report 

• Billing and meter management systems provide the City with a lot of data that the City doesn’t have the 
capacity nor expertise to analyze effectively 

• The City began replacing meters at an accelerated rate during the preparation of this report. The City does 
not have a formal program for handling the new meter data, updating the database fields to capture more 
installation data, communicating meter replacements with impacted customers, testing meters removed 
from the system, or monitoring replacement program effectiveness. 

We developed our recommendations with the goal of reducing unaccounted-for water based on a detailed review of 
the City’s Metering, Billing, and Distribution Maintenance Systems. The recommendations were categorized by their 
relative impact on reducing the City’s unaccounted-for water into immediate recommendations and ongoing 
recommendations, and then further by whether they are capital improvements or processes that the City should 
implement. Our recommendations are summarized in Table ES-1, with detailed discussion in their respective report 
sections. 

Table ES-1: Recommendations Summary 

Category 
Section 
Number 

Recommendation 

Immediate Capital 
Recommendations 

5.2.1 Implement a meter change-out program for aged SR II meters and test 
large meters 

5.2.2 Conduct a proactive leak detection survey 

Immediate 
Process 

Recommendations 

5.3.1 Implement ongoing management and review of metering 
infrastructure and data analysis 

5.3.2 Improve data collection and analysis for meter-related work orders 

5.3.3 Provide customers with access to screened hourly consumption data 

5.3.4 Implement a leak detection notification program for customers 

Ongoing Capital 
Recommendations 

5.4.1 Implement a long-term meter change-out program, including large 
meter maintenance program 

5.4.2 Implement distribution system AMI for optimized system operation, 
maintenance, and monitoring 

Ongoing Process 
Recommendations 

5.5.1 Perform annual water loss audit according to AWWA M36 Methodology 

5.5.2 Develop a leak tracking form with standardized fields 

5.5.3 Monitor meter change-out program effectiveness 

5.5.4 Provide a comprehensive customer engagement experience 

 
The recommendations were developed with the following intent: 
 

1. Establish firm control of water loss and recovery of lost water revenue through meter replacements, testing, 
and leak dectection; 

2. Maintain control of the system through an ongoing, proactive meter replacement program and water audits; 
3. Improve system management and reporting; 
4. Improve public confidence through data availability and transparency; 

41



  

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) ES-3 Woodard & Curran 
FINAL DRAFT Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

5. Expand “smart water” technology tools to maximize the City’s investment in AMI infrastructure and the value 
of the data for water system planning and optimization; and  

6. Monitor progress through data analysis and reporting. 

The City can implement these recommendations through internal staff, or with a combination of internal and outside 
resources. We strongly recommend that the City continue to seek outside consulting support during its assessment 
and planning for making these improvements, as the considerations and decision making are broader than the scope 
of this report.  Outside consulting support will be valuable to the City for the following reasons: 

1. Design and management of a meter replacement program and the volume of data it produces will put a 
significant strain on City staff resources; 

2. Water meter replacements are complex, and experience with meter replacement projects is instrumental in 
avoiding pitfalls and costly mistakes; and  

3. Advances in “smart water” technology require new skill sets and knowledge that City staff does not currently 
have. 

Figure ES-1: Report Recommendations Flow Chart 

 

42



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 1-1 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

1. BACKGROUND AND PURPOSE 

The City of Apopka (City) is within Orange County, Florida, about 16 miles northwest of downtown Orlando. The City 
is approximately 34 square miles in size with a 2016 estimated population of 49,458 people. The population is growing 
rapidly from the 2010 census population of 41,542 (US Census Bureau, 2016).   

The City’s Water Resources Division, a component of the Public Services Department, provides potable water, 
wastewater treatment, and reclaimed water for irrigation for homes and businesses throughout Apopka and portions of 
unincorporated Orange County.  

1.1 Water System Summary 

The City’s water supply comes entirely from the Lower Floridan Aquifer through thirteen groundwater wells ranging 
from 483-1,400 feet in depth.  The water is treated at one of five water treatment plants and distributed to customers 
through 350 miles of potable distribution mains up to 30” large in diameter.  In total, the average daily potable water 
flow is 7.9 MGD from the water treatment plants (City of Apopka, 2016).  The City supplies potable water through 
approximately 22,200 meters, averaging 5.7 MGD metered through customer meters (City of Apopka, 2016).  The city 
also supplies water for fire services which are typically unmetered, with the exception of approximately 150 fire service 
meters.   

The City built the Apopka Regional Reuse of Water (ARROW) reclamation facility in 1990 which provides treated 
reclaimed water to two golf courses, a horticultural nursery, an agricultural grower, and over 5,000 residents for 
irrigation needs (City of Apopka Public Services Department, 2016).  The reclamation facility supplies an average daily 
flow of 7.0 MGD.  Reclaimed water is distributed to customers through 160 miles of reclaimed distribution mains up to 
48” in diameter and approximately 7,600 reclaimed water meters. 

Reclaimed water meters are treated similarly to potable water meters in terms of equipment used, maintenance, 
inventory tracking, and billing practices.  Both potable and reclaimed water metering practices were reviewed to develop 
this report, but with a focus on data analysis for potable meters as it related to unaccounted-for water. 

1.2 Unaccounted-For / Non-Revenue Water 

The City prepares a potable water system audit report annually by calendar year to calculate unaccounted-for water.  
Unaccounted-for water is typically defined as the difference between water supplied and all known uses of water (billed 
consumption and estimated unmetered uses).  The “unaccounted-for” portion is assumed to be a mixture of physical 
leaks in the system or meter under-registration or failure.  The American Water Works Association (AWWA) has 
adopted the term “non-revenue water” instead of “unaccounted-for water”.  Non-revenue water accounts for unbilled 
but authorized consumption (both metered and unmetered) as well as all water losses which are further separated into 
two categories: (1) apparent losses and (2) real losses (AWWA, 2009).  Apparent Losses are nonphysical losses that 
occur when water is delivered to a customer but is not measured or recorded accurately, such as under-recording 
meters.  Real Losses consist of all the unexpected physical losses of water from the distribution system, such as breaks 
and leaks from mains, service lines, etc. 

For the purposes of this report, the term “unaccounted-for” water will be used because this is what the city is familiar 
with and has been calculating annually. In the future, the City should consider splitting “unaccounted-for” water into 
apparent and real losses, as well as conform to the AWWA standards for defining authorized vs unauthorized 
unmetered consumption which differ from how they are used in the City’s current water loss audit.  In our analysis, we 
also used the terms “apparent losses” and “real losses” where they could be accurately applied.  

43



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 1-2 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

For the City’s analysis of unaccounted-for water, the following values are added on a monthly basis for use in the 
calculations: 

• Metered Finished Water Entering the Distribution System (from water treatment plants) 

• Metered Consumption (City Facilities, Commercial, and Residential) from Edmunds billing system  

• Unmetered Consumption, with best estimates calculated using the experience of the techs in the field 
performing work: 

o Meter Change Out Consumption 
o Fire Services 
o Water Quality Flushing 
o Fire Department Flow Testing (based on pressure and flow rate calculations) 
o Hydrant Maintenance 
o Leaks and Repairs 

• Unmetered Consumption, with estimates calculated using the capacity of the water tanks on the sewer truck 
and street sweeper multiplied by the number of fills: 

o Storm/Sewer Cleaning 
o Street Sweeping (technically use a metered facility to fill up trucks, but still calculated by number of 

truck tank fills) 

Unaccounted-for water is calculated as a percent of total water supplied using the formula below: 

𝑈𝑛𝑎𝑐𝑐𝑜𝑢𝑛𝑡𝑒𝑑 𝐹𝑜𝑟 𝑊𝑎𝑡𝑒𝑟 % =  
𝑊𝑎𝑡𝑒𝑟 𝑆𝑢𝑝𝑝𝑙𝑖𝑒𝑑 − (𝑀𝑒𝑡𝑒𝑟𝑒𝑑 + 𝑈𝑛𝑚𝑒𝑡𝑒𝑟𝑒𝑑 𝐶𝑜𝑛𝑠𝑢𝑚𝑝𝑡𝑖𝑜𝑛)

𝑊𝑎𝑡𝑒𝑟 𝑆𝑢𝑝𝑝𝑙𝑖𝑒𝑑
 

In 2016, the City calculated that 26.1% of potable water was unaccounted-for, amounting to 750 MG. This is equivalent 
to the volume of water needed to fill approximately 1,136 Olympic-sized swimming pools (which are 660,000 gallons 
each or 0.66 MG).  Unaccounted-for potable water was reported to be approximately 2-4% annually prior to 2007.  
Around 2007 (about the same time as implementation of Advanced Metering Infrastructure [AMI]), it began to increase, 
rising above 10% unaccounted-for water starting in 2014.  The City notes that production from the treatment plants has 
not changed substantially during this time.  The City also stated that its production meters are calibrated regularly.  An 
analysis of potable water use trends relative to water conservation, reclaimed water consumption, and growth in system 
population was outside the scope of this report.  

The 26.1% unaccounted-for water percentage is significantly higher than the City’s own reported past performance.  
This level of unaccounted-for water represents a substantial revenue loss for the City. The City expressed a concern 
that a significant portion of unaccounted-for water could be from meter malfunctions. Section 4.4.2 provides a 
conservative estimate of apparent losses from under-registering meters and compares it to the 2016 calculations of 
unaccounted-for water.  Note that the 26.1% unaccounted-for water does not appear to be exclusively from under-
registering meters. To estimate the financial impact of unaccounted-for water, apparent losses were valued by a 
weighted customer retail rate and real losses were valued by a variable production rate (e.g. the cost of pumping, 
treating, and distributing water), as described in Section 4.4.2.  

1.3 Report Scope 

Woodard & Curran conducted a Management Assessment of the existing Customer Service & Meter Reading 
hardware, software, and management systems of the City of Apopka.  This included a detailed review of the Advanced 

44



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 1-3 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

Metering Infrastructure (AMI) hardware and software programs currently being utilized.  Each program was evaluated 
to show City usage, capacity for expanded program usage, additional efficiencies, and the associated costs and 
benefits of implementing these efficiencies.  Additional areas of improvement were identified that will enhance and/or 
improve customer service operations, optimize the water system through water loss reductions, improve asset 
management, review end-of-life meter replacement management, identify improvements that present better 
compliance with regulatory standards, and review related administrative policies. 

It should be noted that this analysis is inherently backward-looking, and that changes are occurring to the meter 
infrastructure as this report is being prepared. Calendar year 2016 was used to provide a complete set of water meter 
consumption data in alignment with the most recent full water audit report prepared by the City, which was for calendar 
year 2016. While the billing and water consumption data analyzed in this report was for calendar year 2016, the 
inventory of meters in the distribution system analyzed in this report was a current snapshot as of the data export 
received from the City in January 2018. Meter error reporting and Sensus Analytics information was analyzed as of 
that database snapshot export in December 2017. The newly-available full year of 2017 billing and water audit data 
can be used by the City for comparison with the 2016 data analyzed in this report.  

We note that since our initial meetings and discussions with the City, they have implemented several updates to their 
procedures, some of which were in process but not implemented prior to our initial report drafts, including meter 
change-outs by additional City staff, updating their work order procedures for better tracking, and sending meters that 
are being replaced out for accuracy testing. We commend the City for taking these actions, which are consistent with 
our recommendations. Since these actions are being taken during the writing of this report, we have left our 
recommendations unchanged, as it is important to reinforce that these measures continue to be implemented moving 
forward. We have made mention of these ongoing actions within the report text. We stress that while there is action 
being taken, it is important that the City take the time to carefully and thoughtfully plan and coordinate these activities 
to achieve the broadest possible efficiency and performance outcomes and avoid unintended consequences. These 
actions have significant impact on many parts of the water metering, billing, and distribution systems, and it is 
important that they be coordinated with all parts of the water system administration and operation, have a defined 
activity purpose, specific and measurable goals, are developed with input from all appropriate stakeholders, and 
there is defined responsibility for actions required to achieve the desired outcomes. 

  

45



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 1-4 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

Figure 1-1: Metering System Schematic 

46



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 2-1 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

2. METERING SYSTEMS 

The City implemented Advanced Metering Infrastructure (AMI) technology in 2007 to automate meter reading activities 
that are required to produce monthly bills.  In 2007, approximately 2,000 meter bodies with registers were fully replaced 
and AMI technology was fully implemented.  The remaining meters (approximately 27,000 in the current billing system) 
were retrofitted with a new electronic encoder register and a wireless transmitter without replacing the meter body itself.  
The current existing meter bodies, registers, wireless transmitters, and network infrastructure are described in Section 
2.1.  The AMI software packages that process meter readings and consumption are described in Section 2.2. A 
breakdown of the various types of alerts provided by the AMI software packages is described in Section 2.3. 

2.1 Metering Hardware 

2.1.1 Metering Infrastructure 

The City’s meter population consists of approximately 29,700 meters, which can be broken into three categories 
described in the sections below: (1) Sensus SR II Meters, (2) Sensus iPERL Small Meters, and (3) Sensus W-Series 
and OMNI Meters.  The quantity of each meter type is an approximation based on available meter installation records 
described later in this section.  

SR II Meters 

About 23,300 (79%) of the total meter population consists of 3/4" or 1” 
Sensus meter model SR II.  The Sensus SR II is a magnetic-drive, positive-
displacement meter that uses an oscillating piston (Sensus, 2017).  Per City 
staff, the 3/4" Sensus SR II (which accounts for approximately 76% of the 
City’s meter population) has a lifetime of 750,000 gallons registered or 10 
years per Sensus warranty.  

All SR II meters were retrofitted with Intelligent Communications Encoder 
(ICE) registers during the initial AMI deployment in 2007. The City stopped 
replacing ICE registers in early to mid-2016.  There are two types of ICE 
registers that were produced by Sensus: ICE registers (using magnetic field 
position sensing technology) and ICE-opto registers (using absolute optical 
encoder technology).  Currently, when a meter is stopped, the City replaces 
the entire meter body and ICE register with a new iPERL meter as well as an upgraded two-way wireless transmitter 
(described in more detail in Section 2.1.2).  

iPERL Small Meters 

Approximately 5,200 (17% of the total meter population) new 3/4” or 1” Sensus 
iPERL® meters have been installed over the last 10 years, including the initial 
2,000 full meter replacements during the AMI deployment in 2007.  The Sensus 
iPERL meters contain solid state magnetic technology with no moving parts and 
are made of a composite alloy with no metal material (Sensus, 2017). iPERL 
registers are electronic and contained within the body of the device.  iPERL 
meters have a 20-year accuracy warranty and a 20-year battery life guarantee 
(Sensus, 2017).  Since the initial AMI deployment of 2007, iPERL meters have 
continued to be installed on new services as well as occasional meter 
replacements of existing meters. 

Figure 2-2: Typical iPERL Meter 

Figure 2-1: Typical SR II Meter 

47



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 2-2 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

 

W-Series and OMNI Meters 

The City uses the term “Large Meters” to describe meters 4” and larger 
(approximately 67 meters).  Between 2012-2017, most large meters have been 
replaced from aging Sensus W-Series to Sensus OMNI compound meters by 
Water Distribution Maintenance staff.  Additionally, some 1 1/2", 2” and 3” small 
meters have been or continue to be targeted for meter replacement with a 
Sensus OMNI meter.  Sensus OMNI meters use a Floating Ball Technology 
(impeller) to measure flow (Sensus, 2017).  

The OMNI and W-series meters use the same ICE registers as the SR II meters 
(described above). 

Meter Installation Records 

The City records the following information in the Edmunds billing system (described later in Section 3.2) related to 
metering hardware: 

• Meter Number (physical badge number stamped on meter body) 

• Serial Number (serial number printed on the register; register serial numbers match the meter badge number 
when installed as new, but can be replaced separately from the meter body) 

• Sensus Meter Transceiver [MXU] (serial number of the wireless transmitter) 

• Meter Description (Water [potable], Irrigation, Fireline, Reuse) 

• Pipe Size (meter size) 

• Install Date (date when meter was installed, but can be overwritten when a new register or transmitter is put 
on the same meter – this field is regarded with low accuracy by City staff) 

• Status Date (date when new account was created) 

• Status (Read, Retired, or Do Not Read) 

Note that meter model is not a characteristic that is stored in the Edmunds billing system.  City staff can make an 
educated guess about the type of meter installed in the field based on the formatting or range of numbers used for the 
Meter Number field, but there is an acknowledged uncertainty around meter model installation records.   

Meter installation records are connected directly to an account with its associated physical address.  Edmunds does 
not audit inventory, so it is possible to have records of the same active equipment installed on multiple accounts. 
Edmunds also allows for more than one meter to be listed under each account (Meter 1, Meter 2, etc.).  If an account 
has both a potable and reclaimed service, Meter 1 is typically used for the potable meter while Meter 2 is used for the 
reclaimed meter.  However, Meter 2 (or higher) may be used to store a record of a retired meter that is no longer in the 
field.  

A database export from the Edmunds billing system was obtained from the City on January 22, 2018 and contains 
about 30,900 rows of account information with 2016 monthly consumption.  Numerous duplicates were observed; these 
were expected based on the nature of the account-based export of historical consumption from 2016.  For example, 

Figure 2-3: Typical OMNI Meter 

48



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 2-3 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

accounts that existed with valid water consumption in 2016 but were closed as of the database export in 2018 would 
show up in the report, but the meter badge number would be set to “Do Not Read”.  The same meter badge number 
would also exist on row for the current active account.  To filter the data to display only one row per current physical 
meter, the following processing was performed: 

• Removed 4 rows with blank meter numbers 

• Where there were rows with duplicate meter numbers, 1,349 rows with Meter Status = Do Not Read were 
removed first.  For any remaining duplicates with Meter Status = Read, the extra rows were removed (14 
instances). 

• Removed 88 duplicate meter numbers where there was both a Meter Number beginning with a “B” and an 
“M”. Only the “B” was kept, which is an indication that that wireless transmitter has been installed and 
confirmed.  

A database export from the Regional Network Interface (RNI, see later Section 2.2.1) was obtained from the City on 
January 12, 2018 containing approximately 30,000 records of wireless transmitters programmed in the RNI.  Each 
wireless transmitter is programmed to a specific meter badge number.  The RNI export included a “Meter Model” field 
with one of two options: “Sensus Touchcouple (ICE/ICE opto/ER)” or “Iperl (Touchcouple)”. This field was matched by 
Meter Number to the Edmunds billing extract to identify and distinguish between iPERL meters vs meters that have 
ICE registers.  98% of the Edmunds meter population was accounted for in the RNI export by Meter Number.  Out of 
the remaining 2% (531 meters) that were not in the RNI: 

• 66 have a Meter Number beginning with “M”, indicating a manual meter read for new installations where the 
meter doesn’t have an installed wireless transmitter yet 

• Of the remaining 465, approximately 46% have a Meter Number with the first number of “8” or “9”, which 
suggests it is more likely to be a newer iPERL meter, while 54% have a Meter Number with the first number 
of 3, 5, 6, or 7 which suggests it is more likely to be an older non-iPERL meter.  

For the summary Table 2-1 and Table 2-2 below, the unknown meter types were categorized as “Unknown”. 

Overall, there is still a discrepancy between the number of unique meter numbers recorded in Sensus and Edmunds 
that could not be resolved fully. There are 557 unique meter badge numbers in the Sensus RNI that were not recorded 
in any of the Edmunds billing system extracts obtained for this study.  Of these, 438 (79%) have confirmed ICE registers 
(older meters), 71 (13%) are iPERL meters, and 48 (9%) are unknown.  These meters are not included in the summary 
tables below. Resolving the discrepancy between the RNI and the Edmunds billing system would require an 
investigative effort that is beyond the scope of work for this Report.  

Summary of Meters 

Table 2-1 and Figure 2-4 show a breakdown of meter type by meter size.  81% of the City’s meters have an ICE register 
(on an SR II smaller meter or OMNI/W-series larger meter), while 18% are an iPERL meter.  The vast majority (95%) 
of the City’s meters are 3/4" size.  Table 2-2 and Figure 2-5 show that approximately 75% of meters are for the potable 
system with 25% for the reclaimed water system.    

49



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 2-4 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

Table 2-1: Type of Meters by Meter Size as of January 2018 

Meter Size 

Meter Type 

Total 
% of 
Total 

ICE Register  
(SR II/W-

series/OMNI) 
iPERL Unknown 

3/4" 22,583 5,071 490 28,144 95% 

1" 718 69 6 793 3% 

1.5" 208 0 2 210 1% 

2" 317 0 2 319 1% 

3" 17 0 0 17 <1% 

4" 27 0 3 30 <1% 

6" 15 0 4 19 <1% 

8" 5 0 6 11 <1% 

10" 4 0 1 5 <1% 

12" 1 0 0 1 <1% 

14" 0 0 1 1 <1% 

Unknown 2 103 16 121 <1% 

Total 23,897 5,243 531 29,671 
 

% of Total 81% 18% 2%  

50



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 2-5 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

Figure 2-4: Distribution of Meters by Size and Type 

 

Table 2-2: Type of Meters by Service Type as of January 2018 

Service 
Type 

Meter Type 

Total 
% of 
Total 

ICE Register 
(SR II/W-

series/OMNI) 
iPERL Unknown 

Potable1 18,390 3,438 389 22,215 75% 

Reuse 5,507 1,805 144 7,456 25% 

Total 23,897 5,243 531 29,671 

 % of 
Total 

81% 18% 2%  

Table 2-2 Notes 
1. 157 fire meters were categorized as “Potable” for the purposes of distinguishing potable vs reuse meters. 

 

51



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 2-6 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

Figure 2-5: Distribution of Meters by Service Type and Meter Type 

 

Figure 2-6 through Figure 2-11 show histograms with the age distribution of various subsets of meters.  Note that the 
“Number of Years Installed” is based on the Install Date in Edmunds which is originally populated with the date that the 
meter was installed but can be overwritten when a new register or transmitter is put on the same meter body. 
Additionally, when the billing system transitioned from Information Management Services (IMS) to Edmunds in 2016, 
many records were copied over where the “install date” for the meter number was actually the date on which the existing 
account was first opened.  Overall, the Install Date field is regarded with low accuracy by City staff as an indicator of 
actual meter installation date.   

Since most SR II meters were retrofitted with AMI equipment in 2007, it is known that the meter bodies must be at least 
10 years old.  Per City staff, the 3/4" Sensus SR II (which accounts for approximately 76% of the City’s meter population) 
has a lifetime of 750,000 gallons registered or 10 years per Sensus warranty.  Thus, most meters with ICE registers 
are known to be well beyond their expected lifetime and could be expected to under-register.   

52



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 2-7 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

Figure 2-6: Age Distribution for Meters with ICE Registers as of January 2018 (all sizes) 

 
Figure 2-6 Notes: 

1. Warranty cycles for meters other than 3/4" SR II or iPERL were not provided by Apopka. Warranty period is provided by 
manufacturer; bench testing should be used to confirm meter performance accuracy. 

Figure 2-7: Age Distribution for iPERL Meters as of January 2018 (3/4” and 1”) 

 
Figure 2-7 Notes: 

1. Warranty cycles for meters other than 3/4" SR II or iPERL were not provided by Apopka. Warranty period is provided by 
manufacturer; bench testing should be used to confirm meter performance accuracy. 

53



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 2-8 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

Figure 2-8: Age Distribution for 3/4" Meters as of January 2018 

 
Figure 2-8 Notes: 

1. Warranty cycles for meters other than 3/4" SR II or iPERL were not provided by Apopka. Warranty period is provided by 
manufacturer; bench testing should be used to confirm meter performance accuracy. 

Figure 2-9: Age Distribution for 1" Meters as of January 2018 

 
Figure 2-9 Notes: 

1. Warranty cycles for meters other than 3/4" SR II or iPERL were not provided by Apopka. Warranty period is provided by 
manufacturer; bench testing should be used to confirm meter performance accuracy. 

54



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 2-9 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

Figure 2-10: Age Distribution for 1.5" – 3” Meters as of January 2018 (all ICE registers) 

 

Figure 2-11: Age Distribution for 4" – 12” Meters as of January 2018 (all ICE registers) 

 

55



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 2-10 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

2.1.2 Wireless Transmitter Infrastructure 

Every meter has a dedicated radio transmitter which provides wireless one-way (outbound) or two-way (outbound and 
inbound) communication consisting of meter reads and other diagnostic information (e.g. tamper alarms).  The radio is 
physically connected directly to the encoder register (for meters with ICE registers) or the enclosed meter casing (for 
iPERL meters). 

Similar to meter model records, the wireless transmitter type is not a characteristic that is stored in Edmunds.  City staff 
are able to make an educated guess about the type of meter transmitter installed based on the range of numbers used 
for the “MXU ID” field.  Staff indicated that meter transmitter IDs beginning with “8” were of the two-way variety and the 
rest were of the one-way variety.   

Using this assumption, Table 2-3 shows a count of wireless transmitter types broken down by meter type. 23,638 
transmitters are of the one-way variety (model 520X) that have a 10-year vendor battery warranty. Most of these were 
installed in 2007 and their 10-year warranty is expired.  5,918 transmitters are of the two-way variety (model 520M) 
that have been installed recently and have a 20-year vendor battery warranty.  The City started installing two-way 
equipment in early to mid-2016, both for new water service installation as well as replacements for existing faulty 
equipment.  The two-way MXUs are compatible with ICE registers on the existing older SR II meters as well as the 
iPERL and OMNI meters.  

Table 2-3: One-Way vs Two-Way MXUs as of January 2018 

Meter 
Size 

Meter Type 

Total 
% of 
Total 

ICE Register 
(SR II/W-

series/OMNI) 
iPERL Unknown 

One-Way 22,021 1,379 238 23,638 80% 

Two-Way 1,874 3,851 193 5,918 20% 

No MXU 2 13 100 115 <1% 

Total 23,897 5,243 531 29,671 

 % of 
Total 

81% 18% 2%  

 
The benefits of two-way transmitters over one-way transmitters, and the associated caveats, include: 

• Ability to transmit a remote shut-off of water 
o Requires a meter that has an automated shut-off valve. iPERL meters do not have this 

functionality. This feature has an associated increase in cost for the meter. The City does not 
currently have any meters with this functionality.  

• On-demand meter reads from billing office or distribution yard (e.g. outside of the regular hourly 
transmission) 

o Can be useful for faster move-in/out start/end reads but reads are already transmitted and 
available in the RNI or Sensus Analytics on an hourly basis 

• Over-the-air firmware upgrades without a site visit (e.g. enabling additional native functionality or software 
bug fixes) 

o These are likely to be infrequent, but the ability to make any such changes over-the-air without a 
physical field visit is useful and efficient for use of staff when they do occur. 

56



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 2-11 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

• Change device configuration over-the-air when utility decides to change operational features, such as 
reading resolution (1 gal to 0.1 gal), meter units (gal to CF), transmission rate (every 1 hour to every 4 hours 
to save battery life), or alarm thresholds for leak detection, backflow, or broken pipe. 

o Changes in billing operational features are likely infrequent, but remotely changing alarm 
thresholds based on system-wide analysis of typical AMI field issues may be useful.  

2.1.3 Network Infrastructure 

The City utilizes two Sensus FlexNet Base Stations (Model S50) which collect transmissions from the radios located 
with each meter.  The two base stations were purchased and implemented in 2007 during the initial AMI deployment 
for one-way AMI communications.  The firmware for these base stations was recently upgraded to incorporate the 
functionality of two-way AMI communications (e.g. the ability to transmit requests back to the radio transmitters). 

2.2 Metering Software 

The Sensus FlexNet system consists of two pieces of software used for different purposes, described in the sections 
below. 

2.2.1 Regional Network Interface (RNI) 

The RNI is functionally the direct interface to raw data from the wireless transmitters throughout the system, as well as 
a monitor of overall network health.  Information is reported to the RNI from the Base Stations and then processed and 
stored in a database.  The data and software are hosted on offsite servers.  The RNI is the combination of hardware 
(servers), databases, and software applications.  The RNI provides the following features  (Sensus, 2017): 

• Track installation of wireless transmitters 

• View meters with missing read data 

• View meters with missing manufacturing information or rate codes 

• Track service losses (house-side leaks, theft) 

• View quality of RF signal and network communications 

• View unauthorized access attempts 

• Import/export reports 

 

2.2.2 Sensus Analytics 

Sensus Analytics is a data analytics software with Meter Data Management (MDM) functionality.  MDMs provide 
screening and long-term data storage from AMI networks and are typically used for meter asset management, review 
of customer consumption patterns, and interfacing for customer billing reads. Sensus Analytics functionally takes the 
raw data from the RNI and displays long-term consumption patterns.  Sensus Analytics has four main components 
(Sensus, 2017): 

57



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 2-12 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

• The Device Access application presents detailed meter usage 
as well as alerts (tampers, leaks, etc.) 

• The Billing Access application provides the basis for an 
interface between AMI reads and a utility’s billing system 

• The Report Access Application is a management tool that 
offers multiple reports that summarize system diagnostic 
information or provide detailed device-level reports (e.g. 
consumption validation, alarms, etc.) 

• The Meter Insight Application is a data validation tool that 
serves two purposes: 

o Summary of incoming network meter data 

o Identifies reliability issues 

The City also has access to the Enhanced version of Sensus Analytics 
which includes additional applications: 

• The Alarm Insight application – summary reports and drill-
down lists of alarms triggered by the system (e.g. Leak 
Detected, Low Battery, Empty iPERL pipe, etc.) 

• Alert Manager – allows for preconfigured alerts to be sent to 
users when triggered by the system 

The City does not use the Alarm Insight or Alert Manager applications. 
Limited use of the Meter Insight application is used to review specific 
meters, but ultimately it is not used to review system health or dispatch 
follow-up work orders.   

 

2.3 Alerts from Sensus Analytics Software 

Meter badge numbers were exported from Sensus Analytics in various lists from the Meter Insight (December 29, 2017) 
and Alarm Insight (on December 11, 2017) applications.  These were matched up by meter badge number to the 
Edmunds billing system export described in Section 2.1.1.  The alert lists are listed below, followed by a count of 
instances in Table 2-4. 

• Meter Insight 
o Inactive Usage 

▪ Meter that has device status = inactive and consumption measured during the last day 
(Sensus Analytics software, 2017) 

o Almost Stale (not included in export) 
▪ 48-72 hours with no reads (Sensus Analytics software, 2017) 

o Stale (not included in export) 
▪ 72+ hours with no reads (Sensus Analytics software, 2017) 

o No Read Available 

Figure 2-12: Sample Sensus Analytics 
Screen 

Figure 2-13: Sample Sensus Analytics 
Meter Insight Screen 

58



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 2-13 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

▪ List of active meters that have no read data.  
The AMI system has no readings for this 
Device ID. A possible cause could be the 
meter ID is not correct in the VFLEX file. 
(Sensus Analytics software, 2017) 

o Orphaned Meter 
▪ Meter ID not found in the VFLEX file. Will not 

appear in the Active Meters list. (Sensus 
Analytics software, 2017) 

o Unknown Radio 
▪ Mismatch in Radio ID between the RNI and 

VFLEX file for the active meter. (Will not 
impact Billing) (Sensus Analytics software, 
2017) 

• Alarm Insight 
o iPERL Empty Pipe 
o Leak Detected 
o Latched Leak 
o Low Battery/Smartpoint Low Battery 
o Magnetic Latched 

 
 

Table 2-4: Sensus Analytics Insights and Alarms – December 2017 

Sensus 
Analytics 

Type 

Sensus Analytics 
Category 

Meter Type 

Total 
ICE Register 

(SR II/W-
series/OMNI) 

iPERL Unknown 

Meter 
Insight 

Inactive Usage 122 37 8 167 

No Read Available 1,573 200 334 2,107 

Orphaned Meter 9 66 1 76 

Unknown Radio 90 115 0 205 

Alarm 
Insight 

iPERL empty pipe N/A 30 0 30 

Latched Leak 214 12 1 227 

Leak Detected 617 47 0 664 

Low Battery 0 3 0 3 

Magnetic Latched 0 19 0 19 

Smartpoint Low 
Battery 

0 1 0 1 

Table 2-5 shows a breakdown by meter size and meter type for the Sensus Analytics Meter Insight error of “No Read 
Available” which is the error category with the largest number of meters.  “No Read Available” means there is an active 
meter that has no readings in the Sensus system.  These 2,107 meters represent 7% of the total meter population.   

Figure 2-14: Sample Sensus Analytics 
Reports Screen 

59



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 2-14 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

When comparing meter types, a slightly higher percentage of ICE register meters (7% of total ICE register population) 
are on the “No Read Available” list vs iPERL meters (4% of total iPERL population), but the distinction is not very 
significant.   

Meters with “No Read Available” are likely requiring manual meter re-reads (see Section 3.2.4) and/or estimation of 
bills by utility staff.  A detailed review of reasons for “No Read Available” reports in the City system was beyond the 
scope of this report. These should be monitored as meter replacements are made to confirm that there isn’t an 
underlying programming issue with these meters that was not found during our review. 

Table 2-5: Breakdown of Meter Size and Type for Sensus Analytics “No Read Available” – 
December 2017 

Meter 
Size 

ICE Register 
(SR II/W-

series/OMNI) 

% of total in 
Size Class 

and Meter 
Type1 

iPERL 

% of total in 
Size Class 

and Meter 
Type1 

Unknown 

% of total 
in Size Class 
and Meter 

Type1 

Total 

3/4" 1,463 6% 192 4% 313 64% 1,968 

1" 54 8% 2 2% 3 50% 59 

1.5" 21 10% 0 n/a 1 50% 22 

2" 28 9% 0 n/a 1 50% 29 

3" 2 12% 0 n/a 0 n/a 2 

4" 1 4% 0 n/a 0 0% 1 

6" 2 13% 0 n/a 0 0% 2 

8" 1 20% 0 n/a 3 50% 4 

Unknown 1 n/a 6 n/a 13 n/a 20 

Total 1,573 7% 200 4% 334 63% 2,107 

Table 2-5 Notes: 

1. E.g. 6% of 3/4” meters with ICE registers have a No Read error and 4% of all 3/4" iPERL meters have a No 
Read error. 

60



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 3-1 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

3. UTILITY BILLING 

3.1 Summary 

Utility Billing is a division of the City of Apopka that is responsible for billing and receiving payments for potable water, 
sewer, reclaimed water, and garbage service.  Utility Billing has five staff members, consisting of: 

• Two cashiers who interact with customers at a walk-up or drive-by window 

• Two customer service representatives who answer phone calls and generate bills 

• One manager 

At the time of writing, one additional full-time staff member was being hired to do manual meter reading (meter re-
reads, described later in Section 3.2.4). 

Typical Utility Billing staff procedures (for water and reclaimed water) are described in Section 3.2, followed by the use 
of metering data in Section 3.3.  Impacts on unaccounted-for water are described in Section 3.4. 

3.2 Billing Procedures & Software 

Utility Billing uses Edmunds MCSJ (Edmunds) as the billing system of record.  The Edmunds software was 
implemented in December 2016 as a replacement for Information Management Services (IMS) software.  Edmunds is 
used for the purposes described in sections 3.2.1, 3.2.2, 3.2.3, and 3.2.4.  

3.2.1 Monthly customer billing and payment tracking 

Customers are billed monthly using tiered rates by customer class.  There are four grouped cycles that distribute the 
customer bills throughout the month.  Customers are billed in discrete units of 1,000 gallons but meters are read down 
to the gallon.  The interface by which Edmunds receives monthly meter reads from the AMI system is described further 
in Section 3.3 - Use of Metering Data.  

Edmunds also provides validation auditing of meter reads (i.e. high compared to previous months, negative 
consumption, and zero consumption). Utility Billing staff presently take follow-up actions to review flagged accounts, 
dispatch work orders as appropriate, and/or make billing adjustments. However, it appears the volume of these follow-
ups exceed existing staff production capabilities.  

3.2.2 Mid-Month Notices 

Fifteen days after the regular monthly meter cycle reads and billing processing, Utility Billing staff execute a Mid-Month 
Notices process which notifies customers via postcard about excessive use halfway through the month.  

Meter reads are again imported from Sensus to Edmunds (described further in Section 3.3 - Use of Metering Data).  
Customers who have used 15,000 gallons or more in the first half of their cycle (“mid-month”) are flagged.  A manual 
review is conducted to remove accounts with negative consumption, questionable large spikes in usage, or other 
suspected erroneous readings.  The remaining accounts are added to a postcard mail merge file and an outside vendor 
prints and sends the postcards.  Postcards are only printed in English. 

Utility Billing Staff estimate that they send approximately 800-1,000 Mid-Month Notices per month.  A handful of 
accounts that regularly receive this notice are noted to be customers who typically use a lot of water for irrigation.  

61



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 3-2 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

The Mid-Month Notices process was implemented after a previous rate study implemented 30,000 gallons as the 
highest tier for billed potable or reclaimed consumption.  The 15,000 gallon cutoff trigger for Mid-Month Notices is half 
of the highest tier. The mid-month notices program is estimated to have begun in 2011, which corresponds with when 
meter reads started being recorded twice per month in Edmunds instead of once per month.  

3.2.3 Meter Installation Records 

Meter badge number and radio transmitter number are recorded under the customer account, as well as several other 
characteristics such as meter size and service type. Meter Type/Model (e.g. Sensus iPERL, OMNI, or SR II) is not 
stored in Edmunds.  Meter Installation records are described in greater detail in Section 2.1.1. 

3.2.4 Work Order Dispatch  

All meter-related work orders are dispatched and managed out of Edmunds.  Utility Billing staff create a work order 
through Edmunds that is associated with a specific account and choose the correct work order type (e.g. exchange 
meter, read meter, etc.).  Work orders are generally scheduled for the next day.  Work orders are usually printed on 
paper by the department performing the work which is typically Water Distribution Maintenance staff for meter-related 
work orders.  Work Order completion information is written on the paper sheet and then delivered or scanned/faxed 
back to Utility Billing.  Utility Billing staff interpret the notes and make the appropriate changes directly in the account 
records (e.g. if a meter was exchanged, staff would need to manually input the meter information under the account 
and “retire” the record for the old meter).   

Utility Billing does not use the Alert Manager in Sensus Analytics to proactively choose locations to dispatch work 
orders to resolve meter tamper or no reception issues.  Work orders are manually dispatched at the account level when 
an issue arises that interferes with billing.  

During the course of report preparation, the City began to use electronic work orders on tablet computers, and is in the 
process of training staff and rolling out the program. This is expected to improve the administrative efficiency of the 
work orders and work order tracking. 

Meter Re-Reads  

Meter Re-Reads are a specific sub-set of work orders that consume a significant amount of City staff time.  
Approximately 3,500-4,000 meters per month are not reading regularly through the AMI system.  There are no official 
tracked metrics describing the breakdown of reasons for no available AMI reads, but typical reasons based on City 
experience include cut wires, cars parked over meter box or other reception issues, stopped meters, or dead 
transmitters.   

Once reads have been imported from Sensus Analytics to Edmunds (see Section 3.3), Edmunds will flag the meters 
that have no read.  Utility Billing staff create and dispatch a meter “re-read” work order request for field staff to obtain 
a manual meter reading in the field.  Currently, meter re-reads are performed by Water Distribution Maintenance staff.  
Utility Billing also hires temporary outside help from a utility services company to assist with meter reading.  Out of 
several hundred per week, about 100 are typically successfully re-read, with about half being completed by Water 
Distribution Staff and the other half by outside help.  The field staff hand-write the meter reads on a sheet of paper next 
to the meter badge in a list of requested meter re-reads. 

For the meters that are unable to be re-read, Edmunds will estimate the read and generate a bill for the customer.  
During the next month, the process repeats.  No filtering is available to identify and prioritize re-reading of meters that 
have been estimated for longer periods of time. 

At the time of writing, one full-time meter reader is being hired to work directly with Utility Billing.  

62



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 3-3 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

3.3 Use of Metering Data 

Utility Billing staff use Sensus Analytics software to: 

1. Transfer AMI meter reads into the billing system  

o Sensus Analytics makes use of a manual flat file (referred to as the “VFLEX” file) interface to keep 
account information up to date and to transfer meter reads into Edmunds 

o In Edmunds, staff select the meter cycle or route of interest. A VFLEX file is generated with the latest 
account information. This file is imported through a tool in Sensus Analytics and account information 
is updated in the Sensus database.  By matching up the meter badge number and wireless 
transmitter number, Sensus Analytics appends the latest meter read to the file (typically takes about 
2 minutes).  The updated VFLEX file is then re-imported back into Edmunds with the single added 
meter read per meter.  

2. Review consumption alerts upon customer request  

o Customers do not have access to consumption values outside of the monthly value that appears on 
their bill.   

o If a customer receives a high bill or has other questions about their consumption, they will typically 
call Utility Billing or visit the physical office window to ask for more information.  

o Utility Billing staff regularly log into Sensus Analytics, pull up the account, and review consumption 
patterns and share observations with the customer (e.g. an ongoing leak where hourly consumption 
never drops to 0 gal).   

3.4 Impact on Unaccounted-For Water 

3.4.1 Zero Consumption from Stopped Meters 

Stopped meters are meters where water is typically still flowing through the meter and being used by the customer, but 
the meter is not registering consumption due to age-based wear and tear or damage.  These meters may or may not 
have a working wireless transmitter providing hourly reads. A working transmitter would still provide the same meter 
register read every hour, making it appear that no water is being used.   

Utility Billing provided an export of all the zero consumption meters on January 2, 2018.  The list contained 2,284 
meters of which 85 were fire meters. 2,280 meter numbers were matched up with Edmunds billing export data.  It is 
important to note that presence on the zero consumption report does not necessarily indicate a stopped meter; it is 
perfectly acceptable that a meter might not register consumption for several months, such as if it serves a seasonal 
home, an irrigation line that is inactive in winter, or other vacant property.   

For 3/4"-2” meters with ICE registers, a consistent 9-10% of each meter size class is present on the zero consumption 
report.  Conversely, a smaller percentage (2-6%) of the iPERL meter population is present on the zero consumption 
report. Only 249 out of 2,280 meters (11% of total zero consumption report) were also present on the Sensus Analytics 
No Reads report (see Section 2.3).  This indicates that the vast majority of meters on the zero consumption report are 
successfully communicating zero quantity readings via actual radio or manual reads and are not being classified as 
zero consumption due to no available meter readings (i.e. not communicating).  

 

63



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 3-4 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

Table 3-1: Breakdown of Meter Size and Type for Zero Consumption in January 2018 

Meter 
Size 

ICE Register 
(SR II/W-

series/OMNI) 

% of total 
in Size 

Class and 
Meter 
Type1 

iPERL 

% of total in 
Size Class 

and Meter 
Type1 

Unknown Total 

3/4" 1,966 9% 93 2% 81 2,140 

1" 73 10% 4 6% 0 77 

1.5" 19 9% 0 n/a 0 19 

2" 31 10% 0 n/a 1 32 

4" 2 7% 0 n/a 0 2 

8" 2 40% 0 n/a 2 4 

Unknown 0 n/a 3 n/a 3 6 

Total 2,093  100  87 2,280 

Table 3-1Table 3-1 Notes: 

1) Percentages are out of total meters in size class, e.g. 9% of all 3/4” meters with ICE registers are on the zero 
consumption report and 2% of all 3/4" iPERL meters are on the zero consumption report. 

3.4.2 High Bill Allowances 

Utility Billing has a High Bill Allowance program where customers are allowed two adjustments (credits) within a 12-
month period.  A credit will be applied to an account with a high bill if the customer can provide records of leak repairs 
made and staff are able to verify a reduction in hourly/daily consumption in Sensus Analytics.  The credit back to the 
customer is calculated by subtracting (1) a newly calculated bill based on an average of the customer’s previous 12 
months of consumption from (2) the high bill.   

The number and dollar value of High Bill Allowances is not tracked with a specific field in Edmunds, but an estimate of 
the number of high bill allowances per year was calculated by exporting all billing system entries containing the word 
“leak”.  The count of billing system entries per year from 2010-2017 is shown in Figure 3-1. In 2017, there were 757 
entries.  The overall trend 2010-2017 suggests an increase in high bill adjustments through time, but it’s possible this 
may be due to more consistent note-taking by Utility Billing staff or greater program awareness and use by customers.   

 

64



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 3-5 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

Figure 3-1: Number of Billing System Entries Containing “Leak” 2010-2017 

 

The High Bill Allowance program provides financial relief for customers facing a large water bill and is meant to 
incentivize the professional repair of leaks.  However, it is a revenue loss to the City because water is being used that 
is ultimately not paid for.  If customers were aware of excessive water use sooner than looking at a monthly bill or 
getting a mid-month notice, they would be able to respond and resolve the issue significantly sooner.  In most cases, 
this should reduce the number and magnitude of requests for high bill allowances, decrease time spent by City staff 
resolving requests, and improve satisfaction with City services.  

 

 

65



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 4-1 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

4. WATER DISTRIBUTION MAINTENANCE 

4.1 Summary 

Water Distribution Maintenance is a division of the City of Apopka’s Public Services Department that is responsible for 
operating the City’s distribution system.  Water Distribution Maintenance has fourteen staff members, consisting of: 

• One foreman 

• 2 staff responsible for Turn Ons/Cut Offs 

• 3 staff responsible for utility location/markout requests 

• 2 staff responsible for hydrant maintenance 

• 2 staff responsible for leaks/repairs 

• 2 staff responsible for new meter sets and programming 

• 2 additional service workers focused on meter change-outs (started during the course of report preparation) 

• Currently the City is not using outside support or consulting in any significant way 

Typical Water Distribution Maintenance staff processes and responsibilities are described in Section 4.2, and a 
discussion on the use of metering data can be found in Section 4.3.  Impacts on unaccounted-for water are described 
in Section 4.4. 

4.2 Water Distribution Maintenance Processes and Responsibilities 

The Water Distribution Maintenance Division is responsible for many processes needed to operate the City’s 
distribution system, including: 

• Operation and maintenance of transmission and distribution mains 

• Meter box installation, meter sets, and wireless transmitter programming for new services (about 30 per 
month) 

• Service cut-ons/cut-offs (e.g. for new services, delinquency, or vacant properties) 

• Underground utility location and markout (dig safe) 

• Backflow prevention device inspection and installation (required for all 7,600 reclaimed water connections; for 
residential reclaimed, Water Distribution Maintenance makes the actual device installation as well) 

• Leak repairs on mains and services 

• Hydrant maintenance 

• Manual meter reads for meters not on AMI (20-30 per week) 

• Manual meter reads (re-reads) for AMI meters reported by Utility Billing (several hundred per week) 

66



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 4-2 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

o This includes AMI system maintenance, such as fixing cut wires, replacing broken registers, etc. as 
discovered during re-reads 

• Other customer requests (e.g. leak inspection due to high bill) 

• Meter replacements 

o Recent focus on large meters (4”+), followed by 2”, with smaller customer meters being exchanged 
only as reported and able to get to them 

o Two new Service Workers were added during the preparation of this report, who are focused on 
meter replacements. It is our understanding that these staff are replacing approximately 100 
residential meters per week. Details of this program and integration of the new meters with the billing 
systems, were not available. 

Meter replacements were noted by City staff as the lowest priority item among the list of other responsibilities which 
often take priority to their emergency nature (e.g. – water main breaks).   

4.3 Use of Metering Data 

Water Distribution Maintenance staff primarily use the Sensus Regional Network Interface (RNI) software to look at 
raw data (reads displayed in a table) rather than Sensus Analytics consumption graphs: 

• The RNI is used to review work completed (only if needed, it is not a standard practice) 

• Review of issues reported by customers through Utility Billing (e.g. if there is a question about why a customer 
has a high bill and a field visit is requested, staff might preview consumption for patterns such as real irrigation 
usage vs a leak that needs to be fixed) 

• If more than one leak complaint is received for a particular street in the same day or week, the RNI is often 
used to look at consumption patterns of other services on the same street.  

4.4 Impact on Unaccounted-For Water 

4.4.1 Stopped Meters 

Stopped meters and zero consumption are described more fully in Section 3.4.1.  

4.4.2 Under-Registering Meters 

Under-registering meters occur where water is still flowing through the meter and being used by the customer, but the 
meter is not registering consumption at 100% accuracy due to age-based wear and tear or damage.  Typically, the 
accuracy of meters is expected to decrease throughout the life of the meter, rather than increase, due to the tendency 
for increased friction and drag forces (due to wear and tear) on the meter components at low flow (Barfuss, Johnson, 
& Neilsen, 2011).  When meters under-register, a utility loses revenue because customers are using more water than 
they are being billed for.   

The City does not regularly test meters for accuracy.  Past practice involved only testing meters upon customer request, 
but staff initially indicated that no meters had been sent to a third-party for testing in several years.  No testing is done 
on site.  During preparation of this report, the City sent 10 recently-removed meters out for testing. Results were not 
available as of this writing. 

67



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 4-3 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

Table 4-1 shows potable consumption broken down by meter size and type for calendar year 2016.  This information 
came from a database export from the Edmunds billing system obtained January 22, 2018 containing about 30,900 
rows of account information with 2016 monthly consumption.  The “Meter Descript” field was used as an identifier of 
service type and was recategorized to separate “reuse” services from all other potable services (“water”, “potable”, 
“fireline”, or “irrigation”).   

Table 4-1: 2016 Consumption by Meter Size and Type (potable only) 

Meter 
Size 

Consumption (MG) by Meter Type Total % of 
Total ICE Register  

(SR II/W-
series/OMNI) 

iPERL Unknown 

3/4" 1,223 133 40 1,396 69% 

1"  105 6 1 112 6% 

1.5" 65 n/a 0 65 3% 

2" 130 n/a 1 131 6% 

3" 22 n/a 0 22 1% 

4" 68 n/a 5 73 4% 

6" 21 n/a 27 49 2% 

8" 85 n/a 0 85 4% 

10" 87 n/a 0 87 4% 

Total 1,804 139 74 2,018  

% of 
total 

89% 7% 4%   

Table 4-2 shows a comparison of 2016 consumption vs count of meters per meter size class.  Additionally, it shows 
the average consumption per meter per month.  While 3/4" meters account of 95% of the meter population by count of 
meters, they only account for 69% of consumption since large meters use significantly more water per meter. However, 
while the accuracy of the larger meters plays a significant role in revenue to the city, the sheer number of small meters 
means that they still represent the majority of revenue and must be maintained to ensure a reliable revenue stream for 
the City. 

68



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 4-4 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

Table 4-2: Comparison of 2016 Consumption vs Count of Meters per Size Class (potable only) 

Meter 
Size 

Consumption 
(MG) 

% of Total 
Consumption 

Count of 
Meters 

% of Total Count 
of Potable Meters 

Gallons per Meter 
per Month 

3/4" 1,223 69% 20,984 95% 5,544 

1"  105 6% 732 3% 12,716 

1.5" 65 3% 164 1% 33,028 

2" 130 6% 226 1% 48,121 

3" 22 1% 13 <1% 138,121 

4" 68 4% 16 <1% 378,584 

6" 21 2% 8 <1% 505,304 

8" 85 4% 9 <1% 783,543 

10" 87 4% 5 <1% 1,456,037 

Total 2,018 100% 22,157 100%  

Table 4-3 shows the comparison of counts of meters vs consumption attributable to 3/4" and 1” meters by type.  It 
shows that 81% of potable meters (by count) are SR IIs, while 18% are iPERLs.  This is in contrast to 88% of 2016 
actual water consumption by SR II meters vs 9% by iPERLs.  Based on this 2016 billed consumption, SR II meters 
account for a larger share of consumption than they do by count of meters.   

Table 4-3: Breakdown of Count of Meters and 2016 Consumption (Potable 3/4” & 1” only) by Meter 
Type 

Meter Type 
Count of 3/4" & 

1" Potable 
Meters1 

% of Total 
Potable 
Meters 

Sum of 2016 
Consumption by 

3/4" and 1" potable 
meters (MG)2 

% of Total 
Potable 

Consumption 

ICE Register (SR 
II/W-series/OMNI) 

23,301 81% 1,328 88% 

iPERL 5,140 18% 139 9% 

Unknown 496 2% 41 3% 

Total 28,937 100% 1,508 100% 

Table 4-3 Notes: 

1) Meter count is based on January 2018 data 

2) Potable consumption is based on 2016 data 

If SR II meters were under-registering as a whole, it is expected that they would have a smaller average consumption 
per meter than iPERL meters (which are newer and expected to be registering nearer to 100%). However, in 2016, the 
median 2016 annual potable consumption for 3/4" meters with non-zero consumption was 60,003 gallons for SRII 
meters vs 49,367 gallons for iPERL meters. Three factors that could contribute to this difference include:  

• A large share of iPERL meters have been installed at new or remodeled properties that are more likely to 
have modern, low-flow fixtures.   

69



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 4-5 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

• Newer properties are more likely to have both iPERL meters and both potable and reuse service lines.  31% 
of 3/4" potable SR II meters (17,294 meters total) have a 3/4" reuse meter (iPERL or SR II) at the same 
property address, while 48% of 3/4" potable iPERL meters (3,324 meters total) have a 3/4" reuse meter 
(iPERL or SR II) at the same property address. Therefore, SR II meters are more likely to have greater 
consumption per meter because they are more likely to capture both indoor consumption and outdoor 
irrigation water use under a single meter, rather than separately under two separately metered services for 
the same property. 

• There are a greater number of iPERL meters in the 2018 billing system export than would be captured in the 
2016 consumption data, due to new installations and replacements. 

Figure 4-1, Figure 4-2, and Figure 4-3 show histograms of the distribution of annual consumption by individual potable 
meters by size class.  Meters with zero consumption are not included.   3/4" is the largest size class by number of 
meters and by total volume of consumption.  Out of the 8 meters that have an annual 2016 consumption over 1 MG, 
most were between 1-2 MG, while two major outliers of 10.0 MG and 29.2 MG.  Monthly or yearly review of consumption 
distribution by size class may flag meter right-sizing issues, meter size misclassification issues in the billing system, 
and/or meter replacements needed due to volume of use. 

Figure 4-1: Histogram Showing Distribution of 3/4" Potable Meter Consumption for 2016 

 

 

70



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 4-6 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

Figure 4-2: Histogram Showing Distribution of 1"-3” Potable Meter Consumption for 2016 

 

Figure 4-3: Histogram Showing Distribution of 4"-10” Potable Meter Consumption 2016 

 

Comparison of Estimated Apparent Losses to Unaccounted-For Water 

To provide a sensitivity analysis on the impact of under-reading or zero consumption meters on unaccounted-for water, 
we developed an estimate of Apparent Losses, which is presented in Appendix A. Using that methodology, Apparent 

71



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 4-7 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

Losses from potable meters were estimated at 262 MG. The valuation of Apparent Losses uses both water and 
wastewater rates, since wastewater usage fees are billed based on volumetric potable water consumption.  The dollar 
value of these Apparent Losses can be calculated by multiplying by the average rate at which customers pay for water 
and wastewater combined ($1.81 per 1,000 gal for potable water + $2.36 per 1,000 gal for wastewater = $4.17 per 
1,000 gal combined rate, see calculation in Appendix B) since Apparent Losses represent water used by customers 
but not paid for. The Apparent Losses of 262 MG are estimated to be valued at $1,100,000. 

Since the City has no formal meter accuracy testing program, the potable meter population was divided into several 
categories and each was assigned an estimated percent registration accuracy: 

• Potable meters on the zero consumption report were assumed (very conservatively) to all be stopped meters 
with a 0% accuracy. This means average consumption flowed through the meter but was not registered or 
billed.  

• The remaining meters not on the zero consumption report were conservatively assumed to have the following 
percent accuracy: 

o Small meters with ICE registers (3/4" – 3”) were assigned an arbitrary 95% (3.5% lower than 98.5% 
minimum allowable overall registration by American Water Works Association [AWWA] standards) 

o iPERL meters (3/4” & 1”) were assigned an accuracy of 98.5% which is the minimum allowable 
overall registration by AWWA 

o Large meters with ICE registers (4”+) were assigned an accuracy of 98.5% which is the minimum 
allowable overall registration by AWWA 

The estimate of 262 MG is based on an assumed loss of accuracy over time.  If each meter was registering at 100% 
accuracy, 262 MG of additional consumption would be registered by the metering infrastructure. This is a conservative 
estimate of meter accuracy, and the actual accuracy could be less. We have made this conservative assumption to 
avoid over-estimating the anticipated revenue that could be recovered if the meters were performing at their original 
accuracy. 

The 262 MG of estimated apparent losses can be subtracted from the 750 MG of unaccounted-for water in calendar 
year 2016 (see the City’s calculation of unaccounted-for water in Section 1.2).  This leaves 488 MG that can attributed 
to real losses, or physical leaks and breaks in the distribution system, or under-accounting of estimated water uses.   

The AWWA Water Loss Audit Methodology offers a basic calculation that estimates the Unavoidable Annual Real 
Losses (UARL) in a system, defined as a theoretical reference value representing the technical low limit of leakage 
that could be achieved if all of today’s best leak detection and repair technology could be successfully applied.  It is 
based on the distribution system’s key characteristics, such as length of water mains, number of service connections, 
and pressure.  The equation used for UARL is based on leakage data gathered from well-maintained and managed 
systems internationally: 

𝑈𝐴𝑅𝐿 (𝑔𝑎𝑙/𝑑𝑎𝑦) = (5.4 ∗ 𝐿𝑚 + 0.15 ∗ 𝑁𝑐 + 7.5 ∗ 𝐿𝑐) ∗ 𝑃 

Where: 

Lm = length of water mains (miles) 

Nc = Number of service connections 

72



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 4-8 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

Lc = Total length of private pipe (miles) = Nc * average distance from curb stop to customer meter  

P = average pressure in the system (psi) 

For Apopka: 

UARL (gal/day) = [5.4 * 356 miles + 0.15 * 22,215 potable service connections + 7.5 * 0 miles (all meters assumed to 
be at curb)] * 70 psi =  367,826 gal/day = 134 MG/yr 

This means that out of 488 MG of estimated real losses, 134 MG (~30%) can be considered expected system leakage 
that would be infeasible to fix.  134 MG is 4.7% of total system production.  This leaves approximately 353 MG of 
“Avoidable Real Losses” that could be managed through proactive leak detection, pressure management, or other 
distribution system leakage management control practices. Table 4-4 shows a summary of calculations.  

The dollar value of 353 MG of Avoidable Real Losses can be calculated by multiplying by the average production rate 
($299.21/MG, see calculation in Appendix B), which is estimated based on the variable cost of chemicals and electricity 
to treat and distribute water. The Avoidable Real Losses of 353 MG are estimated to be valued at $110,000. 

Ultimately, while based on many estimations, the calculation of apparent losses and subsequent estimation of real 
losses provides insight into the fact that the City’s unaccounted-for water is likely due to a roughly equal combination 
of losses from old and under-registering meters (262 MG, or 9% of total system production) as well as leaks and breaks 
in the distribution system (353 MG, or 12% of total system production).  

Table 4-4: Comparison of Apparent Losses to Unaccounted-For Water for 2016 

 Component 
Volume 

(MG) 

% of Total 
System 

Production 
Dollar Value Valued Using 

A 
Unaccounted-For 

Water 
750 26% $1,200,000 

Sum of Apparent 
Losses and Real 

Losses1 

B Apparent Losses 262 9% $1,100,000 
Customer retail 
rate for water 

and wastewater 

C = A - B Real Losses 488 17% $150,000 
Water 

production rate 

D 
Unavoidable Annual 

Real Losses 
134 5% $40,000 

Water 
production rate 

E = C - D Avoidable Real Losses 353 12% $110,000 
Water 

production rate 

Table 4-4 Notes: 

1. Summed using unrounded values 

4.4.3 Leaks and Breaks in the Distribution System 

Leaks in the street are reported by customers or other city employees through dispatch or Public Services.  Because 
leak work is not tracked in a central database, there are limited metrics available.  Staff report that there are no distinct 
patterns that stand out, but leaks can happen naturally on old pipes, when a water hammer occurs due to contractors 

73



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 4-9 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

or fire department operation of valves, or when a contractor ignores a line locate and hits a main directly.  Leaks also 
happen when contractors damage service lines.  According to the City, leaks occur more frequently on older cast iron 
and asbestos-cement pipes than on newer ductile iron pipes. Leaks also occur at customer meters due to fatigue of 
older meters and pipes or when customers tamper with valves or connections in their meter box.  Everyone on Water 
Distribution Maintenance staff works on leaks and breaks when they occur, regardless of their typical job assignment.   

 

74



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 5-1 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

5. RECOMMENDATIONS 

5.1 Summary and Discussion 

The recommendations address the goal of reducing unaccounted-for water and are based on the findings of our review 
of the City’s Metering, Billing, and Distribution Maintenance Systems. The recommendations were categorized by their 
relative impact on reducing the City’s unaccounted-for water into immediate recommendations and ongoing 
recommendations, and then further by whether they are capital improvements or processes that the City should 
implement. Our recommendations are summarized in Table 5-1 and Figure 5-1, with detailed discussion in their 
respective following sections. 

Table 5-1: Recommendations Summary 

Category 
Section 
Number 

Recommendation 

Immediate Capital 
Recommendations 

5.2.1 Implement a meter change-out program for aged SR II meters and test 
large meters 

5.2.2 Conduct a proactive leak detection survey 

Immediate 
Process 

Recommendations 

5.3.1 Implement ongoing management and review of metering 
infrastructure and data analysis 

5.3.2 Improve data collection and analysis for meter-related work orders 

5.3.3 Provide customers with access to screened hourly consumption data 

5.3.4 Implement a leak detection notification program for customers 

Ongoing Capital 
Recommendations 

5.4.1 Implement a long-term meter change-out program, including large 
meter maintenance program 

5.4.2 Implement distribution system AMI for optimized system operation, 
maintenance, and monitoring 

Ongoing Process 
Recommendations 

5.5.1 Perform annual water loss audit according to AWWA M36 Methodology 

5.5.2 Develop a leak tracking form with standardized fields 

5.5.3 Monitor meter change-out program effectiveness 

5.5.4 Provide a comprehensive customer engagement experience 

 
The recommendations were developed with the following intent: 
 

1. Establish firm control of water loss and recovery of lost water revenue through meter replacements, testing, 
and leak dectection; 

2. Maintain control of the system through an ongoing, proactive meter replacement program and water audits; 
3. Improve system management and reporting; 
4. Improve public confidence through data availability and transparency; 
5. Expand “smart water” technology tools to maximize the City’s investment in AMI infrastructure and the value 

of the data for water system planning and optimization; and  
6. Monitor progress through data analysis and reporting. 

 
The 2007 City of Apopka conversion to an AMI system mainly consisted of retrofitting old meters with transmitters 
which are now at the end of their lifecycle. This, along with a majority of meter bodies now reaching the end of their 
lifecycle, is likely contributing to a decline in revenue for the City. To improve meter reading accuracy and reliability, 
reduce metering costs, and maintain a steady cash flow into the system, immediate capital recommendations are based 

75



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 5-2 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

around establishing firm control of the metering system. The meter change-out program in Recommendation 5.2.1 is 
the first and most critical step to recovering lost water system revenue and builds on the City’s prior investments in AMI 
technology. 
 
Once these immediate improvements are made, future capital recommendations will complete the vision for a “Smart 
Water” infrastructure to improve the financial position of the water utility and serve the residents of Apopka. These 
improvements include distribution system monitoring, which adds value and context to the water meter data and 
enables the City to better localize water loss in real time (Recommendation 5.4.2). Sophisticated data analysis 
(Recommendation 5.3.1) of combined flow and meter data can identify areas with atypical use patterns and losses due 
to unauthorized use and leaks. 
 
The ongoing process recommendations will help the City use AMI system data to implement a coordinated, disciplined, 
and data-driven approach to its metering system infrastructure. This will reduce the difference between produced and 
metered water volumes, improving the system’s revenue recovery rate. Improved system finances can then be 
leveraged to finance infrastructure replacement, maintenance, and enhancement, which are critical to achieve 
sustained operational efficiency in a city with a rapid growth rate like Apopka.  
 
Currently, the data from the City’s existing AMI system is difficult to analyze, has insufficient or inconsistent information, 
and does easily allow for complex system assessments, troubleshooting, or system optimization. The ability to easily 
analyze water use on a full system, street/neighborhood/district, and individual customer level is important to track 
water usage across the system, deploy resources to problem areas, and promote customer conservation through 
education and leak detection. The City’s existing system has some of these capabilities, but the data quality presents 
issues in doing so, in addition to limited staff expertise and available time.  
 
Beyond the simple recovery of lost revenue from under-registering meters, the Recommendations in this report will 
provide the City with additional quantifiable and non-quantifiable benefits. For example, with better data and more 
expertise in managing system operations using AMI data, the City can achieve cost savings through reduction of 
manpower and fuel for manual meter reading, quicker detection of leaks and flow anomalies which reduce non-revenue 
water and energy usage from pumps, and supporting conservation which then reduces costs from both water 
production and wastewater treatment.  
 
In addition to proactive management of the City’s water system, these Recommendations can also impact the reclaimed 
water system, and provide value for the management of the City’s new wastewater treatment plant through recovery 
of lost revenue from the water meters, and the data for performance optimization. As an example, water consumption 
data can be used to predict wastewater flows, allowing more active management of treatment operation scaling and 
thereby optimizing energy usage.  
 
Beyond water usage data, additional AMI-enabled sensors can be added to the City’s distribution system to provide 
for more integrated system awareness, alarming, and data for operator use. Manpower and energy are typically the 
top two costs for water and wastewater utilities, so active management using the rich data that can be provided by an 
updated AMI system is critical to reducing operating costs. 
 
The non-quantifiable benefits from implementing these Recommendations include improved customer confidence in 
the efficient operation of both the water utility and city-wide services, demonstrated stewardship of Florida’s water 
resources, and facilitate detection of potential water quality impacts. A fully-implemented AMI system with service line 
meters that have reverse-flow detection and can assist operators with the detection of pipeline breaks that cause 
backflow events. Distribution system monitors can be used to detect system pressure and even water quality 
parameters to rapidly detect situations that require operator attention to manage water quality. 
 

76



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 5-3 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

These recommendations are best implemented with a combination of City and outside resources. The City is replacing 
meters currently, but its capacity to do so is limited and there are aspects of the meter replacement program which are 
not optimal, such as the setup of inventory tracking in the billing system. Before meter replacements by City staff 
proceed further, a comprehensive approach to meter replacement (Recommendation 5.2.1) should be developed and 
implemented to make sure the City is setting the system up correctly for future management and quickly improving its 
revenue recovery. An outside service provider for metering system integration can be utilized to swiftly implement the 
meter changeout program and provide a clear point of accountability for program performance. These “systems 
integrators” can provide a full range of meter installation and maintenance program services, from “a la carte” service 
offerings to full “turnkey” solutions that incorporate material acquisition, installation, lifecycle management, and even 
funding options for program implementation. 
 
While AMI systems have user-friendly tools for routine tasks, the rapid change in technology and sophistication of data 
analysis mean that an outside service provider is likely better suited to work with City staff rather than having this 
performed in-house.  Professionals skilled at interpreting “Smart Water” data can develop analyses, reports, and 
mapping products that can be used by City staff to provide actionable insight into system operations, revenue 
forecasting, rapid leak detection and resolution, meter maintenance, cost-benefit projections for infrastructure renewal, 
and verification of program effectiveness. Additional opportunities for “Smart Water” infrastructure exist in combining 
the water metering system with the City’s SCADA system, which further increases data value towards measuring and 
optimizing the performance of the City’s infrastructure. This requires a sophisticated implementation to extract the value 
from the information while maintaining the security and integrity of the systems. 
 
Implementation considerations such as these are incorporated into the discussion of each Recommendation. There 
are a wide variety of ways the implementation of these recommendations can proceed. We strongly recommend that 
the City continue to seek outside consulting support during its assessment and planning for making these 
improvements, as the details, opportunities, and challenges of these implementation options can be better presented 
in future analyses and discussions with the City rather than attempting to cover all possibilities in this Report. Outside 
consulting support will be valuable to the City for the following reasons: 

1. Design and management of a meter replacement program and the volume of data it produces will put a 
significant strain on City staff resources; 

2. Water meter replacements are complex, and experience with meter replacement projects is instrumental in 
avoiding pitfalls and costly mistakes; and  

3. Advances in “smart water” technology require new skill sets and knowledge that City staff does not currently 
have. 

 
 
 

77



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 5-4 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

Figure 5-1: Report Recommendations Flow Chart 

 

5.2 Immediate Capital Recommendations 

5.2.1 Implement a meter change-out program for aged SR II meters and test large meters 

The City’s high unaccounted-for water, significant percentage of zero-consumption meters, and lack of an ongoing 
meter accuracy testing program lead us to conclude that a comprehensive meter replacement program is needed for 
aged SR II meters along with testing and sizing confirmation for large meters. Based on our review of existing biling 
system records:: 

1) 23,843 small meters (3/4” – 3”) are very likely SR II meters that were retrofitted with AMI technology in 2007; 
meter bodies are thus beyond the expected 10-year lifetime warranty and are likely much older than 10 years 
with associated declining accuracy.  

• While the 750 MG of unaccounted-for water is for the potable system only, approximately 23% of 
these 23,843 aged SR II meters are a reuse service type and this same meter change-out 
recommendation applies. 

• The vast majority of the wireless transmitters on SR II meters are one-way with a 10 year warranty 
and are also beyond their expected lifetime. 

2) 9% of 3/4" SR II meters vs 2% of 3/4" iPERL meters are on a zero consumption report. A significant portion 
of these meters are likely stopped meters, with a much larger percentage of the SR II meter population under-
registering due to age-based wear and tear. 

3) Large meters account for 14% of metered flow and <1% of meter installations.  Accuracy testing of these 
meters is not performed regularly. 

78



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 5-5 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

• While the population of large meters is generally younger than the ¾” SR II meters, they represent 
a significant portion of metered consumption given the small number of large meters, and can be 
tested readily to determine if there is significant under-reading  

• Testing can also be done along with meter right-sizing, to confirm the correct size meter is installed 
for the use pattern of the customer.  

A meter replacement program for the aged SR II meters would have multiple benefits, including:  

• Reduction in apparent losses (and thus unaccounted-for water) due to expected stopped meters and meter 
under-registration 

• Provide an opportunity to carefully plan a clean-up of the billing system with accurate and validated records 
of meter installations which would help future planning efforts be more strategic and less capital-intensive 
(e.g. for future long-term meter maintenance and change-out), as well as allow for more accurate auditing and 
system monitoring 

o This would resolve the current discrepancy of meter badge numbers between the RNI and the billing 
system 

o This would also allow confirmation of “final reads” and corresponding addresses and account 
numbers 

• The upgrade of SR II to iPERL meters provides greater low-flow accuracy and access to additional leak and 
theft alarms 

• Resolution of approximately 1,500 No Read reception issues on SR II meters 

• Provide an opportunity to establish a meter right-sizing program to ensure that meters are appropriately sized 
for the consumptive patterns of individual properties 

• Testing a sample of removed meters could provide insight into historic inaccuracies and the opportunity to 
increase revenue 

5.2.1.1 Implementation Considerations 

Transmitter Type 

In replacing the aged SR II meters, the City should analyze the cost difference of one-way vs two-way transmitters (see 
Section 2.1.2 for additional discussion). If there is no significant cost difference, then there may be some ancillary 
benefits that are useful today and it would allow the City to efficiently make future firmware upgrades. However, if there 
is a major cost difference, it may not be worth it to implement the technology across the City. This should be evaluated 
as part of the meter replacement program development. 

Deployment Method 

In implementing a meter replacement program, the following steps would be needed: 

• Implement best practices for inventory management (tracking of meter model and installation date), including 
billing system functionality or database upgrades 

• Design a workflow to manage meter replacement work orders with a high level of quality control 

79



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 5-6 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

• Integrate meter tracking and replacement program into a formal Asset Management program 

Meter replacements can be handled either in-house or through the use of an outside contractor. Each method has its 
pros and cons, as follows: 

1. In-house, multi-year deployment:  The City has begun a meter replacement program with additional staff, but 
without a formal program that meets the above objectives. While immediately starting to install new meters is 
a common response to aging meter infrastructure, a piecemeal replacement program over several years 
means that the loss of revenue is extended over that extended period, along with continued high unaccounted-
for water levels. Without a formal program, meter replacements can happen inequitably in a community, 
leading to public perception issues about who is paying for increased water usage first. Additionally, the multi-
year deployment can be difficult to manage as the system is always “in flux” with a mix of old and new 
equipment, making transparency, reporting, and resiliency more difficult. Lastly, there is also the risk of the 
replacement program can stall if funds are not allocated on an ongoing basis. 

If the City manages the deployment in-house, the City would need a deployment manager to coordinate the 
activities of the Utility Billing and Water Distribution Maintenance departments, and oversee the program 
rollout. This individual would need to have the following technical qualifications: 

• Knowledge of Utility Information Systems, such as: Customer Information Systems (CIS), IP-based 
Automated Call Distribution (ACD) systems, Interactive Voice Response (IVR) systems, Meter Data 
Management Systems (MDMS), Advanced Metering Infrastructure (AMI) systems, Geographic 
Information Systems (GIS) and Outage Management Systems (OMS). 

• Knowledge of utility information system functions and processes, such as: utility billing processes, 
notifications and collections processes, cash updates, electronic payments processing, cashiering, 
accounting, reconciliations, reporting, and month-end processes. 

• Ability to provide assistance and support to end users of managed systems with the ability to 
communicate effectively with end users and recommend system modifications to meet their needs 
and create actionable plans to maintain and improve system operations. 

It is possible that existing City staff have some, of these qualifications, but the ability to use existing City staff 
should be considered in light of existing workload and responsibilities. 

2. Outside contractor:  While the use of an outside vendor can take many forms, including a multi-year 
deployment, the biggest advantage to using an outside contractor is the ability to conduct an intensive, rapid 
deployment of meters and system updates by a well-trained service provider that is experienced in the 
engineering, installation, and management of a metering system replacement and public water systems 
overall. An outside contractor can provide: 

o Program development, material acquisition, installation, funding options support, and completion of 
the AMI update 

o Quicker implementation to expedite the recovery of lost revenue due to aging meters 

o End-to-end management and responsibility for the program’s success 

o Comprehensive funding options 

o Long-term maintenance and support services to maintain the health of the City’s investment 

80



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 5-7 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

The use of an outside contractor would allow the City staff to remain focused on customer service and existing 
responsibilities during the rapid period of equipment replacement. A comprehensive meter change-out 
program will involve both engineering and management teams from the outside service provider to be in 
regular communication with the City’s staff to coordinate activities and ensure that the deployment goes 
smoothly, adjusts to field conditions, and sets the system up to provide the City with reliable and actionable 
data after deployment. Training and support services for ongoing maintenance and system updates can also 
be provided.  

5.2.2 Conduct a proactive leak detection survey 

The City does not currently conduct proactive leak detection survey activities given that current field efforts with existing 
staff are focused on responding to known reported leaks or other distribution system maintenance tasks.  Given that 
unaccounted-for water is estimated to be distributed roughly equally between both real losses (physical leaks and 
breaks) in addition to apparent losses (nonphysical, such as meter under-registration), there is a significant opportunity 
to target real losses through proactive leak detection. 

Although the City currently conducts leak detection activities, we recommend that an outside services contractor be 
engaged for a system-wide check. 

5.3 Immediate Process Recommendations 

5.3.1 Implement ongoing management and review of metering infrastructure and data analysis 

The City’s existing investment in metering and billing infrastructure can be leveraged with a focus on proactive asset 
management and planning. Once unaccounted-for water is reduced through other recommendations, ongoing 
management and review of metering infrastructure and data analysis will maintain low levels of unaccounted-for water, 
minimize potential revenue loss, proactively maintain water distribution system performance, and plan for future 
upgrades as the City grows. The significant amount of data being provided by the City’s metering and billing systems 
can be analyzed to optimize the deployment of staff resources to address unaccounted-for water, plan and execute 
future meter replacements in a measured and purposeful manner, and provide accurate and up-to-date information for 
use by City planners and utility managers.  

Unaccounted-for water will be reduced by actively managing issues with the metering and billing systems in a more 
organized and proactive way. Some examples of how the data could be leveraged for the City’s benefit for reducing 
issues and therefore unaccounted-for water include: 

• Use Sensus Analytics to monitor and manage AMI field maintenance as well as audit billing records 

o The Sensus Analytics Meter Insight and Alarm Insight Applications provide an effective way to 
monitor and track AMI maintenance issues.  The Report Access Application has the ability to provide 
access to the alerts through automated reports and can provide system-wide diagnostic information.  
The City is not currently using these tools to track AMI system health or manage device-specific 
alarms and follow-up field work because so much effort is required to keep up with regular monthly 
billing (e.g. meter re-reads due to no reception or checking up on zero consumption meters). If staff 
are not familiar with how to use these tools, Sensus offers education and training documentation for 
existing customers.  

• Look at Consumption by meter type and meter size (such as in Section 4.4.2) to identify outlier properties 
needing special attention and/or data errors 

• Map reported leaks or other customer complaints in GIS to study geographic patterns of issues 

81



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 5-8 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

o e.g. future customer complaints about pressure or water taste might indicate that focused attention 
should be given to this area by water system staff. 

• Project how many and which meters will need upcoming replacement based on actual age, usage, and 
performance test results. This will bring more certainty to utility budgeting for meter replacements and focus 
on those with the highest potential for revenue loss. 

• Production data and usage trends can be used for predictive maintenance and targeting future infrastructure 
investments and repairs before they become critical and emergency needs. 

o e.g. pump bearing maintenance, water main extension sizing, and prioritization for expanding the 
reclaimed water distribution system  

• As additional data gathering systems are deployed and connected to the AMI and/or SCADA systems, the 
health of the production and distribution system can be assessed and managed more proactively to reduce 
unaccounted-for water. 

o e.g. continuous leak detection acoustic monitoring or real-time non-revenue water estimation 

• Budgeting for infrastructure expansions, repairs, and rehabilitation can be more accurately based on the return 
on investment and desired level-of-service using accurate performance metrics, accurate assessment of past 
project performance, and accurate cost of production and revenue recovery estimates. 

This effort can be started immediately but will be greatly improved once the meter and billing system records have 
been cleaned up as part of a meter replacement program. While it was clear during our visit that City staff are dedicated 
to maintaining high levels of performance, their focus on daily duties may not give them adequate time to step back, 
assess their data, and perform additional analysis.  The accuracy and usefulness of the analyses can be improved with 
input from water industry partners with broader experience in system planning and assessment, water system 
engineering and operations, as well as data mining, statistics, and sophisticated analytical approaches. 

5.3.2 Improve data collection and analysis for meter-related work orders 

The City’s work order dispatch system (currently operating out of Edmunds) does not provide visibility of the history of 
reading issues for each meter, such as meter re-reads or estimated bills. Additionally, it does not allow for tracking or 
reporting on AMI-related issues discovered in the field, such as reasons discovered after follow-up visits for “No Read 
Available” (smashed wireless transmitter, car parked over box, etc.).  A review of the work order process is 
recommended to improve: 

• Dispatch of work (based on Sensus Analytics alarms or billing oddities) 

• Inventory tracking and auditing (to reflect equipment changes made in the field) 

• Reporting on field issues (e.g. rate of equipment damage vs battery failure or other environmental factors) 

• Tracking of number of estimated bills to prioritize maintenance dispatch for longer-term persistent issues 

Additionally, the City has work order systems outside of the Edmunds software platform, and the integration or 
management of tasks between manual/paper work orders, Edmunds-based work orders, and other work order systems 
should be evaluated. It is our understanding that modifications to the work order system are currently underway by City 
staff. 

82



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 5-9 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

5.3.3 Provide customers with access to screened hourly consumption data 

Providing customers with hourly consumption data is one the significant advantages of implementing AMI.  Currently, 
customers only have access to monthly consumption via regular utility billing.  Providing a customer-facing portal to 
monitor hourly water usage has the following benefits: 

• Fewer customer calls about water consumption (resolves billing questions more efficiently) 

• Customers that know about and understand their usage are more likely to conserve 

• Low income customers can better manage their usage and costs 

• Customers can identify leaks or unexpected patterns of water consumption more quickly 

According to City staff, Sensus provides a certain number of free licenses for customers to access an online portal 
showing hourly consumption and trends, but the cost is on the order of $2 per account per year after a certain cap of 
free licenses is reached.  It is possible that this feature would pay for itself relatively quickly through fewer high-bill 
adjustments, as customers would be more quickly aware of potential leaks and could address them more proactively.  

Additionally, implementing a customer portal would eliminate the need to process, review, and mail mid-month notices 
alerting customers of high usage because they would already have access to hourly consumption and can set their 
own custom electronic alert notifications for unexpected usage. 

Additional benefits of the Sensus Customer Portal include (Sensus, 2016): 

• Ability to offer tips for conservation and savings 

• Communicate with customers in their preferred language 

• Email or SMS text usage alerts and notifications 

5.3.4 Implement a leak detection notification program for customers 

The City is already ahead of many of its peers with the mid-month notices program which alerts customers of high 
consumption halfway through the billing month.  However, its effectiveness for identifying leaks is limited by: 

• High usage is not specific to leaks (e.g. could be due to a heavy irrigation month where the customer already 
knows they’re using a lot of water) 

• Mid-month meter reads have to be manually imported from Sensus to Edmunds and then sent via USPS mail 
to customers; this likely involves a delay of several days in which a leak would continue running 

• The mid-month notices program has only one threshold (15,000 gallons).  A customer may have a 10 gal/hr 
leak for 15 days (totaling 3,600 gallons) but would not receive a mid-month notice because the threshold was 
not met. 

A leak detection and notification program is typically based on ongoing analysis of continuous hourly consumption 
above a certain threshold (e.g. usage of at least 10 gal/hr for a continuous 72 hour period). With the ability to notify 
customers via a Customer Portal, customers would be notified immediately via email or SMS text, with the option of 
sending a follow-up postcard or letter as well if no other contact information is available. The Sensus Customer Portal 

83



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 5-10 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

(described in the recommendation in Section 5.3.3) already includes an automated leak detection tool that would fit the 
needs of this recommendation. 

The cost of implementing this tool (e.g. via the Sensus Customer Portal) would be mitigated by avoiding revenue loss 
from fewer High Bill Allowance refunds due to leaks.  Additionally, the mid-month notices could be phased out or scaled 
back significantly, reducing the cost of staff time and postage. 

Note that alerting customers about leaks in homes and businesses is important for water conservation and improved 
customer service but will not necessarily impact unaccounted-for water directly. However, City staff indicated that 
customers have been known to frequently tamper with their own meters and connections within the meter box, often 
causing a leak at the meter which does impact unaccounted-for water.  Providing customers with access to their hourly 
consumption as well as alerts for leaks may help reduce instances of customer-induced leaks at the meter due to 
tampering with physical equipment.  

5.4 Ongoing Capital Recommendations 

5.4.1 Implement a long-term meter change-out program 

Building on the initial meter replacement program in Recommendation 5.2.1, the City should develop and/or update a 
formal meter replacement program as meters will need to be replaced on an ongoing basis. Specific tracking will be 
required to identify and monitor meter groups which will age out on different timelines: 

• iPERL meters currently up to halfway through their 20-year expected lifecycle 

• SR II meters currently at the end of their lifecycle 

• OMNI meters near the beginning of their lifecycle  
 

All meters have a warrantied flow (in addition to age).  Meters may not need to be replaced at the end of their warranty 
period; replacement can be determined by performance testing. 

Water Distribution Maintenance staff indicated that they would find it useful to have access to ongoing tracking of meter 
age (installation date) as well as total consumption flowed through a given meter.  This information is not currently 
stored anywhere in the billing system, making asset tracking and management very difficult.  

5.4.1.1 Implementation Considerations 

Similar to the approaches discussed in Recommendation 5.2.1, the City can manage future replacements either with 
in-house staff or through the use of an outside vendor. In either case, the City should develop a formal program that 
establishes clearly defined outcomes and coordination between the various City stakeholders. 

If the City manages the future meter change-outs, the City should establish a formal program that includes regular 
training for City staff and assess the ongoing effectiveness of the meter replacement program (see Recommendation 
5.5.3). By keeping this program in-house, the City’s staff can be trained to the specific needs that the City has, and the 
City can ensure that they are trained to the appropriate level, with performance and deployment managed in-house. 
However, building and training in-house services can be costly and time-consuming, and there is risk of losing these 
skill sets if key individuals retire or leave the City. 

Using an outside vendor could provide more scalability and redundancy of resources as workload varies, and can 
provide outside input on industry best practices and experience. The use of an outside services provider could provide 
a “subscription program” for the meters that could provide some advantages to the City including: 

• Reducing utility staff workload, allowing them to focus on distribution system and other maintenance tasks; 

84



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 5-11 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

• Having meters installed and programmed by trained technicians experienced in replacement programs; 

• Reducing technology risk; 

• Reducing warranty risk; 

• Customizing technology, reporting measures, and training to meet current and future departmental needs; 

• Optimizing data analysis to help prevent system issues/failures; 

• Annual meter testing and accuracy verification; 

• Planning for future end-of-life meter deployment strategies to better manage capital expenditures needed for 

meter infrastructure; and 

• Supporting the implementation of “Smart Water” infrastructure components. 

5.4.2 Implement distribution system AMI for optimized system operation, maintenance, and 
monitoring 

Investment in the existing AMI infrastructure would allow for monitoring the distribution system between the source 
(water treatment plants) and customer service connections. The City should evaluate the feasibility of implementing 
one or both of the two strategies toward achieving a more advanced “Smart Water” infrastructure: 

1) Acoustic monitoring sensors that monitor distribution lines and locate leaks using sound waves overnight, 
such as the Sensus Permalog+ sensors which are compatible with the City’s existing FlexNet AMI. 

2) District Meter Areas (DMAs) would involve splitting the City’s distribution system into several small discrete 
zones to monitor flows in (via a newly installed, AMI-compatible district flowmeter) vs flows out (sum of 
customer metered consumption). Discrepancies between total inflow vs outflow can then be used to isolate 
leak locations or water theft in smaller geographic areas.  

a. DMA analysis requires the ability to section off the City’s distribution system into discrete zones with 
separate inflow meters, which would require a feasibility and impacts analysis before implementation 
to examine costs and potential impacts.  

b. The City already has the base physical infrastructure (AMI base stations to collect district meter 
reads) and database software to collect reads and calculate consumption (Sensus RNI) but would 
require separate software to separate and then aggregate inflows and outflows for each applicable 
metered zone.  

c. DMA data can be used in conjunction with the City’s hydraulic model to analyze existing and future 
capacity requirements and plan for capital upgrades.  

d. DMAs are typically established using magnetic flow meters, which allow water to move freely in both 
directions. This is done to not hinder fire protection or water quality in the distribution system. 

5.5 Ongoing Process Recommendations 

5.5.1 Perform annual water loss audit according to AWWA M36 Methodology 

The AWWA M36 Methodology and associated AWWA Free Water Audit Software version 5 is recommended as a 
current best management practice by the AWWA Water Loss Control Committee (AWWA, 2009) and should be used 
for completing the City’s annual potable water loss audit.  The AWWA Water Loss Audit calculates “Total Water Losses” 
(which is very similar to the calculation for “unaccounted-for water”) and then further splits it into apparent losses and 
real losses such that the two types of losses are “accounted for”.  Apparent Losses are nonphysical losses that occur 

85



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 5-12 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

when water is delivered to a customer but is not measured or recorded accurately, such as under-recording meters.  
Real Losses consist of all the physical losses of water from the distribution system, such as breaks and leaks from 
mains, service lines, etc.  The software also guides users to constructively “self-grade” the validity of various data 
inputs, such that improvements can be made from year-to-year.  Finally, the software also provides a number of 
performance indicators to measure progress beyond the familiar percent unaccounted-for water or volume of non-
revenue water as a percent of water supplied. These metrics provide a superior means for internal assessment of water 
loss performance from year-to-year as well as externally between other peer utilities. 

Consistent leak and break record-keeping (see Recommendation in Section 5.5.2) can be used with the Water 
Research Foundation Component Analysis of Real Losses (another piece of free software) to estimate the volume of 
losses in the system due to tracked leaks of various types.  The “bottom-up” calculation of real losses from the 
Component Analysis software can be compared to the “top-down” calculation of real losses from the AWWA Water 
Loss Audit to ultimately quantify the volume of Hidden Losses: detectable leaks that are not being identified because 
they have not been captured by the utility’s current leakage management policy (Water Research Foundation, 2014).  
This provides even more information to help strategically plan for reduction of distribution system leakage through the 
four major tools for controlling leakage: pressure management, proactive leak detection, speed and quality of repairs, 
and pipeline/asset management.   

The City should also review the process and accuracy of estimating consumption from unmetered uses and document 
these while conducting the AWWA Water Loss Audit.   

Additionally, the City should consider conducting the AWWA Water Loss Audit for the reclaimed water system to start 
tracking metrics given that there are a significant number of meters and miles of pipeline in this system. 

5.5.2 Develop a leak tracking form with standardized fields 

The City currently has no formal metrics on the number of leaks or breaks in the distribution system.  Implementing a 
standardized leak tracking form that is filled out every time a leak is reported would provide transparent visibility and 
metrics on the rate of leaks and breaks occurring through time.  This would help inform calculations of real losses 
(physical losses) when performing an annual water loss audit.   
 
Suggested standardized fields to collect would include: 
 

• Location (street address) – for geographic analyses and input into a GIS 

• Leak source (confirmed potable or reclaimed, no leak found, other source [e.g. sewer or rainwater]) 

• Cause of Leak (hit pipe, natural, etc.) 

• Size of pipe 

• Pipe material 

• Leak characterization (full break, pin hole, leaky joint, meter box, customer house pipe, etc.) 

• Repair performed 

• Repair time (hours, days, etc.) 

• Shutdown required (Y/N) 
o If Yes, location of isolation valves used 

• Event reported by customer, city/county staff, or discovered on another site visit 

A business process would need to be developed and implemented to input leak tracking form information into an 
electronic database. 

86



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 5-13 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

5.5.3 Monitor meter change-out program effectiveness 

Proper tracking and testing of the meter replacements as part of the Capital Recommendations will allow the City to 
confirm that the metering systems are meeting its goals for accuracy, fairness, and revenue stability.  

A meter testing program is recommended to keep track of the accuracy of the meter population.  This could take the 
form of acquiring a meter test bench internally and/or or sending meters to a third party for accuracy testing for small 
meters, and a preventative maintenance program for large meters is recommended to track when large meters have 
been visited and what field calibration efforts were conducted. 

Monitoring of the meter change-out program effectiveness can be done by internal City staff with proper and ongoing 
training, or as part of outside services by a qualified third party.   

5.5.4 Provide a comprehensive customer engagement experience 

To reduce workload on existing staff due to customer phone calls, provide a comprehensive and transparent customer 
engagement experience regarding any meter change-out program, making water consumption data available, and/or 
new leak detection notification tools.  This may look something like: 

• Easily accessible and customer-friendly webpage describing meter change out program expectations (e.g. 
how long will water be shut off to complete meter exchange, what changes can be expected on a monthly 
bill), how consumption is calculated from meter reads, and how to access hourly consumption or adjust leak 
detection communication settings. 

• Door hangers or other print materials to post at customer property immediately prior to a meter exchange field 
visit and post field visit 

• Education about meter reads and how to avoid estimated reads 

• Program updates through printed bill inserts 

87



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) 6-1 Woodard & Curran 
Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

6. REFERENCES  

 
AWWA. (2009). M36 Manual of Water Supply Practices: Water Audits and Loss Control Programs (3rd ed.). Denver. 
Barfuss, S. L., Johnson, M. C., & Neilsen, M. A. (2011). Accuracy of In-Service Water Meters at Low and High Flow 

Rates. Water Research Foundation. Retrieved from 
http://www.allianceforwaterefficiency.org/uploadedFiles/Resource_Center/Library/water_loss/WRF-Meter-
Accuracy-2011.pdf 

City of Apopka. (2016). 2016 Potable Water System Audit Report.  
City of Apopka Public Services Department. (2016). 2016 Water re Report. Apopka, FL. 
Public Resources Management Group, Inc. (2016). Water, Wastewater, and Reclaimed Water Rate Study.  
Sensus. (2016). Sensus Customer Portal Data Sheet.  
Sensus. (2017). Introduction to FlexNet: The RNI's Role in FlexNet. Retrieved from 

http://sensussmartstart.com/blog/?p=5739/ 
Sensus. (2017). iPERL Smart Water Meter Data Sheet. Sensus. 
Sensus. (2017). OMNI Compound Water Meter Data Sheet. Sensus. 
Sensus. (2017). Sensus Analytics Introduction and Overview. Retrieved from 

http://sensussmartstart.com/blog/?p=5739/ 
Sensus. (2017, 01 25). SR II Low Lead Meter Data Sheet. Sensus. 
Sensus Analytics software. (2017, December 11). Apopka, FL. 
US Census Bureau. (2016, July 1). QuickFacts. Retrieved from US Census Bureau: 

https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/apopkacityflorida/PST045216 
Water Research Foundation. (2014). Real Loss Component Analysis: A Tool for Economic Water Loss Control.  

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

88



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) A-1 Woodard & Curran 
FINAL DRAFT Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

APPENDIX A: ESTIMATION CALCULATIONS OF APPARENT LOSSES 

To estimate the impact of Apparent Losses from under-registering meters, a sample calculation was prepared. Table 
A-1 breaks up the potable meter population into several categories and assigns an estimated percent registration 
accuracy, since the City has no formal meter accuracy testing program: 

• Potable meters on the zero consumption report were assumed (very conservatively) to all be stopped meters 
with a 0% accuracy. This means average consumption flowed through the meter but was not registered or 
billed.  

• The remaining meters not on the zero consumption report were assumed to have the following percent 
accuracy: 

o Small meters with ICE registers (3/4" – 3”) were assigned an arbitrary 95% (3.5% lower than 98.5% 
minimum allowable overall registration by American Water Works Association [AWWA] standards) 

o iPERL meters (3/4” & 1”) were assigned an accuracy of 98.5% which is the minimum allowable 
overall registration by AWWA 

o Large meters with ICE registers (4”+) were assigned an accuracy of 98.5% which is the minimum 
allowable overall registration by AWWA 

o Unknown meter type: assumed to be same as size counterparts with ICE registers (see bullets 
above)  

Table A-1: Estimated Percent Accuracy for All Meter Types and Sizes 

Meter 
Size 

Meter Type 

ICE Register (SR II/W-series/OMNI) iPERL Unknown 

% of potable 
meters on 

zero 
consumption 

report (0% 
accuracy) 

% remaining 
meters not 

on zero 
consumption 

report 

% 
Accuracy 

for 
remaining 

meters 

% of potable 
meters on 

zero 
consumption 

report (0% 
accuracy) 

% remaining 
meters not 

on zero 
consumption 

report 

% 
Accuracy 

for 
remaining 

meters 

Assumed 
% 

accuracy 

3/4" 8% 92% 95% 2% 98% 98.5% 95% 

1" 9% 91% 95% 6% 94% 98.5% 95% 

1.5" 10% 90% 95% n/a n/a 98.5% 95% 

2" 7% 93% 95% n/a n/a 98.5% 95% 

3" 0% 100% 95% n/a n/a 98.5% 95% 

4" 0% 100% 98.5% n/a n/a 98.5% 98.5% 

6" 0% 100% 98.5% n/a n/a 98.5% 98.5% 

8" 40% 60% 98.5% n/a n/a 98.5% 98.5% 

10" 0% 100% 98.5% n/a n/a 98.5% 98.5% 

 
Table A-2 calculates the apparent losses for the meter categories described above.  Apparent losses are nonphysical 
losses that occur when water is delivered to a customer but is not measured or recorded accurately.   

89



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) A-2 Woodard & Curran 
FINAL DRAFT Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

 
The formula for calculating the volume of apparent losses due to meter under-registration is: 
 

𝑉𝑜𝑙𝑢𝑚𝑒 𝑜𝑓 𝐴𝑝𝑝𝑎𝑟𝑒𝑛𝑡 𝐿𝑜𝑠𝑠𝑒𝑠 =  
𝑢𝑛𝑐𝑜𝑟𝑟𝑒𝑐𝑡𝑒𝑑 𝑚𝑒𝑡𝑒𝑟𝑒𝑑 𝑣𝑜𝑙𝑢𝑚𝑒

𝑝𝑒𝑟𝑐𝑒𝑛𝑡 𝑎𝑐𝑐𝑢𝑟𝑎𝑐𝑦
− 𝑢𝑛𝑐𝑜𝑟𝑟𝑒𝑐𝑡𝑒𝑑 𝑚𝑒𝑡𝑒𝑟𝑒𝑑 𝑣𝑜𝑙𝑢𝑚𝑒 

 
As an example, the calculation for the volume of apparent losses for 3/4" ICE register meters would be: 
 

𝑉𝑜𝑙𝑢𝑚𝑒 𝑜𝑓 𝐴𝑝𝑝𝑎𝑟𝑒𝑛𝑡 𝐿𝑜𝑠𝑠𝑒𝑠 =  
1,123 𝑀𝐺

95%
− 1,123 𝑀𝐺 =  59 𝑀𝐺 

 
The 1,123 MG input was calculated via: 
 
(Total 3/4" consumption of 1,223 MG in Table 4-1) x (92% of 3/4" meters which were not on the zero consumption 
report) = 1,123 MG. 

This means that the 3/4" meters that were not on the zero consumption report are expected to have under-registered 
by about 59 MG.  This represents water that was delivered to customers, but not paid for.   

In total, this value was calculated to be 262 MG across the entire potable meter population.  The estimate of 262 MG 
is based on an assumed loss of accuracy over time.  If each meter was registering at 100% accuracy, 262 MG of 
additional consumption would be registered by the metering infrastructure.  

262 MG of apparent losses is a very rough estimate based on assumptions without actual meter accuracy testing data, 
but it provides a ballpark estimate of how much unaccounted-for water may be attributable to the under-registration of 
meters.   The discussion of the relationship between apparent losses, real losses, and unaccounted-for water can be 
found in Section 4.4.2 of the main report. 

Table A-2: Estimated Apparent Losses for All Meter Types and Sizes 

Meter 
Size 

Apparent Losses (MG) by Meter Categorization 

Total 
% of 
total 

ICE Register (SR II/W-
series/OMNI) 

iPERL Unknown 

Zero 
Consumption 

Meters 

Regular 
Consumption 

Meters 

Zero 
Consumption 

Meters 

Regular 
Consumption 

Meters 

All 
Unknown 

Meters 

3/4" 100 59 2 2 2 165 63% 

1" 14 5 0 0 0 20 7% 

1.5" 9 3 n/a n/a 0 13 5% 

2" 15 6 n/a n/a 0 21 8% 

3" 1 1 n/a n/a 0 2 1% 

4" 1 1 n/a n/a 0 2 1% 

6" 0 0 n/a n/a 0 1 0% 

8" 35 1 n/a n/a 0 35 13% 

10" 1 1 n/a n/a 0 3 1% 

Total 177 78 3 3 3 262  

% of total 67% 30% 1% 1% 1%   

90



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) B-1 Woodard & Curran 
FINAL DRAFT Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

APPENDIX B:  CALCULATION OF RETAIL AND PRODUCTION RATES 

Variable Production Rate 

The variable cost of producing and distributing potable water is estimated by dividing the total variable operating 
expenses for the potable water system (Table B-1) by the total production volume in 2016 (City of Apopka, 2016): 

$861,042 / 2,878 MG = $299.21/MG 

This value is meant to represent the cost of producing the next million gallons of water, based on volumetric electrical 
or chemical charges needed to treat and pump water.  

Table B-1: Variable Operating Expenses for Potable Water System 

Source Expense Value ($) 

WATER PLANT 
Operating Supplies $150,000 

Utility Services $440,000 

WATER MAINTENANCE 
Operating Supplies $264,059 

Utility Services $6,983 

Total $861,042 

Source: Table 3-9, Projected Water System Operating Expenses, for 2016 (Public Resources Management Group, 
Inc., 2016) 

Variable Retail Rate 

Potable water is sold at different variable (volumetric) rates according to tiered monthly consumption and customer 
type (residential vs commercial).  To calculate an average retail rate weighted by all tiers and customer types, total 
revenue from volumetric water sales was divided by total water sales, projected for 2016 based on 2014 actuals, as 
shown in Table B-2.  The average variable retail rate for potable water is $1,812/MG (or $1.81/1000 gal). 

Since the City also bills for wastewater which is calculated based on metered water consumption, a similar process 
was used to calculate average wastewater retail rate.  The average variable retail rate for wastewater is $2,361/MG 
(or $2.36/1000 gal). Combined with the potable water retail rate, the total customer variable retail rate is $4,173/MG  
(or $4.17/1000 gal). 

91



 

 

 

City of Apopka (0214493.00) B-2 Woodard & Curran 
FINAL DRAFT Management Assessment of Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018 

Table B-2: Variable Retail Rate Calculation 

 Expense Value 

Water 

System-Wide Volumetric Charge Revenue $4,088,165 

Total System-Wide Water Sales 2,255,738,000 gallons 

Retail Rate $1,812/MG  
(or $1.81/1000 gal) 

Wastewater 

System-Wide Volumetric Charge Revenue $2,940,254 

Total System-Wide Wastewater Sales 1,245,588,000 

Retail Rate $2,361/MG  
(or $2.36/1000 gal) 

 Total Combined Average Retail Rate $4,173/MG  
(or $4.17/1000 gal) 

Source: (Public Resources Management Group, Inc., 2016) 

Table 2-1, Summary of Historical and Projected Water Customer Sales and Usage, Projected for 2016  

Table 2-2, Summary of Historical and Projected Wastewater Customer Sales and Usage, Projected for 2016 

Table 2-4, Summary of Historical and Projected Water Revenue, Projected for 2016  

Table 2-5, Summary of Historical and Projected Wastewater Revenue, Projected for 2016  

 

 

 

 

92



   

   

 
 

woodardcurran.com 
COMMITMENT & INTEGRITY DRIVE RESULTS 

93



CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 

 

  
 

   X CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: June 6, 2018  

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:  Recreation   

    _ SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:     

    _ OTHER:   

  
 

SUBJECT: ALCOHOL SALES AT CITY EVENTS  

 

Request: Approval 

  
SUMMARY: 

 

On September 3, 2014, City Council adopted Ordinance No. 2376 which requires City Council approval 

for the sale, consumption and carrying of alcoholic beverages on City-owned property during events or 

programs. 

 

Staff is requesting approval for sale of alcoholic beverages at the following City sponsored event being 

held at the Northwest Recreation Complex.  

 

 July 4, 2018 – 4th of July: Activities include live musical entertainment, kids bounce house area, 

face painting, food and beverage vendors and fireworks. 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

N/A    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Approve the distribution and sale of alcohol at the 4th of July Apopka event at the Northwest Recreation 

Complex.  

  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson          Finance Director                    Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Manager    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

 

94



CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 
 
 

 X   CONSENT AGENDA MEETING OF: June 6, 2018 

   PUBLIC HEARING FROM: Community Development 

   SPECIAL REPORTS EXHIBIT(S): LDC 11.05.00 Planning Commission 

  X   OTHER: Appointment Planning Commission List 

Application & Resume 

 

SUBJECT: APPOINTMENT OF A MEMBER TO THE APOPKA PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

REQUEST: APPROVE APPOINTMENT OF MEMBERS TO THE PLANNING COMMISSION 

FOR A THREE (3) YEAR TERM 
 

SUMMARY: 
 

The City of Apopka’s Planning Commission is established as a citizen board to review and recommend to 

the City Council, approval or denial of development plans, amendments to the zoning map, amendments to 

the Land Development Code, proposed subdivision plats, proposed site plans, and future land use map 

amendments. 

 
In accordance with Florida Statutes, the Planning Commission serves as the City’s “Local Planning 

Agency” when reviewing and recommending to the City Council, any future land use amendments to the 

Comprehensive Plan and Future Land Use Map. 

 
There are seven members that are appointed by the Mayor and approved by the City Council. Members are 

appointed to three-year terms and must reside within the city limits. The Planning Commission normally 

meets on the second Tuesday of each month at 5:30 P.M. Additional meetings are scheduled depending on 

the subject or volume of applications. 

 
At this time one member is due for re-appointment in order to fill the place of Tony Foster who has 

resigned.   Mayor Nelson has appointed Benjamin Stanley, legal resident, to the Planning Commission for 

a three-year term ending June 6, 2021. Pursuant to §11.05.00 B.1., City of Apopka Code of Ordinances, 

this mayoral appointment requires approval by City Council. 
 
 

RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Approve appointment of Butch Stanley as a Planning Commission Member for a three year term.  
 

FUNDING SOURCE:  
 

N/A 
 

DISTRIBUTION  
Mayor Nelson Finance Director Public Services Director 
Commissioners HR Director Recreation Director 

City Administrator IT Director City Clerk 

Community Development Director Police Chief Fire Chief 

 

95



1 
 

11.05.00 - THE PLANNING COMMISSION  
A. Establishment. The Apopka Planning Commission is hereby established as a citizen board to review 

and recommend to city council approval or denial of development plans and other land development 
procedures submitted under this Code and to review and approve special exception and zoning 
variances. The Planning Commission shall be designated the City's Local Planning Agency, which 
duties include amendments and evaluations to the City's Comprehensive Plan.  

B. Membership and officers:  

1. The Commission shall have seven members appointed by the mayor and approved by city 
council. An additional member shall be a non-voting, ex officio representative of the Orange 
County School Board.  

2. The Planning Commission membership makeup shall be as follows: Seven members shall reside 
in the city limits. One member shall be a non-voting, ex officio representative of the Orange 
County School Board.  

3. Each member shall be appointed to a three-year term. Any member may be reappointed by the 
City Council from term to term.  

4. Any interested citizen may be appointed to the board, but those with experience or interest in the 
field of land use regulation shall receive special consideration. Whenever possible, the 
Commission shall include at least one each of the following:  

a. An architect or landscape architect. 

b. An engineer. 

c. A person engaged in real estate sales or development. 

d. A natural or environmental scientist. 

5. When a position becomes vacant before the end of the term, the city council shall appoint a 
substitute member to fill the vacancy for the duration of the vacated term. A member whose term 
expires may continue to serve until a successor is appointed and qualified.  

6. Members may be removed without notice and without assignment of cause by a majority vote of 
the city council.  

7. The members of the Commission shall annually elect, during the first regularly scheduled meeting 
of each calendar year, a chairman and vice-chairman from among the members and may create 
and fill other officers as the Commission deems needed.  

8. The Commission may create whatever subcommittees it deems needed to carry out the purposes 
of the Commission.  

9. The chairman of the Commission may appoint as needed, the membership of each subcommittee 
from the members of the Commission.  

10. The city council shall provided clerical and administrative support to the Commission as may be 
reasonably required to complete the functions of the Commission.  

11. The city shall provide a city employee to serve as secretary to the Commission, recorder and 
custodian of all Commission records.  

12. Members shall not be compensated, but may be paid for travel and other expenses incurred on 
commission business under procedures prescribed in advance by the city council.  

13. The city council shall appropriate funds to permit the Commission to perform its prescribed 
functions.  

14. If any member fails to attend two successive meetings without cause and without prior consent 
of the chairman, the Commission shall formally consider the status of said Commission position 
at the next meeting immediately following the second consecutive unexcused absence.  

96



2 
 

C. Commission procedures:  

1. The Commission shall meet at least once each calendar month, unless canceled by the 
Commission or its chairman, and more often at the call of the chairman or the city council.  

2. The Commission shall keep minutes of its proceedings, indicating the attendance of each 
member, and the decision on every question.  

3. Four members shall constitute a quorum. 

4. Each decision of the Commission must be approved by a majority vote of the members present 
at a meeting in which a quorum is in attendance and voting.  

D. General functions, powers and duties:  

1. The Commission shall review and act upon applications for special exceptions in accord with 
article II, of this Code. In granting any special exception, the Commission may prescribe 
appropriate conditions and safeguards in conformity with this Code to ensure compliance with the 
intent of all city codes and regulations.  

2. The Commission shall conduct development review pursuant to this Code, and present 
recommendations to and otherwise advise the city council on amendments to the zoning map, 
amendments to the Land Development Code, and proposed subdivision plats, and proposed site 
plans, and Future Land Use map amendments. In connection with any recommendation by the 
Commission, it may include any conditions, requirements of limitations to be attached to the use 
which the commission may believe to be necessary and desirable to protect adjacent properties 
and the surrounding neighborhood, and to carry out the purposes and objectives of this Code.  

3. The Commission will review and act upon all requests for zoning variances as defined by this 
Code. In granting any variance, the Commission may prescribe appropriate conditions and 
safeguards in conformity with this Code to ensure compliance with the intent of all city codes and 
regulations.  

4. Pursuant to F.S. ch. 163, pt. II, the Commission is hereby designated to be the land development 
regulation commission and shall perform the duties and functions prescribed in the statute.  

5. The Commission shall, with advice from the development review committee, monitor and oversee 
the operation, effectiveness and status of this Code and recommend amendments to the city 
council that are consistent with the Comprehensive Plan.  

6. The Commission shall keep the council and the general public informed and advised on the 
development policies of the city.  

7. The Commission shall conduct public hearings to gather information necessary for the drafting, 
establishment, amendment, and maintenance of the various articles of this Code and shall 
conduct public hearings on all applicable and development reviews and decisions for which it is 
responsible as enumerated herein.  

8. Each action of the Commission, except for special exceptions and variances, is advisory to the 
city council, and the commission may not in any manner obligate the city.  

9. Pursuant to, and in accordance with F.S. ch. 163, the Planning Commission is hereby designated 
and established as the Local Planning Agency for the City, created as a citizens board to present 
recommendations to and otherwise advise the City Council of land use and comprehensive plan 
issues.  

10. The local planning agency, in accordance with F.S. ch. 163 shall, through the Apopka Community 
Development Department:  

a. Prepare the Comprehensive Plan and any amendments to the Comprehensive Plan for the 
incorporated territory of the city;  

97



3 
 

b. Monitor and oversee the effectiveness and status of the Comprehensive Plan and 
recommend to the city council such changes in the Comprehensive Plan as may be required 
from time to time;  

c. Recommend said Comprehensive Plan or elements or portions thereof to the city council for 
adoption; and  

d. Conduct public hearings on proposed amendments to and evaluation of the Comprehensive 
Plan.  

e. Seek, through the Commission, to obtain citizen and public input into all phases and 
elements of the development of the Comprehensive Plan and amendments.  

f. Prepare, through the Apopka Community Development Department any studies required by 
the city council with respect to the Comprehensive Plan.  

g. The Commission shall perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned by 
the City Council.  

Note: The Planning Commission functions include being designated the City's Local Planning Agency.  

E. Appeals. Appeals to any decision issued by the Commission shall be filed in accordance with the 
procedures outlined in article 12.05.00 of this Code.  

F. Conflict of interest. Conflict of interest provisions shall apply to members of the Planning Commission 
pursuant to Florida Statutes.  

(Ord. No. 1228, § 1, 12-1-99; Ord. No. 2137, § I(Exh. A), 11-18-09) 

98



Rev. 06-01-18 

PLANNING COMMISSION 

HELD THE 2nd TUESDAY OF THE MONTH AT 5:30 P.M. 

 

  
RESIGNED – 05-22-18 
APPOINTED - 04-01-2015 PC 
 

John Antonio (Tony) Foster 
2683 Ponkan Meadow Drive 
Apopka, Florida  32712 
(H) 407-703-2181 
(B) 352-223-5964 
Tlmfoster423@aol.com  

  

RE-APPOINTED – 05-16-18 PC 
RE-APPOINTED - 04-15-2015 PC 
APPOINTED - 09-01-2010 PC 
 

James Greene, Chairperson 
444 Lanarkshire Place 
Apopka, Florida  32712 
(H) 407-880-2151 
(C) 407-399-8849 
jwgreene101@gmail.com  

  

RE-APPOINTED – 05-16-18 PC 
APPOINTED - 04-15-2015 PC 

Linda Laurendeau, Vice-Chairperson 
1785 Nordic Court 
Apopka, Florida  32712 
(H) 407-889-9792 
(C) 321-279-7295 
llaurendea@aol.com 

  

APPOINTED – 05-18-16 PC Jose Molina 
595 Lexington Parkway 
Apopka, Florida 32712 
(H) 407-703-4580 
(B) 914-980-9899 
Firestorm9654@hotmail.com   

  
APPOINTED – 12-06-17 PC Patrice Phillips 

2735 Grassmoor Loop 
Apopka, Florida 32712 
(C) 407-952-5148 
(B) 407-703-4850 
patricephillips@ymail.com 

  
APPOINTED - 04-20-16 PC Roger M. Simpson, III 

2256 Home Again Road 
Apopka, Florida 32712 
Ph.: 407-741-3750 
rmsiiij5@gmail.com  

  
APPOINTED – 11-02-16 PC John Sprinkle 

1205 Lexington Parkway 
Apopka, Florida  32712 
(H) 407-884-8941 
(B) 321-256-1211 
john@ktsconsultants.com  

  
12-08-2009 Orange County School Board (Non-

Voting) 

 

 

 

  

99



100



101



Benjamin Stanley Page 1 
 

 

 

Benjamin L. Stanley 
2135 Edmands Place Apopka, Fl 32703 * Cell: (407) 913-2525* butch.stanley@ymail.com 

 

 
PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE  

 

 

State of Florida - Agency for Health Care Administration                                                         5/2013 - Present 

Fire Protection Specialist 

 Provide life safety inspection expertise for the licensure and certification of 

 health care facilities (Hospital, Ambulatory Surgical, Skilled Nursing, Birth Centers) 

 Team leader duties as assigned 

 Understanding and enforcement of national, state, and local life safety codes 

 Prepare applicable reports upon completion of inspections and investigations 

 Knowledge of the principles of administration and management 

 Knowledge of CMS, NFPA, OSHA, and other safety standards 

 

 

BELFOR Property Restoration                                                                                                    10/2011 – 2/2013 

Safety Coordinator 

 Interact with Insurance Adjusters, City Government Departments, and  

Fire/Rescue Agencies to ensure compliance and a safe workplace 

 Review and maintain all safety records for local office 

 Conduct site inspections at facilities and job sites in order to maintain safe 

working environment 

 Worked closely with OSHA and NFPA to ensure safety standards were in place 

 Responsible for coordinating with outside agencies, as well as the Regional  

Safety Director 

 

 

Ocoee Fire Department                                                                    9/1999 – 6/2011  

Deputy Fire Chief                                 (Retired) 

 Assist the Fire Chief in the direction and coordination of all department activities including the 

departments $5M budget and 60 personnel 

 Served as Acting Fire Chief as needed 

 Oversaw all department functions, purchasing of fire and ambulance apparatus   

 Determine the needs of the department, such as personnel, equipment, facilities, 

 safety, training and implement action plans to assure department goals are met 

 Manage all internal disciplinary investigations and coordinate testing procedures  

for promotions 

 Responsible for the City Code Enforcement Department 

 Served as Safety Coordinator for the City of Ocoee 

 

102



Benjamin Stanley Page 2 
 

 

 

Division Chief                                                5/2007– 12/2009 

 Investigate all suspicious fires and coordinate the efforts with the State Fire  

Marshal’s office 

 Assist Special Investigations Unit as needed 

 Manage the Office of the Fire Marshal which included fire inspections and public  

education 

 Manage the Code Enforcement Division which is responsible for administering all  

city codes and ordinances 

 Approve and adjusts divisional budget to maximize efficiency and effectiveness 

of the departmental division 

 

Fire Marshal                              10/2004– 5/2007 

 Manage the day to day operations of the Fire Prevention Bureau which  

included fire inspections and plans review 

 Investigate all suspicious fires and assist the State Fire Marshals office as needed 

 Manage all activities of the Public Education Division 

 

Fire Inspector                                                                                                                    9/1999– 10/2004 

 Responsible for annual business inspections  

 Plans review for existing and new construction 

 Investigate all suspicious fires and assist the State Fire Marshals office as needed 

 Perform activities within the Public Education Division 

 Perform fire suppression duties as needed 

 

 

Casselberry Fire Department                                                      4/1986 - 2/1998 

Lieutenant/Emergency Medical Technician 

 Responsible for managing shift personnel, as well as responding to all  

emergency calls  

 Responsible for training of shift personnel 

 Responsible for managing and scheduling of building inspections assigned 

 to the shift 

 Responsible for completing all pre-fire plans 

 

 

Altamonte Springs Fire Department                                                                                       8/1981 - 12/1984 

Engineer/Emergency Medical Technician 

 Responsible for the safety of all fire personnel when responding to emergency calls 

 Responsible for the operations of fire apparatus 

 Responsible for managing shift personnel when Lieutenant was out 

 

 
 

 

103



Benjamin Stanley Page 3 
 

EDUCATION 
 

Valencia Community College - Orlando, Florida 

National Fire Academy – Emmitsburg, Maryland 

Florida State Fire College – Ocala, Florida 

Central Florida Fire Academy - Orlando, Florida 

 

        

                                      

 

RELATED COURSEWORK 

 

                       Emergency Management               Fire Officer Management 

                       Certified Safety Officer         Fire Department Budget Practices 

                       Fire Investigations                     Emergency Management Grant Reviewer 

                       Certified Fire Inspector         Code Enforcement 

                       Building Construction                      Fire Science 

                       Emergency Medical Technician      Microsoft Computer programs 

                       OSHA                         Art of Interrogations 

                       Independent Adjuster All Lines       Certified Critical Voice Stress Examiner  

                       Incident Command System              Certified Fire & Explosion Investigator 

National Fire Protection Association 
 

 

  

MEMBERSHIPS/AWARDS 
 

 

Firefighter of the Year for 2002 

Firefighter of the Year for 2008 

Member of the Central Florida Fire Chiefs Association 

Member of the Florida Fire Chiefs Association 

Member of the Florida Fire Marshals and Inspectors Association 

Member of the National Fire Protection Association 

Member of the City of Ocoee Police and Fire Pension Board 

Member of Orange County Citizens Review Board (2007 - 2010) 

Member of Orange County Life Safety Appeals Board (2004 – 2010) 

Member of the Florida Life Safety and Health Care Association (2012 – Present) 

 

 

 

 

104



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

  X  CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: June 6, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Mayor 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:       Resignation Letter 

       OTHER:  
  

 

SUBJECT: APPROVE A NEW MEMBER AS A RESIDENT TRUSTEE TO THE 

FIREFIGHTERS’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM BOARD OF TRUSTEES.   

 

REQUEST: APPOINTMENT OF STEVE HOOKS 
  
SUMMARY: 
 

On, May 15, 2018, former Mayor Joe Kilsheimer submitted his resignation as the Resident Trustee from 

the Firefighters’ Retirement System Board of Trustees. Accordingly Mayor Nelson has appointed Steve 

Hooks, legal resident, to the Firefighters’ Retirement System Board of Trustees for the remaining term 

ending May 4, 2019.  
  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

N/A    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Approve appointment of Steve Hooks to the Firefighters’ Retirement System Board of Trustees for the 

remaining Resident Trustee term.  
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

105



 

106



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 X   CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF:  June 06, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:  Police Department 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:  Agreement 

       OTHER:  
  

 

SUBJECT: PRIVATE STREET AGREEMENT FOR TOWNHOMES AT WEKIVA PARK 

 

REQUEST: AUTHORIZE THE POLICE CHIEF TO EXECUTE A TRAFFIC ENFORCEMENT 

AGREEMENT WITH THE TOWNHOMES AT WEKIVA PARK HOMEOWNER’S 

ASSOCIATION TO ENFORCE TRAFFIC LAWS PURSUANT TO FLORIDA 

STATUTE.  
  
SUMMARY:  
 

The Police Department has been approached by the Townhomes at Wekiva Park Homeowner’s Association 

controlling the private roads within the neighborhood, to enforce municipal and state traffic codes and laws 

within the gated neighborhood. Florida State Statute 316.006(2)(b) allows for a municipality to exercise 

jurisdiction over any private road within its boundaries if the municipality and party owning such road enter 

into a written agreement approved by the City Council. A copy of the agreement has been executed by the 

Homeowner’s Association and is attached. 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

Not Applicable.     
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Ratify the agreement and authorize the Police Chief to execute the agreement on behalf of the City. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

107



108



109



110



111



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

  X  CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: June 6, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:             Administration 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:      None 

          OTHER:  
  

 

SUBJECT:  OLD JET A FUEL DISPOSAL 

 

REQUEST:   TO DECLARE OLD FUEL AS SURPLUS  
  
SUMMARY:   

The City owns a storage tank at the airport dedicated to Jet A fuel.  Several months ago the pump on this 

tank stopped working and the fuel is no longer usable in aircraft.  What was unknown to most if not all 

employees is this fuel can be used as a substitute for off-road diesel and it does have value.  Because the 

fuel has taken on water, the City’s Fleet Superintendent does not want to use it in any City off road 

equipment or generators.  At least two parties have shown interest in acquiring the fuel.  Because it has 

been established the fuel has monetary value, it is an asset of the City and to dispose of it, the Council 

must declare it an unneeded and/or unusable asset.  If such a declaration is made, staff will list the fuel as 

an open bid on the City’s website and notify the two individuals showing interest. 

 

It is believed there is currently 2,166 gallons of fuel in the tank.  There will be approximately 166 gallons 

of fuel completely lost because not all of it can be pumped out using the tanks electric pump.  Staff would 

like to have the tank overhauled and put back in service since the airport is seeing a great deal of 

increased jet traffic and interest by jet owners to relocate to this airport.  It is believed the sale of the fuel 

will come close to offsetting the cost of the necessary overhaul.  The person purchasing the fuel must pay 

State sales tax of 6.5% to the City, which will then remit same to the State.  Purchaser will be required to 

sign they understand the fuel has water in it and the City assumes no responsibility for its use. 

  
FUNDING SOURCE:  
 

N/A    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:   
 

Declare old unusable Jet A fuel as surplus and direct staff to place a bid announcement on the City’s 

website to sell it to the highest bidder.  Once bids are in, allow staff to sell the fuel to the highest bidder 

without bringing the topic back to the Council for award. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

112



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

  X  CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: June 6, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Public Services 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:       

       OTHER:  
  

 

SUBJECT:     RECLAIMED WATER SYSTEM EXTENSION GOLDEN GEM RD. 

   

REQUEST: AWARD A CONTRACT TO ATLANTIC CONCRETE & MECHANICAL INC. IN 

THE AMOUNT OF $133,000 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

Public Services received sealed bids from nine (9) companies to perform the installation of the Reclaimed 

Water Main Extension along Golden Gem Rd. The bids are as follows:  

 

Company Name Bid Amount 

Atlantic Concrete & Mechanical, Inc. $133,000 

DB Civil Construction, LLC $149,925 

Cathcart Construction Company $174,600 

Valencia Construction Group, Inc. $185,460 

TB Landmark Construction $240,850 

Providence Construction & Development $249,099 

Schuller Contractors Inc. $300,001 

Masci Corporation $441,249 

Sanpik Inc. $457,350 

 

Project consists of installing approximately 2,700 linear feet of 24” pipe within the right-of-way. The project 

further consists of furnishing all transportation, equipment, labor, services and supplies necessary to install 

the pipe. The City will purchase and furnish pipe, fittings and misc. appurtenances for the project. 

 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

Fund 403 – Reclaimed Water Impact Fees    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

Approve the award of a contract to Atlantic Concrete & Mechanical Inc. in the amount of $133,000 plus a 

10% project contingency of $13,300 for a total amount of $146,300. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 113



CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 

 

  
 

  X  CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: June 6, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Public Services 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:       Extension Agreement 

       OTHER:                     

  
 

SUBJECT: CONTRACT EXTENSION FOR DISASTER RECOVERY AND DEBRIS 

REMOVAL 

 

Request: APPROVE PIGGYBACKING OF THE ORANGE COUNTY CONTRACT #Y15-

1022-CH – DISASTER RECOVERY AND DEBRIS REMOVAL WITH 

CROWDERGULF 
  
SUMMARY:   

 

On September 22, 2017, the City entered into an agreement with CrowderGulf piggybacking the terms of 

Orange County Contract #Y15-1022-CH for Disaster Recovery and Debris Removal following Hurricane 

Irma.  The Orange County contract has been extended through November 30, 2018. 

 

Staff requests approval to extend the piggybacking agreement with CrowderGulf of the Orange County 

Contract Y15-1022-CH through November 30, 2018. 

 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 

 

N/A 

    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 

 

Approve the piggybacking of the Orange County Contract #Y15-1022-CH with CrowderGulf for the 2018 

Disaster Recovery and Debris Removal Services. 
 

 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

 

114



115



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

  X  CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: June 6, 2018  

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:             Administration 

       SPECIAL REPORTS     EXHIBITS:       

       OTHER:  
  

 

SUBJECT: DESIGNATION OF ACCOUNT SIGNATORIES FOR FLORIDA COMMUNITY 

BANK 

 

REQUEST: UPDATE SIGNATORIES TO INCLUDE CITY ADMINISTRATOR, EDWARD 

BASS AT FLORIDA COMMUNITY BANK 
  
SUMMARY:  
 

The newly appointed City Administrator, Edward Bass requires an update to Florida Community Bank to 

become an authorized signatory.  The banking authorization forms contain confidential information that 

the City Clerk will provide after the City Council meeting for signature.   

    
FUNDING SOURCE:   
 

N/A    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:   
 

Vote to accept an update to include City Administrator Edward Bass as an authorized signatory at Florida 

Community Bank.   
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson    Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

116



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

       CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF:  June 6, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:               Administration 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:      Florida League of Cities Letter 

  X    Other: Business 
  

 

SUBJECT: FLORIDA LEAGUE OF CITIES REQUEST 
 

REQUEST: APPOINTMENT OF COUNCIL PERSON TO ACT AS A VOTING DELEGATE AT 

THE ANNUAL CONFERENCE 
  
SUMMARY:  

 

Each year the Florida League of Cities requests member cities designate one council person to be a voting 

delegate at the annual conference.  This designation is done by nomination of the Council. The selected 

person will vote on new League leadership and resolutions as presented at the conference.  The conference 

this year is August 16 – 18 and will be held at the Diplomat Beach Resort in Hollywood, FL.  

  
FUNDING SOURCE:  
 

The conference is funded within the Mayor’s budget for Council to attend.    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:   
 

Council to select a voting delegate from among its members. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

117



118



119



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

       CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: June 6, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Public Services 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:        

  X  OTHER:  Business         
  

 

SUBJECT: PURCHASE OF UTILITY COMMODITIES 

 

REQUEST: APPROVE THE ISSUANCE OF A BLANKET PURCHASE ORDER FOR THE 

PURCHASE OF UTILITY COMMODITIES FOR THE REMAINDER OF FISCAL 

YEAR 2017/2018 
  
SUMMARY:   

 

The Public Services Department purchases large amounts of various commodities in its daily operations 

including pipe, fittings, safety equipment, and chemicals throughout the year.  This purchasing is 

accomplished through piggybacking other municipalities and state contracts, which has provided the best 

cost savings for the quantities that are utilized. 

 

In accordance with Section 107.3.1.2(IV)(A), of the City’s Purchasing Policy, Staff requests approval to 

issue a blanket purchase order to the following vendor for the purchase of the referenced commodities.  

On October 18, 2017, the City Council previously approved the issuance of a blanket purchase order to 

the referenced vendor in the amount of $1,000,000, however, due to increased spending in water meter 

replacements, it has become necessary to request approval for the additional funding to complete the 

fiscal year. 
 

Division Vendor Commodity Amount 
Municipal 

Contract 

Warehouse Inventory Core & Main 
Pipe, Fittings, 

Accessories 
$300,000 Pinellas County 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

Fund 401- Utility Operating Fund 

   
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 

 

Approve the issuance of a blanket purchase order to the referenced vendor for the purchase of the 

commodities listed. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

120



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

       CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: June 6, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Public Services 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:        

  X  OTHER: Business         
  

 

SUBJECT: BUDGET AMENDMENT FOR THE PUBLIC SERVICES WATER 

MAINTENANCE DIVISION OPERATING SUPPLIES BUDGET 

 

REQUEST: APPROVE THE BUDGET AMENDMENT FOR THE PUBLIC SERVICES WATER 

MAINTENANCE DIVISION METER REPLACEMENT BUDGET IN THE 

AMOUNT OF $455,210  
SUMMARY:   

 
In 2017, a Potable Water Audit was conducted in accordance with requirements with the City’s Consumptive Use 

Permit with the St. Johns River Water Management District, yielding an unaccounted for water/non-revenue water 

loss of 26.5%.  In January 2018, the Public Services Water Maintenance Division began a meter replacement program 

at an accelerated rate.  The meter replacement program is managed through work orders from Utility Billing that are 

supplied through the City’s utility warehouse inventory.  Meters and transmitters that are issued by the warehouse 

inventory are entered into the Edmunds financial management system manually which can create or accept a budget 

exceedence within any budget line item.  As a result of the accelerated rate of water meter replacements to correct 

the excessive unaccounted for/non-revenue water loss percentage, the Public Services Water Maintenance Division 

has experienced a deficit of its adopted budget line in the amount of $173,343.  The division budgeted for a total of 

726 meter replacements this year, and to date have replaced in excess of 2,000 meters. 

 

Currently, the Division is replacing zero reading water meters at a rate in excess of 100 meters per week.  At this rate, 

it is anticipated that the Division will require an additional $281,867 in funding to continue with the meter 

replacements for the remainder of the fiscal year. 

 

Staff respectfully requests approval of a budget amendment for the Public Services Water Maintenance Budget line 

401-3141-533.5200 in the amount of $455,210.  This amount will correct the existing budget deficit and provide 

adequate funding to continue the meter replacements at an accelerated rate through the end of the fiscal year. 

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

Fund 401- Utility Reserves Fund 

   
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 

 

Approve the budget amendment for the Public Services Water Maintenance Division line 401-3141-

533.5200 in the amount of $455,210. 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
121



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

       CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: June 6, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Finance 

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:       FA Recommendation         

  X  OTHER:  
  

 

SUBJECT: AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE AND EXECUTION OF A CAPITAL 

IMPROVEMENT REVENUE NOTE WITH ZIONS BANK IN AN AGGREGATE 

PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF NOT TO EXCEED $2,817,000 FOR THE ACQUISITION 

OF VARIOUS PUBLIC SAFETY VEHICLES AND OTHER CAPITAL EQUIPMENT 

FOR THE CITY. 

 

REQUEST: REQUEST COUNCIL AWARD THE FINANCING TO ZIONS BANK. 
  
SUMMARY: 
 

The City has determined it is in need of various vehicles and equipment throughout the city and it is in 

the City’s best interest to acquire these vehicles using proceeds of tax exempt debt. 

 
Fire Dept. Vehicles and Equipment $2,476,000 

Police Dept. Vehicles 670,000 

Recreation/Athletic Complexes Equipment 13,000 

  Less: Insurance proceeds  (393,175) 

Equipment Total $2,765,825 

The City’s Financial Advisor assisted staff in soliciting proposals from financial institutions in an 

estimated principal amount of $2,817,000 to finance these purchases.  On May 10, 2018, the City 

received ten (10) bids. After reviewing the proposals it was determined that Zions Bank provided the most 

favorable proposal.  The loan agreement provides a 7-year term with a fixed interest rate of 2.90%. 

 

In anticipation of securing this loan, many of the vehicle purchases have already taken place.  Resolution 

#2017-26 was approved on November 1, 2017 which allows for reimbursement of certain costs relating to 

the acquisition of vehicles and other capital equipment. The proceeds from this loan will be used to 

reimburse the City, as well as fund the purchases of the specifically identified vehicles and capital 

equipment included in the FY18 Budget. 
  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

The approved FY 2018 General Fund identified and included provisions for acquiring these vehicles and 
capital equipment using tax exempt debt.    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
Award the financing to Zions Bank. 

  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

122



 
 

Hilltop Securities Inc. 
450 South Orange Ave 
Suite 460 
Orlando, Florida 32801 

direct 407.426.9611 
fax 407.426.7835 

mark.galvin@hilltopsecurities.com 
angela.singleton@hilltopsecurities.com 

HilltopSecurities.com 

 
 

Mark P. Galvin  
Director 
 

Angela Singleton 
Assistant Vice President 

 
Date: 
 

May 25, 2018 
To: 
 

Edward Bass, City Manager 

Subject: 
 

City of Apopka , Florida 
Capital Improvement Revenue Note, Series 2018 – Bank Loan RFP 

 
Hilltop Securities Inc. (“Hilltop”) in our role as Financial Advisor, assisted the City of Apopka (the “City”), 
Florida in issuing a Request for Proposals (“RFP”) to financial institutions in an amount of $2,817,000. The 
City, under purchasing guidelines, advertised and posted the RFP on its website along with making it 
available to bidders on www.demandstar.com on April 26, 2018.   The purpose of the RFP is to provide a 
bank qualified, tax-exempt loan to finance various capital improvements including police vehicles, fire 
equipment and other associated equipment. The Series 2018 Note will be secured by a covenant to annually 
budget and appropriate non-ad valorem revenues. 
 
The objective of the RFP was to obtain financing at the lowest overall interest cost while providing future 
financing flexibility to the City.  The RFP requested a 7-year loan with an average weighted life of 
approximately 3.18 years and with interest rates held for 30 days. The RFP also requested the ability to 
prepay the loan at any time without a prepayment penalty. Other provisions of the RFP prohibited the ability 
of the bank to raise interest rates due to changes in corporate tax law. 
  
On May 10, 2018 the City received ten (10) bids by the stated 2:00 pm deadline. Proposals were received 
from the entities listed below and are summarized in the attached table: 
 
   Responsive Bids: 

 Branch Banking and Trust Company (BB&T) 
 City National Bank 
 Hancock Bank 
 JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. 
 Pinnacle Public Finance 
 PNC Equipment Finance LLC 
 Sterling National Bank 
 SunTrust Equipment Finance & Leasing Corp. 
 US Bancorp 
 Zions Bank 

 

Memorandum 

 

123



Recommendation 
 
The City received interest rate proposals ranging from a low of 2.85%* to 3.45%.  After reviewing the RFP 
responses and after discussions with City staff, it is Hilltop’s opinion that the Zions Bank proposal is the 
best overall proposal. The Zions proposal had the lowest overall interest rate of 2.90% locked for 60 days, 
with the least restrictive loan requirements and the ability to be prepaid at any time without a penalty. While 
the JP Morgan Chase proposal rate of 2.85% was lower, the City would have had to award them the bid by 
May 11th. So this rate is only an indicative rate and subject to change.  In addition their proposal does not 
allow the City the ability to prepay the loan prior to maturity. In finalizing our review we asked the City’s 
Bond Counsel, Akerman LLP for any potential legal issues associated with the Zion Bank proposal.   
 
Therefore based on the above considerations, it’s our recommendation that the City award the financing to 
Zions Bank.  
 
 
Attachment: 
 Proposal Response Summary Table  
 
 
 
 
* Indicative and subject to change 

124



City of Apopka,  Florida
Capital Improvement Revenue Note, Series 2018
Proposal Responses
May 10, 2018

Bank: Branch Banking & Trust Company City National Bank Hancock Whitney Bank JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. Pinnacle Public Finance

Size $2,817,000 $2,817,000 $2,817,000 $2,817,000 $2,817,000

Final Maturity June 1, 2025 June 1, 2025 June 1, 2025 June 1, 2025 June 1, 2025

Tax Status Bank Qualified Bank Qualified Bank Qualified Bank Qualified Bank Qualified

Call Feature / Penalty

Option 1:  Prepayable in whole at any time with a 
1% prepayment penalty.

Option 2: Noncallable prior to 12/1/21 then 
prepayable any time in whole without penalty 

thereafter.

Prepay in whole, but not in part, on any payment 
date with a 45 day advance written notice without 

penalty

May be prepaid in whole and in part on any date 
with 10 days advance notice without prepayment 

penalty.  

Option A: Noncallable 
Option B:  Optional redemption, in whole or part and 

without penalty subsequent to 6/1/2020.

Subject to prepayment in whole anytime at a price 
equal to par plus accrued interest

Fixed Rate  3.05% 3.08% 2.95%
Option A ‐ 2.85%, no optional redemption

Option B ‐ 2.98% optional redemption after 6/1/20
3.455%

Date Rate held until Held for a closing no later than June 22, 2018 Held until June 8, 2018 if awarded by May 16, 2018.
Rate will be held until no later than 40 days from the 
date of the proposal if the City accepts the proposal 

no later than 6 days of the proposal date. 

Rate may be held through closing if awarded to the 
bank by 4 pm May 11, 2018 and closing occurs on or 

before June 8, 2018
Held through June 15, 2018

Tax Information Determination of Taxability No Gross Up Provision No Gross Up Provision

Other Covenant Requirements

Subject to final credit approval
‐‐
Audited financial statements within 270 days of 
FYE
‐‐
Default rate equal to the rate on the note plus 2% 
per annum from and after five days after the due 
date
‐‐
Lender reserves the right to terminate its interest 
in the bid or negotiate a mutually acceptable rate 
if the financing is deemed not a qualified tax‐
exempt financing

Subject to final credit approval
‐‐
Proceeds of the loan will be deposited into an 
escrow account held at the bank at no cost to the 
borrower
‐‐
Lender may sell, asign, or encumber all or any part of 
its right title and interest in any or all the loan; 
however, in no event shall the lender assign this 
agreement as a public offer of participation
‐‐
Proposal will expire if the loan is not closed by July 
30, 2018

Credit has been approved
‐‐
Proposed structure is based on the final amortization 
of principal not having an average life that exceeds 
3.25 years.
‐‐
Exception to Section F, paragraph L "Documentation ‐ 
the bank will depend on the accuracy and 
completeness of the legal documents and states that 
the City and the financial advisor bear some 
responsibility to the information provided
‐‐
A reserve fund is not required for the loan, however, 
a debt service account is required to make monthly 
proportionate deposits. 
‐‐
Default rate of 6% or any statutory interest rate 
limitation imposed by the State of Florida, whichever 
is less. 
‐‐
The bank would want to insure that no provisions 
allow for other obligations secured by CB&A to 
accelerate its loan
‐‐
Audited financial statements within 270 days of FYE
‐‐
Lender reserves the right to assign, transfer, or 
convey the loan

Subject to credit approval
‐‐
Audited financial statements within 270 days of FYE
‐‐
Default rate of interest rate on the 2018 Note plus 
3%

Subject to final credit approval
‐‐
Gross up provision should the loan become taxable.  
Rate will increase to 4.38% effective as of the date of 
determination
‐‐
Default rate of 6% with an increase to 7% should the 
loan become taxable
‐‐
Lender prefers the proceeds to be deposited with a 
third‐party escrow provider during construction.
‐‐
Audited financial statements within 210 days of FYE
‐‐
Lender reserves the right to assign, transfer, or 
convey the loan
‐‐
Lender requires complete executed copy of the 
transcript by noon the day prior to funding

Legal Expense / Underwriting Fee $5,000 $0 $5,000 $7,500 $5,000

Main Contact Andrew Smith Michael Horkey Steven Singleterry Rebecca Reynolds‐Russell Blair Swain
Senior Vice President Senior Vice President  Vice President Vice President Senior Vice President

(803) 251‐1328 (410) 864‐8304 (601) 981‐3894 (407) 236‐7074 (480) 419‐3634

125



City of Apopka,  Florida
Capital Improvement Revenue Note,
Proposal Responses
May 10, 2018

Bank:

Size

Final Maturity

Tax Status

Call Feature / Penalty

Fixed Rate 

Date Rate held until

Tax Information

Other Covenant Requirements

Legal Expense / Underwriting Fee

Main Contact

PNC Equipment Finance LLC Sterling National Bank SunTrust Equipment Finance & Leasing Corp. U.S. Bancorp Government Leasing and Finance, Inc. Zions Bank

$2,817,000 $2,817,000 $2,817,000 $2,817,000 $2,817,000

June 1, 2025 June 1, 2025 June 1, 2025 June 1, 2025 June 1, 2025

Bank Qualified Bank Qualified Bank Qualified Bank Qualified Bank Qualified

Following the 2nd anniversary of the lease and 
absent any defaults, the lessee shall have the option 
to purchase all the equipment financed by paying all 

rent payments and other amounts due plus 
termination value of the principal balance plus 3% 

premium. 

Years 1 and 2 are noncallable.  Prepayable in whole 
or in part on any payment date during years 3 and 4 

at 101% and par thereafter 

Prepayable in whole on any payment date at a 
premium of 3% in year 1; 2% in year 2; and 1% in 

year 3.

Permitted after 13 months on any payment date at 
the lower of a standard make whole provision or 

103% of outstanding balance. 

Callable any time a par plus accrued interest with 
30 days' notice

3.22% 3.040%
3.189%

Indicative Rate
3.253% 2.90%

Held until May 18, 2018  After this time the rate shall 
be indexed to the 5 yr. interest rate swap and set 3 

business days prior to funding.

Held for a closing within 31 days of the date of the 
term sheet (June 8, 2018).  Should the date elapse, 
the rate is subject to adjustment 5 days prior to the 

closing date.

Not held.  Upon award the rate shall be set and 
honored for a closing on or before June 21, 2018

Held until June 30, 2018
Held for 60 days from the bid date.  Should 60 
days elapse rate would reset to the prevailing 

market rate. 

No No After‐Tax Yield No No

Subject to final credit approval
‐‐
Issuer to pay a $250 set up fee at closing for the 
escrow account
‐‐
Lessee shall have the option to purchase all 
equipment for $1.00 upon performance of the terms 
and conditions of the lease agreement
‐‐
Proposal shall expire on June 30, 2018 unless 
accepted in writing.

Subject to final credit approval
‐‐
Proceeds can be funded into an escrow account at 
no cost so long as the proceeds do not require 
collateralization other than the use of a surety bond
‐‐
Lender reserves, without consent, but with notice to, 
the right to assign, transfer, or convey the loan

Subject to final credit approval
‐‐
An escrow account shall be established at SunTrust 
Bank if applicable to hold financing proceeds
‐‐
Issuer to pay a $250 set up fee at closing for the 
escrow account
‐‐
Proposal expires on May 17, 2018 if not awarded in 
writing on or before the 17th

Subject to final credit approval
‐‐
Funds will be deposited in a no fee U.S. Bank N.A. 
escrow account at closing
‐‐
Standard USBGLF provisions pertaining to events of 
default and remedies available upon default.

Proposal has been credit reviewed, but is subject 
to final credit approval
‐‐
Audited financial statements within 270 days of 
FYE

$0 $0 $2,500 $0 $0

Bryce Conway Mark Cargo Dennis McDermott Denise Beauchamp Jonathan Baker
Associate Relationship Manager Managing Director Director Vice President Senior Vice President

(614) 463‐6569 (704) 287‐4493 (404) 658‐4751 (904) 284‐3520 (801) 844‐7159

126



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 __  CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF:  June 6, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:               Fire Department      

  _   SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:        Statements 

 X   OTHER:  Business                 Truck Pricing 

                     Truck Specifications  
  

 

SUBJECT:  FIRE DEPARTMENT TOWER TRUCK REPLACEMENT 

 

REQUEST:    ALLOW STAFF TO; 

(1)  SECURE FINANCING FOR A REPLACEMENT TOWER TRUCK 

(2)  SIGN A CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT WITH ROSENBAUER  

        AMERICA PRIOR TO JUNE 30TH TO RETAIN 2017 PRICING 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

In June of 2017, a hydraulic leak was discovered in the main lift cylinder of the Department’s only tower 

truck. The necessary repairs were beyond the capabilities of our Fleet Maintenance Division. 

Arrangements were made to have the repairs completed at Rev Technical Center (formally Hall-Mark Fire 

Apparatus) in Ocala.  

 

On August 28
th

, Rev TC contacted the Fire Department and reported that a “catastrophic” failure had 

occurred during testing of their repairs to the lift cylinders. The 95’ ladder section was fully extended at a 

45 degree angle while rotated out 90 degrees. At this point the ladder experienced a violent and 

uncontrolled retraction of all three ladder sections, in the process twisting the ladder, destroying the 

bucket and damaging all the ladder stops. Other unforeseen damage was suspected with the turntable and 

frame of the truck.  

 

 In mid-November, the City’s insurance adjuster met with the inspector and Rev TC’s adjuster, and a 

discussion was concluded that with the age of the truck and the amount of damage sustained, that it may 

be in the best interest of both parties to total the vehicle. Replacement parts for any repairs would need to 

be salvaged from other trucks or fabricated as the manufacture is no longer in business.  

 

The Fire Department is requesting to secure financing for the amount not off-set by insurance. Staff has 

been working with Rosenbauer America since November, 2017 to design a replacement tower truck with 

the same capabilities as our previous tower truck. Rosenbauer has been awarded the Florida State 

Sheriff’s contract for this type of vehicle and is currently honoring last year’s reduced pricing until the 

end of June 2018. The Fire Department has standardized their inventory of new fire engines and specialty 

rescue vehicles with Rosenbauer apparatus. We are pleased with their product, pricing and service and 

wish to continue to standardize our fleet with a Rosenbauer tower truck.  

 

The total cost for the truck and all associated equipment, before any insurance money received, is $1.1 

million.  The City has already received an insurance check in the amount of $100,000, with an additional 

amount of $293,175 agreed upon. This $393,175 subtracted from the cost of the truck will leave the 

balance of $706,825 to be financed. 127



 

 

 

  
FUNDING SOURCE:   

 

Capital Improvement Revenue Note 2018 

    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:   
 

Allow staff to sign the contract to order a replacement tower truck and establish funding for the 

construction. 

  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson                 Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

  __ CONSENT AGENDA      MEETING OF: June 6, 2018 

___ PUBLIC HEARING      FROM:              Fire Department            

       SPECIAL REPORTS      EXHIBITS:       Proposal      

   X   OTHER:  Business 
  

 

SUBJECT: CONSTRUCTION OF ONE LIFE SUPPORT AMBULANCE FOR THE FIRE 

DEPARTMENT 

 

REQUEST: AUTHORIZE THE CONSTRUCTION OF ONE LIFE SUPPORT AMBULANCE 

TO HALL-MARK, RTC. 
  
SUMMARY: 

 

On January 14, 2018, while responding to a 911 call, ambulance 4 was involved in a motor vehicle 

accident.  The vehicle was considered a total loss by the City’s insurance adjuster and has valued the loss 

of the vehicle at $129,000.00.  The cost to purchase a new Life Support Ambulance is $175,695.00, 

resulting in a balance of $46,695.00.      

 

The loss of this vehicle leaves the Fire Department short an ambulance and we currently have additional 

ambulances undergoing major repairs.  The replacement of this ambulance is vital to our day to day 

operations of providing emergency medical services throughout the City. 

 

Pricing for the Life Support Ambulance, with Department specific options, was obtained from the Florida 

Sheriff’s Association Bid #FSA16-VEF12.0, Specification #01, Addendum #1. The Fire Department will 

piggy-back on this contract.  

  
FUNDING SOURCE: 
 

$129,000 from the City’s insurance carrier and $46,695 from the General Fund Reserves. 

    
RECOMMENDATION ACTION: 
 

The Fire Department requests council award the construction of this Life Support Ambulance to Hall-

Mark RTC, in the amount of $175,695.00. 

 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  

Commissioners     HR Director   Recreation Director    

City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  

Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

138



139



 

 

 
CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 6, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Vicinity Map 

X OTHER: Final Development Plan    Aerial Map 

    Zoning Map 

Final Development Plan 

    Architectural Renderings 
  

SUBJECT:    FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CARTER ELECTRIC – SOUTHWEST 

CORNER OF MARSHALL LAKE AND BRADSHAW ROADS 

    

REQUEST:  APPROVAL OF THE FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR CARTER 

ELECTRIC LOCATED ON THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF MARSHALL 

LAKE ROAD AND BRADSHAW ROAD 
  
SUMMARY:  

 
OWNER/APPLICANT: Carter Land Development, LLC c/o Douglas Carter 
 
ENGINEER:   Klima Weeks Civil Engineering, Inc., c/o Selby G. Weeks, P.E.  
 
LOCATION: South Bradshaw Road (Southwest corner of Marshall Lake Road and 

Bradshaw Road) 
 

PARCEL ID #:  09-21-28-0868-04-000 
 
FUTURE LAND USE: Industrial 
 
ZONING: I-1 (Restricted Industrial) 
 
EXISTING USE: Vacant Land 
 
PROPOSED USE: Office (8,837 square feet) / Warehouse (4,132 square feet)  
 
TRACT SIZE:   13.02 +/- acres  
 
BUILDING SIZE: 13,377 square feet (408 square feet of Mezzanine area) 
 
FLOOR AREA RATIO 0.03 
 
 
FUNDING SOURCE:  N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 

Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

140



CITY COUNCIL– JUNE 6, 2018 

CARTER ELECTRIC - FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

PAGE 2 

 

 

RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction 
Future Land 

Use 
Zoning Present Use 

North (City) Industrial ROW/I-1 Marshall Lake Road/Vacant 

East (City) Industrial ROW/I-1 Bradshaw Road/Industrial Park/Retention Park/Vacant 

South (City) Industrial I-1 Industrial Park 

West (City) Industrial I-1 Vacant 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  Carter Electric, Inc. is an electrical contractor specializing in commercial, 

industrial, and high voltage construction that is adding a location in the City of Apopka. The 12,969 square 

feet building will be used as an office and warehouse with a 408 square feet of mezzanine area. 

       

PARKING:  A total of 71 parking spaces will be provided (50 required by code), three of which are reserved 

as a handicapped parking space.   

 

ACCESS:  Access to the site is provided by a single driveway curb cut on Marshall Lake Road located west 

of Bradshaw Road.   

 

EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS:  The height of the proposed building is 24’8", below the maximum allowable 

height of 35'.  Staff has found the proposed building elevations to be in accordance with the City’s 

Development Design Guidelines. 

   
STORMWATER:   The stormwater management system includes an on-site retention area, on the southern 
portion of the site.  The stormwater pond design meets the City’s Land Development Code requirements. 
 

BUFFER/SCREENING/TREE PROGRAM:   As part of the development plan approval, a10-foot wide 

landscaping buffer and black vinyl coated chain link fence will screen the outdoor work area from adjacent 

properties.  The viburnum hedges shall be allowed to grow to and maintained at 6 feet in height.  The plan 

also shows sabal palms and viburnum hedges surrounding the dumpster enclosure area.  The plan also 

shows a mixture of elms, crepe myrtles and viburnum hedges within the 25' landscaping buffer along 

Marshall Lake Road. Live oaks are located in the western and eastern buffers and elms are placed in each 

parking landscape island.  Bald cypress trees surround the retention pond on the southernmost point of the 

project site's 10-foot wide landscape buffer.  The buffer includes a lustrum hedge along both roads and 

twelve oak trees within the buffer.  The applicant has provided a detailed landscape and irrigation plan for 

Carter Electric that complies with the requirements of the City’s Land Development Code. The planting 

materials and irrigation system design are consistent with the water-efficient landscape standards set forth 

in Ordinance No. 2069.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
   

 

Total inches on-site: 95 

Total inches removed 84 

Total inches retained: 11 

Total inches added: 174 

Total inches post development:                       195 

141



CITY COUNCIL– JUNE 6, 2018 

CARTER ELECTRIC - FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

PAGE 3 

 

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 

May 8, 2018 – Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

June 6, 2018 – June 6, 2018 (1:30 p.m.) 
 
  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 
The Development Review Committee (DRC) recommends approval of the Carter Electric Final 
Development Plan, subject to the findings of this staff report. 
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on May 8, 2018, found the Carter Electric Final Development 

Plan consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code; and unanimously 

recommended approval of the Carter Electric Final Development Plan, subject to the findings of this staff 

report. 

 
City Council:  Approve the Carter Electric Final Development Plan 
 
Note: This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 

into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

142



CITY COUNCIL– JUNE 6, 2018 

CARTER ELECTRIC - FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

PAGE 4 

 

 

Application:  Final Development Plan 

Owner:   Carter Land Development, LLC 

Applicant:                  Carter Land Development, LLC c/o Douglas Carter 

Engineer:  Klima Weeks Civil Engineering, Inc., c/o Selby G. Weeks, P.E. 
Parcel I.D. No:    09-21-28-0868-04-000 
Location:  Marshall Lake Road and Bradshaw Road 
Acres:  13.02 acres +/- 

 
 

   

  VICINITY MAP 

 

  
 

 

 

  

Subject Property 

143



CITY COUNCIL– JUNE 6, 2018 

CARTER ELECTRIC - FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

PAGE 5 

 

 

ZONING MAP 

 

 

 
 

 

 

  
144



CITY COUNCIL– JUNE 6, 2018 

CARTER ELECTRIC - FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

PAGE 6 

 

 

 

AERIAL MAP 
 

 

 

  
 
 

 

Subject Property 

145



1'-
11

"
9'-

5"

6'-6"

4'-8"

3'-
10

"
11

'-6
"

9'-4"
4'-8"

A6.1MCONCEPT ELEVATIONS
sheet number

project numberissue date drawn by approved by

1 03-16-18 PERMIT COMMENTS

THESE DOCUMENTS AND THEIR CONTENTS ARE THE PROPERTY OF BHM ARCHITECTURE, INC. AND ARE ISSUED ONLY FOR THE SPECIFIC PROJECT NOTED ON THESE
DRAWINGS. ANY REPRODUCTION AND/OR REDISTRIBUTION WITHOUT THE EXPRESSED WRITTEN CONSENT OF BHM ARCHITECTURE, INC. IS PROHIBITED BY LAW. TO THE
BEST OF THE ARCHITECT'S KNOWLEDGE, THESE PLANS AND SPECIFICATIONS COMPLY WITH THE APPLICABLE MINIMUM BUILDING CODES AND THE APPLICABLE FIRE
SAFETY STANDARDS.

BHM ARCHITECTURE, INC.
MAIL ONLY: 478 E ALTAMONTE DR., SUITE 108 PMB 264, ALTAMONTE SPRINGS, FL 32701-4622

PHONE: 407.333.2005 LICENSE # AAC000233

REVISION SCHEDULE
DATE DESCRIPTION

CMH CMH

WEST ELEVATION1

SOUTH ELEVATION4

EAST ELEVATION2

NORTH ELEVATION3

STONE SAMPLE- KURASTONE LEDGESTONE DESERT

0

W MW W . B H M . U S . C O

Scale: 1/8" = 1'-0"

Scale: 1/8" = 1'-0"

Scale: 1/8" = 1'-0"

Scale: 1/8" = 1'-0"

CARTER ELECTRIC, INC.
Apopka, Florida

2017.042
02-23-2018

PERMIT SET

Camala McCarter Hogue
AR-0009533

EXTERIOR FINISH SCHEDULE
DESCRIPTION COLOR/FINISHI.D.

PBR METAL SIDING PANEL P1 TAN

ALUMINUM STOREFRONT DOOR & FRAME

GENERAL NOTES:
1. 'SW' DENOTES SHERWIN WILLIAMS PAINT NUMBERS.

CLEAR ANODIZED

TEXTURED METAL SIDING PANEL P2 STONE

NICHIHA LEDGESTONE FIBER CEMENT PANEL P4 DESERT

PBR METAL ROOFING PANEL P3 COAL

STANDING SEAM METAL AWNINGS P7 COAL

STONE WATER TABLE BAND P12

HOLLOW METAL DOORS & FRAMES SW PAINT TO MATCH STONE

P10

P5METAL SCUPPERS, COLLECTION HEAD AND
DOWNSPOUTS

CLEAR ANODIZED ALUMINUM

P9

STOREFRONT GLAZING CLEARP11

SILL CHISELED- GRAY

PRECAST CONCRETE WALL CAP P12 CAP CHISELED- GRAY

STUCCO-DUMPSTER P13 SHERWIN WILLIAMS MATCH P2

METAL GATES- DUMPSTER P14 SHERWIN WILLIAMS MATCH P1

SIGNAGE NOTES:

ALL SIGNAGE TO BE SUBMITTED UNDER
SEPARATE COVER FOR SIGN PERMIT.

146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

  
 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 6, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Vicinity Map 

X OTHER: Final Development Plan    Aerial Map 

    Zoning Map 

Final Development Plan 

    Architectural Renderings  
SUBJECT:    FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN – CHURCH’S CHICKEN – 845 SOUTH 

ORANGE BLOSSOM TRAIL 

    

REQUEST:  APPROVAL OF THE FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR CHURCH’S 

CHICKEN TO BE LOCATED AT 845 SOUTH ORANGE BLOSSOM TRAIL  
SUMMARY:  

 
OWNER/APPLICANT: CHC-845 S Orange Blossom Trail Apopka FL LLC 
 
ENGINEER:   Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. c/o Jordan Draper, P.E.  
 
LOCATION:   845 South Orange Blossom Trail 
 
PARCEL ID #:  11-21-28-0206-00-070 
 
FUTURE LAND USE: Commercial 
 
ZONING:   C-2 (General Commercial) 
 
EXISTING USE:  Parking Lot 
 
PROPOSED USE:  Restaurant with Drive-Thru Service 
 
TRACT SIZE:   1.07 +/- acres  
 
BUILDING SIZE:  1,850 square feet 
 
FLOOR AREA RATIO 0.0395 
  
FUNDING SOURCE:  N/A 

  
DISTRIBUTION 

Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners     HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
  

171



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

CHURCH'S CHICKEN- FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

PAGE 2 

 

RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City) Commercial C-2 Multi-tenant Shopping Center 

East (City) Commercial C-2 Multi-tenant Shopping Center 

South (City) Commercial ROW/C-1 U.S. Highway 441/ Multi-tenant Shopping Center 

West (City) Commercial C-2 Retail Establishment 

 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  This is a request to approve the Church's Chicken Final Development Plan 
that includes a building size of 1850 square feet and height of 21 feet. 
       
PARKING:  A total of 27 parking spaces will be provided (15 required by code), two of which are reserved as 
a handicapped parking space.   
 
ACCESS:  Access to the restaurant is via private drive aisles of the Apopka Land Shopping Center that have 
multiple access points to U.S. 441, Sheeler Avenue, and S.R. 436. 
 
EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS:  The height of the proposed building is 21 feet, well below the maximum allowable 
height of 35'.  Staff has found the proposed building elevations to be in accordance with the City’s Development 
Design Guidelines. 
   
STORMWATER:   The stormwater management is off-site and part of the master stormwater system that 
includes the Apopka Land Regional Shopping Center.  
 
BUFFER/SCREENING/LANDSCAPING/TREE PROGRAM:   As part of the development plan approval, red 
maple, eastern redbud and shrubs are located within the 5-foot wide landscaping buffer on the western perimeter 
of the project site.  10-foot wide landscape buffer on the southern perimeter adjacent to U.S. Highway 441 
consist of crape myrtle, red maple trees and shrubs.   The plan also shows that a total of five existing oak trees 
are preserved.   
 
Total inches on-site: 198 
Total inches removed 78 
Total inches retained: 120 
Total inches added: 99 
Total inches post development:                       219 

 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
May 8, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 
June 6, 2018 - City Council (1:30 pm)  
 

RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 
The Development Review Committee (DRC) recommends approval of the Church's Chicken Final 
Development Plan, subject to the findings of this staff report. 
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on May 8, 2018, found the Church's Chicken Final Development 
Plan consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code, and unanimously recommended 
approval of the Church's Chicken Final Development Plan, subject to the findings of this staff report. 
 
City Council:  Approve the Church's Chicken Final Development Plan 
 
Note: This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into 

and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
  

172



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

CHURCH'S CHICKEN- FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

PAGE 3 

 

Application:  Final Development Plan 

Owner/Applicant:  CHC-845 S Orange Blossom Trail Apopka FL LLC 

Engineer:  Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. c/o Jordan Draper, P.E. 
Parcel I.D. No:    11-21-28-0206-00-070 
Location:  845 South Orange Blossom Trail 
Acres:  1.07 acres +/- 

 
 

   

  VICINITY MAP 

 

  

 

 

  

Subject 

Property 

173



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

CHURCH'S CHICKEN- FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

PAGE 4 

 

ZONING MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

174



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

CHURCH'S CHICKEN- FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

PAGE 5 

 

 

 

AERIAL MAP 

 

 
 

 

Subject Property 

175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 6, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Vicinity Map 

X OTHER: PUD Master Plan/Final Development Plan  Aerial Map 

    Final Development Plan 

    Landscape Plan 

    Architectural Elevations 
  
SUBJECT:    PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT (PUD) MASTER PLAN/FINAL 

DEVELOPMENT PLAN – RACETRAC – HERMIT SMITH ROAD 

    

REQUEST:  APPROVE THE PUD MASTER PLAN/FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

FOR RACETRAC LOCATED ON THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF 

HERMIT SMITH ROAD AND US 441 
  
SUMMARY:  

 
OWNER:   Zellwood Properties, LLC 
 
APPLICANT/ENGINEER: Tannath Design, Inc., c/o Bryan Potts, P.E.  
 
LOCATION: Northwest corner of Hermit Smith Road and US 441 

 
PARCEL ID #:   36-20-27-0000-00-024, 01-21-27-0000-00-001 
 
LAND USE: Commercial  
 
ZONING: PUD (Planned Unit Development/Commercial) 
 
EXISTING USE: Vacant Land 
 
PROPOSED USE: Gas Station with 18 fueling stations and 5,411 square foot convenience store 
 
TRACT SIZE:   2.53 +/- acres  
 
BUILDING SIZE: 5,411 square feet convenience store 

  
FUNDING SOURCE:  N/A 

 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
    

 
199



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 
RACETRAC HERMIT SMITH ROAD – PUD MASTER PLAN/FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 2 

 

RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The applicant has submitted a PUD Master Plan/Final Development Plan 

for a RaceTrac gas station with 16 fueling stations and an associated 5,411 square foot convenience store. 

The subject property is located at the northeast corner of the intersection of Hermit Smith Road and US 

441. The subject property is approximately 2.53 acres in size and is zoned Planned Unit Development.  

     

PARKING:  A total of 35 parking spaces will be provided for the convenience store, and 16 parking spaces 

will be provided at the fueling station for a total of 55 parking spaces. Two parking spaces are reserved as 

a handicapped parking spaces.   

 

ACCESS:  Access to the site is provided via a full access point located on Hermit Smith Road, and a right 

in/right out on US 441. A 240-foot right turn lane leading into the site from US 441 will be constructed 

concurrent with site construction.   

 

TRANSPORTATION: Using ITE Trip Generation Rates, 9th Edition, the estimated project trip generation 

is 731 net new daily trips daily trips, 52 a.m. and 62 p.m. net new peak hour trips. The development is 

adding a 240-foot right deceleration lane at the access driveway on US 441.  

 

ARCHITECTURAL ELEVATIONS:  The architectural elevations provided for the convenience store 

propose a one story building with architectural design elements including awnings, windows with glazing, 

eifs, and a watermark and stone veneer provided around the perimeter of the building. The fueling station 

will be covered with an awning. Stone veneer that matches the stone veneer provided around the perimeter 

of the convenience store will be provided around the perimeter of the support columns of the fueling station. 

The building exhibits high quality architectural elements that are required in the Development Design 

Guidelines.   

   

STORMWATER:  Stormwater run-off and drainage will be accommodated onsite with a dry stormwater 

retention pond that is located behind the convenience store building.  

 

BUFFER/TREE PROGRAM:  The adjacent properties to the north and west have Agricultural zoning. Per 

the Land Development Code, a 6-foot block wall is required to be provided between commercial and 

agricultural uses. A wall is provided along the northern property boundary and approximately one-quarter 

of the western property. The wall is not provided along the entire western property line to allow for future 

cross-access between the subject property and the property to the west at such time that property develops. 

Landscaping including Live Oaks, Bald Cypress, Holly, and Bahia sod is provided in this location.  

 

The applicant has provided a detailed landscape and irrigation plan that complies with the requirements of 

the City’s Land Development Code. The planting materials and irrigation system design are consistent with 

the water-efficient, Florida-friendly landscape standards set forth in Ordinance No. 2069.  

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) Rural (1 D/U per 10 Acres) “County” A-1 Vacant 

East (City) Rural (1 D/U per 10 Acres) “County” A-1 (ZIP) Hermit Smith Rd/Vacant 

South (County) Not assigned  Not assigned US 441 

West (County) Rural (1 D/U per 10 Acres) “County” A-1 Vacant 

200



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 
RACETRAC HERMIT SMITH ROAD – PUD MASTER PLAN/FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 3 

 

TREES: The applicant has agreed to a tree mitigation payment of $2,769.41 to mitigate existing trees that 

are proposed to be removed.  

 

Total inches on-site: 365 

Total inches removed 277 

Total inches retained: 88 

Total inches added: 81.5 

Total inches post development:                       169.5 

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
May 8, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

June 6, 2018 - City Council (1:30 pm)  

   
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 

The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the RaceTrac PUD Master Plan/Final 

Development Plan, subject to the findings of this staff report. 

 

The Planning Commission, at its meeting on May 8, 2018, found the RaceTrac PUD Master Plan/Final 

Development Plan consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Code; and unanimously 

recommended approval of the RaceTrac Final Development Plan, subject to the findings of the staff report. 

 

City Council: Approve the RaceTrac PUD Master Plan/Final Development Plan.  
 

Note: This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 

into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

201



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 
RACETRAC HERMIT SMITH ROAD – PUD MASTER PLAN/FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 4 

 
Application:  PUD Master Plan/Final Development Plan 

Owner:   Zellwood Properties, LLC 

Applicant/Engineer: Tannath Design, Inc., c/o Bryan Potts, P.E. 
Parcel I.D. No:    36-20-27-0000-00-024, 01-21-27-0000-00-001 
Location:  Hermit Smith Road and US 441 
Acres:  2.53 acres 

 
 
 

VICINITY MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
202



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 
RACETRAC HERMIT SMITH ROAD – PUD MASTER PLAN/FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PAGE 5 

 

 

 
 
 

 

AERIAL MAP 
 

 

 

203



204



205



206



207



 
CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 6, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 

X OTHER: Ordinance  Vicinity Map 

    Future Land Use Map 

    Adjacent Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 
    Ordinance No. 2646 

  
SUBJECT:    ORDINANCE 2646 - COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL SCALE - FUTURE 

LAND USE AMENDMENT – LYNN R. FONTAINE 

    

REQUEST:  SECOND READING & ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE NO. 2646 – 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN- SMALL SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE 

AMENDMENT – LYNN FONTAINE – FROM “COUNTY” RURAL (1 DU/10 AC) 

TO “CITY” RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW SUBURBAN (0-2 DU/AC) 
  
SUMMARY:  
 
OWNER/APPLICANT: Lynn R. Fontaine 
 
LOCATION: 4353 McDonald Gley Rd.  
 
PARCEL ID NUMBER: 35-20-27-0000-00-037 
 
EXISTING USE: Single Family Home 
 
CURRENT ZONING:  “County” A-1  
 
PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT:  Single Family Home 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” RCE-2 (Note: this Future Land Use amendment request is being processed 

along with a request for annexation and to change the zoning classification from 
“County” A-1 to “City” RCE-2 (Residential Country Estate).  

 
TRACT SIZE:   5.2 +/- acres  
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING: Single Family Home 
    PROPOSED: Single Family Home 
  
FUNDING SOURCE:  N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 
G:\CommDev\PLANNING ZONING/Small Scale Flu Amends/2018/Fontaine 
  

208



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

LYNN R. FONTAINE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 2 
 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The subject parcel was annexed in the city on April 18, 2018 by Ordinance 
2641.  Presently, the subject property does not have a “city” future land use designation or “city” zoning 
classification assigned. The applicant requests a future land use designation of “city” Residential Very Low 
Suburban.  
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is consistent with the 

Residential Very Low Suburban Future Land Use designation.  Site development cannot exceed the intensity 

allowed by the Future Land Use policies.   Planning & Zoning staff determines that the below policies support 

a Residential Very Low Suburban FLUM designation at the subject site:  

 
Future Land Use Element 
 

1. Policy 3.1.c 
 
Very Low Density Suburban Residential 
 

The primary use shall be residential dwelling units up to 2 dwelling units per acre, elementary schools; middle 
schools, high schools; supporting infrastructure of less than two acres, neighborhood parks. 
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:   The proposed future land use change will result in an insignificant increase 
(less than 9) in the number of residential units which could be developed at the subject property.  Therefore, the 
property is exempt from school capacity enhancement per the School Interlocal Planning Agreement. 
 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before any 

public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on April 2, 2018. 

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE:  

May 8, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

May 16, 2018 - City Council (7:00 pm) - 1st Reading 

June 6, 2018 – City Council (1:30 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  

 

DULY ADVERTISED:  

April 24, 2018 – Public Notice and Notification 

   
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 
The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan 
and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed Future 
Land Use Designation of Residential Very Low Suburban for the property owned by Lynn R. Fontaine, and 
located at 4353 McDonald Gley Road.  
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on May 8, 2018, found the proposed Future Land Use amendment 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas; and 
unanimously recommended approval of the change of Future Land Use Designation from “County” Rural to 
“City” Residential Very Low Suburban, subject to the findings of the Staff Report. 
 
The City Council, at its meeting on May 16, 2018, accepted the first reading of Ordinance No. 2646 and held 
over for second reading and adoption on June 6, 2018.  
 
Adopt Ordinance No. 2646. 
 
Note: This item is considered legislative.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into 
and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 209



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

LYNN R. FONTAINE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 3 
 

LAND USE REPORT 

 

I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City and 

County) 

“City” Agriculture and “County” Rural “City” Agriculture 

and “County” A-1 

Agriculture and Single Family 

Homes 

East (City) Residential Low Suburban R-1A Subdivision (Chandler Estates) 

South (City and 

County) 

“City” Residential Low Suburban and 

“County” Rural 

“City” R-1A and 

“County” A-1 

Single Family Homes 

West (County) Rural A-1 Single Family Home 

 
II. LAND USE ANALYSIS: 
 
The subject property is located on a site that is ideal for residential use, which makes the request for a 
Residential Very Low Suburban future land use designation consistent with the Comprehensive Plan 
policies listed above, as well as the general future land use character of the surrounding area. 
 
Properties to the south, north and west are low density single-family homes. The Chandler Estates 
subdivision is to the east. Due to the connection of a local road, and no presence of collector or arterial 
roads, staff views this property as favorable for a residential low future land use designation. 
 
The proposed Residential Very Low Suburban future land use designation is consistent with the general 
future land use character of the surrounding area.  
 
 Wekiva River Protection Area: No 
 Area of Critical State Concern: No 
 DRI / FQD: No 
 
 JPA: The City of Apopka and Orange County entered into a Joint Planning Area (JPA) agreement 
on October 26, 2004.  The subject property is not located within the “Northern Area” of the JPA.  The 
proposed FLUM Amendment request for a change from “County” Rural (0-10 du/ac) to “City” Residential 
Very Low Suburban (0-2 du / ac) is consistent with the terms of the JPA (Second Amendment).  Lynn R. 
Fontaine is the applicant of the proposed future land use amendment and proposed change of zoning for the 
Property, and has been notified of the hearing schedule.   
 
 Transportation:  Road access to the site is from McDonald Gley. 
 
 Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act: The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the 
adopted Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  The proposed amendment is consistent with the 
adopted mandates and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) amendment has been 
reviewed against the best available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater resources.  The City of 
Apopka's adopted Comprehensive Plan addresses aquifer recharge and stormwater run-off through the 
following policies: 

 
 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2 
 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 
 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 

 
 

210



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

LYNN R. FONTAINE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 4 
 

Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 
Protection shows that there are karst features in the vicinity of this property.   
 
 Analysis of the character of the Property:  The property comprises mostly of grasslands, with some 
tree cover. Additionally, the property has a single family home. 
 
 Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: The proposed future 
land use designation for the property is Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du / ac).  Based on the housing 
element of the City's Comprehensive Plan, this amendment will not increase the City’s future population 
  
CALCULATIONS: 
ADOPTED: 1 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 3 persons 
PROPOSED: 1 Unity = 3 persons 
 
 Housing Needs: This amendment will not negatively impact the housing needs as projected in the 
Comprehensive Plan.   
 
 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: A habitat study is required 
for developments greater than ten (10) acres in size.  At the time the Master Site Plan or Preliminary 
Development Plan is submitted to the City, the development applicant must conduct a species survey and 
submit a habitat management plan if any threatened or endangered species are identified within the project 
site. 
 
 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to 
Chapter 3 of the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. 
 
 Sanitary Sewer Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None; 81 GPD/Capita ; 81 
GPD / Capita 

 
 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 
 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:  196    GPD 
 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    3,528  GPD 
 
   

4. Capacity available:  Yes 
 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation: 81  GPD/Capita 
 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  81 GPD/Capita 
 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: 
None 

 
 Potable Water Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard: None; 177 GPD/Capita ; 177 
GPD / Capita 

  
 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider:  City of Apopka 
  211



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

LYNN R. FONTAINE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 5 
 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:     210  GPD 
 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:   3,780  GPD 
 

4. Capacity available: Yes 
 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:  177  GPD / Capita 
 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD / Capita 
 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 
amendment: None 

 
8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  Yes 

 
 Solid Waste 
 

1. Facilities serving the site:  City of Apopka 
 

2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of 
Apopka 

 
3. Projected LOS under existing designation:     4    lbs/  day 

 
4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   192    lbs /  day 

 
5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None  
 
 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 
development approval. 
 
 Infrastructure Information 
 
 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 
 
 Permitting agency: St. John’s River Water Management District 
 
 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  9.353  MGD 
 
 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33.696  MGD 
 
 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 
 
 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 
 
 Drainage Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site:   None 
 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm  
 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm 
 212



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

LYNN R. FONTAINE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 6 
 

4. Improvement/expansion: On site retention / detention ponds 
 
 Recreation 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System ;  3 acre / 1000 
capita 

 
2. Projected facility under existing designation:  0.009  acres 

 
3. Projected facility under proposed designation:  0.144    acres 

 
4. Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 
 

Standards set forth in the City’s Land Development Code will require any development plans to provide 
parkland and recreation facilities and open space for residents residing with the new development. 
 
This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 
development approval. 
  

213



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

LYNN R. FONTAINE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 7 
 

Lynn R. Fontaine 
5.2 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: “County” Rural  

To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 
Proposed Change of Zoning: 

From: “County” A-1 
To: RCE-2 

Parcel ID #: 35-20-27-0000-00-037 
 
 

VICINITY MAP 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 214



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

LYNN R. FONTAINE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 8 
 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

215



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

LYNN R. FONTAINE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 9 
 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 
 

 

 

 

216



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

LYNN R. FONTAINE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 10 
 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

217



ORDINANCE NO. 2646 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING THE 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM “COUNTY” RURAL TO 

“CITY” RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW SUBURBAN FOR CERTAIN REAL 

PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED SOUTH OF YOTHERS ROAD AND 

EAST OF ORANGE BLOSSOM TRAIL, COMPRISING 5.2 ACRES, MORE 

OR LESS AND OWNED BY LYNN FONTAINE; PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka adopted the Apopka Comprehensive 
Plan by Ordinance No. 653 on October 2, 1991, pursuant to Section 163.3184, Florida Statutes 
and most recently amended it by Ordinance No. 2606 on March 7, 2018; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka’s local planning agency (Planning Commission) has, in 
preparation of the amended version of the Apopka Comprehensive Plan, analyzed the proposed 
amendment pursuant to Chapter 163, Part II, F.S., found it to be consistent with the intent of the 
Apopka Comprehensive Plan, and held public hearings providing for full public participation. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 
Florida, as follows: 
 
 Section I. Purpose and Intent. 
 
 This Ordinance is enacted to carry out the purpose and intent of, and exercise the authority 
set out in, the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation 
Act, Sections 163.3184 and 163.3187, Florida Statutes. 
 
 Section II. Future Land Use Element. 
  
 Page 1-15 (Map 1-3) of the Future Land Use Element of the City of Apopka 
Comprehensive Plan, as most recently amended by Ordinance No. 2631, is amended in its entirety 
to change the land use from “County” Rural (1 du\10 ac) to “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 
(0-2 du/ac), for certain real property generally located south of Yothers Road and east of U.S. 441,  
comprising 5.2 acres more or less, and owned by Lynn Fontaine; as further described in Exhibit 
“A” attached hereto. 
 
 Section III. Applicability and Effect. 
 
 The applicability and effect of the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan shall be as provided 
by the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act, 
Sections 163.3161 through 163.3215, Florida Statutes. 
 
 Section IV.  Severability. 
 
 If any provision or portion of this Ordinance is declared by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be void, unconstitutional, or unenforceable, then all remaining provisions and 
portions of this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 
 

218



ORDINANCE NO. 2646 

PAGE 2 

 

Section V.  The Community Development Director is hereby authorized to amend the 
Future Land Use to comply with this ordinance. 
 

Section VI. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall become effective upon adoption. 
 
ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, this 6th day 
of June, 2018 
 
 

 
READ FIRST TIME:  

 
May 16, 2018 

 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     

 
 
June 6, 2018 

 
 
 
 ______________________________________ 
       Bryan Nelson, Mayor                         
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
 
DULY ADVERTISED FOR HEARING: April 24, 2018; May 25, 2018 

       

  

219



ORDINANCE NO. 2646 

PAGE 2 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 
ORDINANCE NO. 2646 

Lynn Fontaine 
Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From: “County” Rural (1 du\ 10 ac) 
To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban (0-3.5 du/ac)  

Parcel ID #:  35-20-27-0000-00-037 
Acreage: 5.2 +/- 

 

 

220



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2647 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 

THE ZONING FROM “COUNTY” A-1 TO “CITY” RCE-2 (RESIDENTIAL 

COUNTRY ESTATE) FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY 

LOCATED WEST OF WEST ORANGE BLOSSOM TRAIL AND SOUTH 

OF YOTHERS ROAD, COMPRISING 5.2 ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND 

OWNED BY LYNN FONTAINE; PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY, 

CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

 WHEREAS, to manage the growth, the City of Apopka, Florida, finds it in the best interest 

of the public health, safety and welfare of its citizens to establish zoning classifications within the 

City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has requested a change in zoning on said property as 

identified in Section I of this ordinance; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the proposed Residential Country Estate (RCE-2) zoning has been found to 

be consistent with the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan, and the City of Apopka Land 

Development Code. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

 Section I. That the zoning classification of the following described property be designated 

as Residential Country Estate (RCE-2), as defined in the Apopka Land Development Code, and 

with the following Master Plan provisions subject to the following zoning provisions: 

 

 Section II.  That the zoning classification is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan of the 

City of Apopka, Florida. 

 

 Section III.  That the Community Development Director, or the Director’s designee, is 

hereby authorized to amend, alter, and implement the official zoning maps of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, to include said designation.   

 

 Section IV. That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force or effect of any other section or portion of section or subsection or part of this 

ordinance. 

 

 Section V.  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed.   

  

221



ORDINANCE NO. 2647 

PAGE 2 
 

 

Section VI.  That this Ordinance shall take effect upon adoption of Ordinance No. 2646. 

 
 

           Bryan Nelson, Mayor                                  
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: April 24, 2018; May 25, 2018 
  

READ FIRST TIME:  May 16, 2018 
 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     

 
 
June 6, 2018 

 
 
 
 

 

222



ORDINANCE NO. 2647 

PAGE 3 

 

Lynn R. Fontaine 

5.20 +/- acres  
Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From: “County” Rural  
To: “City” Residential Low Suburban 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” A-1 

To: “City” RCE-2 
Parcel ID #: 35-20-27-0000-00-037 

 

VICINITY MAP 
 

 

 

223



CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 6, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 

X OTHER: Ordinance  Vicinity Map 

    Future Land Use Map 

    Adjacent Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 

    Ordinance No. 2647 
  
SUBJECT:    ORDINANCE 2647 – CHANGE OF ZONING – LYNN R. FONTAINE 

    

REQUEST:  SECOND READING & ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE NO. 2647 – CHANGE 

OF ZONING – LYNN FONTAINE – FROM “COUNTY” RURAL (1 DU/10 AC) 

TO “CITY” RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW SUBURBAN (0-2 DU/AC) 
  
SUMMARY:  
 
OWNER/APPLICANT: Lynn R. Fontaine 
 
LOCATION: 4353 McDonald Gley Rd.  
 
PARCEL ID NUMBER: 35-20-27-0000-00-037 
 
EXISTING USE: Single Family Home 
 
CURRENT ZONING:  “County” A-1  
 
PROPOSED 
DEVELOPMENT:  Single Family Home 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” RCE-2 (Residential Country Estate) (Note: this Change of Zoning request 

is being processed along with a request to amend the Future Land Use from 
“County” Rural (1 du / 10 ac) to Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du / ac) 
and an application for annexation. 

 
TRACT SIZE:   5.2 +/- acres  
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING: 1 Single Family Home 
    PROPOSED: 1 Single Family Home 
  
FUNDING SOURCE:  N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 
G:\CommDev\PLANNING ZONING\REZONING\2018\Fontaine 
  

224



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

FONTAINE– CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 2 
 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: Presently, the subject property has not yet been assigned a “City” zoning 
category.  The applicant is requesting the City to assign a zoning classification of RCE-2 (Residential 
Country Estates) to the property. 
 
The subject parcel was annexed into the city on April 18, 2018 by Ordinance Number 2641. 
 
A request to assign a change of zoning to RCE-2 is compatible to the adjacent zoning classifications and 
with the general character of abutting properties and surrounding area. The change of zoning request is 
being processed in conjunction with a future land use amendment from “County” Rural to “City” 
Residential Very Low Suburban. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The existing and proposed use of the property is consistent 
with the proposed Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du / ac) Future Land Use designation. 
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT: The proposed future land use change will result in an insignificant 

increase (less than 9) in the number of residential units which could be developed at the subject property.  

Therefore, the property is exempt from school capacity enhancement per the School Interlocal Planning 

Agreement. 

  

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before any public 

hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on April 2, 2018. 

 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
May 8, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

May 16, 2018 - City Council (7:00 pm) - 1st Reading 

June 6, 2018 – City Council (1:30 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  
 
DULY ADVERTISED:  

April 24, 2018 - Public Notice and Notification 

May 25, 2018 – Public Notice 

  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 

The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 
Change of Zoning from “County” A-1 to “City” RCE-2 for the property owned by Lynn R. Fontaine, and 
located at 4353 McDonald Gley Rd. 
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on May 8, 2018, found the proposed amendment consistent with 
the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas; and unanimously 
recommended approval of the proposed Change of Zoning from “County” A-1 to “City” RCE-2 for the 
property owned by Lynn R. Fontaine, and located at 4353 McDonald Gley Rd. 
 
The City Council, at its meeting on May 16, 2018, accepted the First Reading of Ordinance 2647 and held 
it over for Second Reading and Adoption on June 6, 2018 
 
Adopt Ordinance No. 2647. 
 
Note: This item is considered Quasi-Judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 
into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

  
225



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

FONTAINE– CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 3 
 

ZONING REPORT 
 
RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City and 

County) 

“City” Agriculture and 

“County” Rural 

“City” Agriculture and 

“County” A-1 

Agriculture and Single Family Homes 

East (City) Residential Low Suburban R-1A Subdivision (Chandler Estates) 

South (City and 

County) 

“City” Residential Low 

Suburban and  

“County” Rural 

“City” R-1A and 

“County” A-1 

Single Family Homes 

West (County) Rural A-1 Single Family Home 

 

LAND USE & TRAFFIC  

COMPATIBILITY: The property is currently accessed by McDonald Gley Rd.   

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  

COMPLIANCE:  The proposed RCE-2 zoning is consistent with the proposed Future 

Land Use designation, “Residential Very Low Suburban” (0-2 du / ac) 

and with the character of the surrounding area and future proposed 

development. Development Plans shall not exceed the density 

allowed in the adopted Future Land Use designation.   
      
     

ALLOWABLE USES:   

 

1. Single-family dwellings and their customary accessory structures 

and uses in accordance with article VII of this code. 

 

2. Guest/granny quarters in accordance with article VII of this code. 

 

ZONING REGULATIONS 

 

Minimum Site Area: 2 Acres 

Minimum Lot Width: 150 ft. 

Front Setback: 35 ft. 

Side Setback: 15 ft. 

Rear Setback: 30 ft.  

Corner Setback: 35 ft. 

Minimum Living Area: 2,200 sq. ft.  

 

  

226



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

FONTAINE– CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 4 
 

Lynn R. Fontaine 

5.20 +/- acres  
Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From: “County” Rural  
To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” A-1 

To: “City” RCE-2 
Parcel ID #: 35-20-27-0000-00-037 

 

VICINITY MAP 
  

227



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

FONTAINE– CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 5 
 

 

 

 
ADJACENT ZONING MAP 

 

 

 

228



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

FONTAINE– CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 6 
 

 

 

ADJACENT USES MAP 
 

 

229



 
CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 6, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 

X OTHER: Ordinance  Vicinity Map 

    Future Land Use Map 

    Adjacent Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 
    Ordinance No. 2648 

  
SUBJECT:    ORDINANCE 2648 - COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL SCALE - FUTURE 

LAND USE AMENDMENT – JANINE AND RICHARD EDMONDSON 

    

REQUEST:  SECOND READING & ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE 2648 – COMPREHENSIVE 

PLAN – SMALL SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – JANINE AND 

RICHARD EDMONDSON – FROM “COUNTY” RURAL (0-1 DU/10 AC)TO 

“CITY” RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW SUBURBAN (0-2 DU/AC) 
  
SUMMARY:  

 

OWNERS/APPLICANTS: Janine and Richard Edmondson 

 

LOCATION: 3904 Plymouth Sorrento Road  

 

PARCEL ID NUMBER: 24-20-27-0000-00-085 

 

EXISTING USE: Single Family Home 

 

CURRENT ZONING:  “County” A-2  

 

EXISTING 
DEVELOPMENT:  Single Family Home 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” R-1AA (Note: this Future Land Use amendment request is being processed 

along with a request for annexation and to change the zoning classification from 
“County” A-2 to “City” R-1AA (Residential Single Family District).  

 
TRACT SIZE:   1.0 +/- acres  

 

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE  

DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING: Single Family Home 

    PROPOSED:  2 Single Family Homes 

  
FUNDING SOURCE:   N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
  

230



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EDMONDSON - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 2 
 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The subject parcel was annexed in the city on April 18, 2018 by Ordinance 2640.  
Presently, the subject property does not have a “city” future land use designation or “city” zoning classification 
assigned. The applicant requests a future land use designation of “city” Residential Very Low Suburban.  
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is consistent with the Residential 

Very Low Suburban Future Land Use designation.  Site development cannot exceed the intensity allowed by the 

Future Land Use policies.   Planning & Zoning staff determines that the below policies support a Residential Very 

Low Suburban FLUM designation at the subject site:  

 
Future Land Use Element 
 

1. Policy 3.1.c 
 
Very Low Density Suburban Residential 
 

The primary use shall be residential dwelling units up to 2 dwelling units per acre, elementary schools; middle 
schools; supporting infrastructure of less than two acres, neighborhood parks. 
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:  The proposed future land use change will result in an insignificant increase (less 
than 9) in the number of residential units which could be developed at the subject property.  Therefore, the property 
is exempt from school capacity enhancement per the School Interlocal Planning Agreement. 
 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before any public 

hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on April 2, 2018.  

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE:  

May 8, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

May 16, 2018 - City Council (1:30 pm) - 1st Reading 

June 6, 2018 – City Council (7:00 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  

 

DULY ADVERTISED:  

April 24, 2018 – Public Notice and Notification 

   
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 
The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and 
compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed Future Land Use 
Designation of Residential Very Low Suburban for the property owned by Janine and Richard Edmondson, and 
located at 3904 Plymouth Sorrento Road.  
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on May 8, 2018, found the proposed Future Land Use amendment 
consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas; and unanimously 
recommended approval of the change of Future Land Use Designation from “County” Rural to “City” Residential 
Very Low Suburban, subject to the findings of the Staff Report. 
 
The City Council, at its meeting on May 16, 2018, accepted the First Reading of Ordinance 2648, and held it over 
for Second Reading and Adoption on June 6, 2018.  
 
Adopt Ordinance No. 2648. 
 
Note: This item is considered Legislative.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into and 
made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

231



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EDMONDSON - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 3 
 

LAND USE REPORT 

 

I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) “County” Rural “County” A-2 Greenhouse 

East (City) “City” Residential Very Low Suburban “City” R-1AAA Agriculture 

South (County) “County” Rural “County” A-2 Single Family Home 

West (County) “County” Rural “County” A-2 Greenhouse 

 
II. LAND USE ANALYSIS: 
 
The subject property comprises of one single family house, which makes the request for a Residential Very 
Low Suburban future land use designation consistent with the Comprehensive Plan policies listed above, 
as well as the general future land use character of the surrounding area. 
 
Properties to the north and south are developed as existing single-family homes. To the east and west are 
agriculturally oriented properties.   
 
The proposed Residential Very Low Suburban future land use designation is consistent with the general 
future land use character of the surrounding area.  
 
 Wekiva River Protection Area: No 
 Area of Critical State Concern: No 
 DRI / FQD: No 
 
 JPA: The City of Apopka and Orange County entered into a Joint Planning Area (JPA) agreement 
on October 26, 2004.  The subject property is located within the “Northern Area” of the JPA.  The proposed 
FLUM Amendment request for a change from “County” Rural (0-1 du/10 ac) to “City” Residential Very Low 
Suburban (0-2 du / ac) is consistent with the terms of the JPA (Second Amendment. Janine and Richard 
Edmondson are the applicants of the proposed future land use amendment and proposed change of zoning 
for the property, and have been notified of the hearing schedule.   
 
 Transportation:  Road access to the site is from Plymouth Sorrento Road. 
 
 Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act: The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the 
adopted Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  The proposed amendment is consistent with the 
adopted mandates and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) amendment has been 
reviewed against the best available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater resources.  The City of 
Apopka's adopted Comprehensive Plan addresses aquifer recharge and stormwater run-off through the 
following policies: 

 
 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2 
 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 
 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 

 
Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection shows that there are karst features in the vicinity of this property.   
 

232



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EDMONDSON - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 4 
 
 Analysis of the character of the Property:  The property contains a single family home with a 2,486 
sq. ft. living area and moderate tree coverage.  
 
 Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: The proposed future 
land use designation for the property is Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du / ac).  Based on the housing 
element of the City's Comprehensive Plan, this amendment will not increase the City’s future population 
  
CALCULATIONS: 
ADOPTED: 1 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 3 persons 
PROPOSED: 1 Unit = 5 persons 
 
 Housing Needs: This amendment will not negatively impact the housing needs as projected in the 
Comprehensive Plan.   
 
 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: A habitat study is required 
for developments greater than ten (10) acres in size.  At the time the Master Site Plan or Preliminary 
Development Plan is submitted to the City, the development applicant must conduct a species survey and 
submit a habitat management plan if any threatened or endangered species are identified within the project 
site. 
 
 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to 
Chapter 3 of the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. 
 
 Sanitary Sewer Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None; 81 GPD/Capita ; 81 
GPD / Capita 

 
 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 
 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:  196    GPD 
 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    392  GPD 
   

4. Capacity available:  Yes 
 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation: 81  GPD/Capita 
 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  81 GPD/Capita 
 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: 
None 

 
 Potable Water Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard: None; 177 GPD/Capita ; 177 
GPD / Capita 

  
 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider:  City of Apopka 
  

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:     210  GPD 
 

233



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EDMONDSON - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 5 
 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:   392  GPD 
 

4. Capacity available: Yes 
 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:  177  GPD / Capita 
 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD / Capita 
 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 
amendment: None 

 
8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  Yes 

 
 Solid Waste 
 

1. Facilities serving the site:  City of Apopka 
 

2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of 
Apopka 

 
3. Projected LOS under existing designation:     12    lbs/  day 

 
4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   20    lbs /  day 

 
5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None  
 
 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 
development approval. 
 
 Infrastructure Information 
 
 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 
 
 Permitting agency: St. John’s River Water Management District 
 
 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  9.353  MGD 
 
 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33.696  MGD 
 
 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 
 
 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 
 
 Drainage Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site:   None 
 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm  
 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm 
 

234



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EDMONDSON - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 6 
 

4. Improvement/expansion: On site retention / detention ponds 
 
 Recreation 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System ;  3 acre / 1000 
capita 

 
2. Projected facility under existing designation:  0.009  acres 

 
3. Projected facility under proposed designation:  0.015    acres 

 
4. Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 
 

Standards set forth in the City’s Land Development Code will require any development plans to provide 
parkland and recreation facilities and open space for residents residing with the new development. 
 
This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 
development approval. 
  

235



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EDMONDSON - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 7 
 

Janine and Richard Edmondson 
1 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: “County” Rural  

To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 
Proposed Change of Zoning: 

From: “County” A-2 
To: R-1AA 

Parcel ID #: 24-20-27-0000-00-085 
 

VICINITY MAP 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
236



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EDMONDSON - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 8 
 

 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

237



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EDMONDSON - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 9 
 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 
 

 

 

 

 

238



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EDMONDSON - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 10 
 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

239



ORDINANCE NO. 2648 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 
THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING THE 
FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM “COUNTY” RURAL (1 DU/ 
10 AC) TO “CITY” RESIDENTIAL VERY LOW SUBURBAN (0-2 DU/AC) 
FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY LOCATED WEST OF PLYMOUTH 
SORRENTO ROAD AND SOUTH OF WEST KELLY PARK ROAD, 
COMPRISING 1.0 ACRE MORE OR LESS, AND OWNED BY JANINE 
AND RICHARD EDMONDSON; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; 
AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka adopted the Apopka Comprehensive 
Plan by Ordinance No. 653 on October 2, 1991, pursuant to Section 163.3184, Florida Statutes 
and most recently amended it by Ordinance No. 2631 adopted on March 7, 2018; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka’s local planning agency (Planning Commission) has, in 
preparation of the amended version of the Apopka Comprehensive Plan, analyzed the proposed 
amendment pursuant to Chapter 163, Part II, F.S., found it to be consistent with the intent of the 
Apopka Comprehensive Plan, and held public hearings providing for full public participation. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 
Florida, as follows: 
 
 Section I. Purpose and Intent. 
 
 This Ordinance is enacted to carry out the purpose and intent of, and exercise the authority 
set out in, the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation 
Act, Sections 163.3184 and 163.3187, Florida Statutes. 
 
 Section II. Future Land Use Element. 
  
 Page 1-15 (Map 1-3) of the Future Land Use Element of the City of Apopka 
Comprehensive Plan, as most recently amended by Ordinance No. 2631, is amended in its entirety 
to change the land use from “County” Rural (1 du/10 ac) to “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 
(0-2 du/ac), for certain real property located at 3904 Plymouth Sorrento Road, comprising 1.0 acre 
more or less, (Parcel No. 24-20-27-0000-00-085); as further described in Exhibit “A” attached 
hereto. 
 
 Section III. Applicability and Effect. 
 
 The applicability and effect of the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan shall be as provided 
by the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act, 
Sections 163.3161 through 163.3215, Florida Statutes. 
 
 Section IV.  Severability. 
 
 If any provision or portion of this Ordinance is declared by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be void, unconstitutional, or unenforceable, then all remaining provisions and 
portions of this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 Section V.  The Community Development Director is hereby authorized to amend the 
Future Land Use to comply with this ordinance. 

240



ORDINANCE NO. 2648 
PAGE 2 
 

 

Section VI. Effective Date. 
 
 This Ordinance shall become effective upon adoption. 
 
 ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, this 
 6th day of June, 2018 
 

 
READ FIRST TIME:  

 
May 16, 2018 

 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:  

 
 
June 6, 2018 

 
 
 ______________________________________ 
       Bryan Nelson, Mayor                         
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
 
DULY ADVERTISED FOR HEARING: April 24, 2018; May 25, 2018 

 

241



ORDINANCE NO. 2648 
PAGE 3 
 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 
Janine and Richard Edmondson 

1 +/- acres  
Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From: “County” Rural  
To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” A-2 

To: R-1AA 
Parcel ID #: 24-20-27-0000-00-085 

 
 

 

 

242



 
CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 6, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 

X OTHER: Ordinance  Vicinity Map 

    Future Land Use Map 

    Adjacent Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 
    Ordinance No. 2649 

  
SUBJECT:    ORDINANCE 2649 – CHANGE OF ZONING – JANINE AND RICHARD 

EDMONDSON 

    

REQUEST:  SECOND READING & ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE 2649 – CHANGE OF 

ZONING – JANINE AND RICHARD EDMONDSON – FROM “COUNTY” A-2 TO 

“CITY” R-1AA (SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL 
  
SUMMARY:  

 

OWNERS/APPLICANTS: Janine and Richard Edmondson 

 

LOCATION: 3904 Plymouth Sorrento Road  

 

PARCEL ID NUMBER: 24-20-27-0000-00-085 

 

EXISTING USE: Single Family Home 

 

CURRENT ZONING:  “County” A-2  

 

EXISTING DEVELOPMENT: Single Family Home 

 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” R-1AA (Note: this Change of Zoning request is being processed along with 

a request to amend the Future Land Use from “County” Rural to “City” Residential 
Very Low Suburban (0-2 du/ac) 

 
TRACT SIZE:   1.0 +/- acres  

 

MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 

DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING: Single Family Home 

    PROPOSED:  2 Single Family Homes 

  
FUNDING SOURCE:   N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 
G:\CommDev\PLANNING ZONING//Rezoning/2018/Rochelle 
  

243



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EDMONDSON - REZONING  
PAGE 2 
 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  Presently, the subject property has not yet been assigned a “City” zoning 
category.  The applicant is requesting the City to assign a zoning classification of R-1AA (Single Family 
Residential) to the property. 
 
The subject parcel was annexed into the city on April 18, 2018 by Ordinance Number 2641 
 
A request to assign a change of zoning to R-1AA is compatible to the adjacent zoning classifications and 
with the general character of abutting properties and surrounding area. The change of zoning request is 
being processed in conjunction with a future land use amendment from “County” Rural to “City” 
Residential Very Low Suburban. 
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The existing and proposed use of the property is consistent 

with the proposed Residential Very Low Suburban (0-2 du / ac) Future Land Use designation. 
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:   The proposed future land use change will result in an insignificant 
increase (less than 9) in the number of residential units which could be developed at the subject property.  
Therefore, the property is exempt from school capacity enhancement per the School Interlocal Planning 
Agreement. 
 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION:  The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on April 2, 2018.  

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE:  

May 8, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

May 16, 2018 - City Council (1:30 pm) - 1st Reading 

June 6, 2018 – City Council (7:00 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  

 

DULY ADVERTISED:  

April 24, 2018 – Public Notice and Notification 

May 25, 2018 – Public Notice 

   
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  

 
The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 
Change of Zoning from “County” A-2 to “City” R-1AA for the property owned by Janine and Richard 
Edmondson, and located at 3904 Plymouth Sorrento Rd. 
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on May 8, 2018, found the proposed amendment consistent with 
the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas; and unanimously 
recommended approval of the proposed Change of Zoning from “County” A-2 to “City” R-1AA for the 
property owned by Janine and Richard Edmondson, and located at 3904 Plymouth Sorrento Rd. 
 
The City Council, at its meeting on May 16, 2018, accepted the first reading of Ordinance 2649, and held it over for 
Second Reading and Adoption on June 6, 2018.  
 
Adopt Ordinance No. 2649. 
 
Note: This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 
into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

244



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EDMONDSON - REZONING  
PAGE 3 
 

LAND USE REPORT 

 

I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) “County” Rural “County” A-2 Greenhouse 

East (City) “City” Residential Very Low Suburban “City” R-1AAA Agriculture 

South (County) “County” Rural “County” A-2 Single Family Home 

West (County) “County” Rural “County” A-2 Greenhouse 

 

LAND USE & TRAFFIC  

COMPATIBILITY: The property is currently accessed by Plymouth Sorrento Rd.   

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  

COMPLIANCE:  The proposed R-1AA zoning is consistent with the proposed Future 

Land Use designation, “Residential Very Low Suburban” (0-2 du / ac) 

and with the character of the surrounding area and future proposed 

development. Development Plans shall not exceed the density 

allowed in the adopted Future Land Use designation.   
          

ALLOWABLE USES:   
1. Single-family dwellings and their customary accessory 

structures and uses in accordance with article VII of this code. 

 

2. Guest/granny quarters in accordance with article VII of this 

code. 

 

ZONING SETBACKS: 

 

Minimum Site Area 12,500 sq. ft. 

Minimum Lot 

Width 
95 ft. 

Front 
25 ft. (30 ft for front loaded 

garages) 

Side 10 ft. 

Rear 20 ft.  

Corner 25 ft.  

Minimum Living 

Area 
1,700 sq. ft.  

 

 

  

245



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EDMONDSON - REZONING  
PAGE 4 
 

Janine and Richard Edmondson 
1 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: “County” Rural  

To: “City” Residential Very Low Suburban 
Proposed Change of Zoning: 

From: “County” A-2 
To: R-1AA 

Parcel ID #: 24-20-27-0000-00-085 
 

VICINITY MAP 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

246



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EDMONDSON - REZONING  
PAGE 5 
 

 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 
 

  

247



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EDMONDSON - REZONING  
PAGE 6 
 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 
 

 

 

 

248



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EDMONDSON - REZONING  
PAGE 7 
 

 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

249



ORDINANCE NO. 2649 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 

THE ZONING FROM “COUNTY” A-2 TO “CITY” R-1AA (SINGLE 

FAMILY RESIDENTIAL) FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY 

GENERALLY LOCATED WEST OF PLYMOUTH SORRENTO ROAD 

AND SOUTH OF APPY LANE, COMPRISING 1 ACRE MORE OR LESS, 

AND OWNED BY JANINE AND RICHARD EDMONDSON; PROVIDING 

FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY, CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE 

DATE. 

 WHEREAS, to manage the growth, the City of Apopka, Florida, finds it in the best interest 

of the public health, safety and welfare of its citizens to establish zoning classifications within the 

City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has requested a change in zoning on said property as 

identified in Section I of this ordinance; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the proposed R-1AA (Single Family Residential) zoning has been found to 

be consistent with the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan, and the City of Apopka Land 

Development Code. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

 Section I. That the zoning classification of the following described property be designated 

as Single Family Residential (R-1AA), as defined in the Apopka Land Development Code, and 

with the following provisions subject to the following zoning provisions: 

 

 Section II.  That the zoning classification is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan of the 

City of Apopka, Florida. 

 

 Section III.  That the Community Development Director, or the Director’s designee, is 

hereby authorized to amend, alter, and implement the official zoning maps of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, to include said designation.   

 

 Section IV. That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force or effect of any other section or portion of section or subsection or part of this 

ordinance. 

 

 Section V.  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed.   

 

  

250



ORDINANCE NO. 2649 

PAGE 2 
 

Section VI.  That this Ordinance shall take effect upon adoption of 2648. 

 
 
 

           Bryan Nelson, Mayor                                  
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: April 24, 2018; May 25, 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

READ FIRST TIME:  May 16, 2018 
 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     

 
 
June 6, 2018 

 
 
 
 

 

251



ORDINANCE NO. 2649 

PAGE 3 

 

Janine and Richard Edmondson 

1 +/- acres  
Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From: “County” Rural  
To: “City” Residential Low Suburban 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” A-2 

To: “City” R-1AA 
Parcel ID #: 24-20-27-0000-00-085 

 

VICINITY MAP 
 

 

 

 

252



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 6, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 

X OTHER:   Vicinity Map 
    Future Land Use Map 
    Adjacent Zoning 
    Adjacent Uses 
    Ordinance No. 2650 

  
SUBJECT:    ORDINANCE 2650 - COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – SMALL SCALE - FUTURE 

LAND USE AMENDMENT – SUNTRUST BANK 
    
REQUEST:  SECOND READING & ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE 2650 – COMPREHENSIVE 

PLAN – SMALL SCALE – FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – SUNTRUST 
BANK– FROM “COUNTY” COMMERCIAL (MAX 3.0 FAR) TO “CITY” 
COMMERCIAL (MAX 0.25 FAR) 

  
SUMMARY:  
 
OWNER: SunTrust Bank 
 
APPLICANT: Casseaux, Hewett, and Walpole 
 
LOCATION: 920 E. Semoran Blvd.  
 
PARCEL ID NUMBER: 11-21-28-0750-00-050 
 
EXISTING USE: Vacant 
 
CURRENT ZONING:  “County” R-2  
 
DEVELOPMENT  
POTENTIAL:    4,055 sq. ft. commercial space   
 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” C-1 (Note: this Future Land Use amendment request is being processed along 

with a request to change the zoning classification from “County” R-2 to “City” C-1 
(Retail Commercial).  

 
TRACT SIZE:   0.37 +/- acres  
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT:  EXISTING: 48,351 sq. ft.   
    PROPOSED: 4,029 sq. ft.  
  
FUNDING SOURCE:  N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 
G:\CommDev\PLANNING ZONING/Small Scale Flu Amends/2018/SunTrust 
 253



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

SUNTRUST BANK - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 2 
 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The subject parcel was annexed in the city on April 18, 2018 by Ordinance 
2642.  Presently, the subject property does not have a “city” future land use designation or “city” zoning 
classification assigned. The applicant requests a future land use designation of “city” Commercial.  
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is consistent with the 
Commercial Future Land Use designation.  Site development cannot exceed the intensity allowed by the 
Future Land Use policies.   Planning & Zoning staff determines that the below policies support a 
Commercial FLUM designation at the subject site:  
 
Future Land Use Element 
 

1. Policy 3.1.i 
 
Commercial 
 

Primary uses shall be for business, commerce, and convenience shopping which may be 
neighborhood or community oriented. The maximum floor area ratio shall be .25 gross floor area. 
Institutional land uses of less than five acres; and public facilities or utilities of less than five 
acres. 
 
The expansion of strip commercial areas shall be prohibited except in infill areas.  

 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:   The proposed future land use change will not generate any new school-
age population, making it exempt from school capacity enhancement and school concurrency.  
 
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION:  The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 
any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on April 2, 2018.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE:  
May 8, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 
May 16, 2018 - City Council (7:00 pm) - 1st Reading 
June 6, 2018 – City Council (1:30 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  
 
DULY ADVERTISED:  
April 24, 2018 – Public Notice and Notification 
May 25, 2018 – Public Notice 
 
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on May 8, 2018, found the proposed Future Land Use 
amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding 
areas; and unanimously recommended approval of the change of Future Land Use Designation from 
“County” Commercial to “City” Commercial, subject to the findings of the Staff Report. 
 
The City Council, at its meeting on May 16, 2018, accepted the First Reading of Ordinance 2650, and held 
it over for Second Reading and Adoption on June 6, 2018.  
 
Adopt Ordinance No. 2650. 
 
Note: This item is considered legislative.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into 
and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

254



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

SUNTRUST BANK - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 3 
 

LAND USE REPORT 

 

I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) “County” Commercial “County” C-3 Agriculture and Single Family Homes 

East (City) “City” Commercial “City” C-1 Subdivision (Chandler Estates) 

South (City and County) “City” Commercial “City” C-2 Single Family Homes 

West (County) “City” Commercial “City” C-2 Single Family Home 

 

II. LAND USE ANALYSIS: 

 

The subject property is located on a site that is ideal for commercial use, which makes the request for a 

Commercial future land use designation consistent with the Comprehensive Plan policies listed above, as 

well as the general future land use character of the surrounding area. 

 

Properties at all cardinal directions are zoned for commercial usage, and the subject property is adjacent to 

an arterial road, East Semoran Boulevard.  

 

The proposed Commercial future land use designation is consistent with the general future land use 

character of the surrounding area.  

 

 Wekiva River Protection Area: No 

 Area of Critical State Concern: No 

 DRI / FQD: No  

 

 Transportation:  Road access to the site is from Semoran Boulevard 

 

 Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act: The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the 

adopted Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  The proposed amendment is consistent with the 

adopted mandates and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) amendment has been 

reviewed against the best available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater resources.  The City of 

Apopka's adopted Comprehensive Plan addresses aquifer recharge and stormwater run-off through the 

following policies: 

 

 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2 

 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 

 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 

 

Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection shows that there are karst features in the vicinity of this property.   

 

 Analysis of the character of the Property:  The property comprises mostly of grasslands, with some 

tree cover. Additionally, the property has a single family home. 

 

  

  
255



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

SUNTRUST BANK - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 4 
 

Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: The proposed future 

land use designation for the property is Commercial (Max. 0.25 FAR).  Based on the housing element of 

the City's Comprehensive Plan, this amendment will not increase the City’s future population. 

 

 Housing Needs: This amendment will not negatively impact the housing needs as projected in the 

Comprehensive Plan.   

 

 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: A habitat study is required 

for developments greater than ten (10) acres in size.  At the time the Master Site Plan or Preliminary 

Development Plan is submitted to the City, the development applicant must conduct a species survey and 

submit a habitat management plan if any threatened or endangered species are identified within the project 

site. 

 

 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to 

Chapter 3 of the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. 

 

 Sanitary Sewer Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None; 81 GPD/Capita ; 81 

GPD / Capita 

 

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 

 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:  7,253    GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    604  GPD 

   

4. Capacity available:  Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation: 81  GPD/Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  81 GPD/Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: 

None 

 

 Potable Water Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard: None; 177 GPD/Capita ; 177 

GPD / Capita 

  

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider:  City of Apopka 

  

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:     9,670  GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:   806  GPD 

 

4. Capacity available: Yes 

 
256



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

SUNTRUST BANK - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 5 
 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD / Capita 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 

 

8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  Yes 

 

 Solid Waste 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:  City of Apopka 

 

2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of 

Apopka 

 

3. Projected LOS under existing designation:     97    lbs/  day 

 

4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:    8    lbs /  day 

 

5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None  

 

 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 

development approval. 

 

 Infrastructure Information 

 

 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 

 

 Permitting agency: St. John’s River Water Management District 

 

 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  9.353  MGD 

 

 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33.696  MGD 

 

 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 

 

 Drainage Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site:   None 

 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm  

 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm 

 

4. Improvement/expansion: On site retention / detention ponds 
257



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

SUNTRUST BANK - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 6 
 

 

 Recreation 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System ;  3 acre / 1000 

capita 

 

2. Projected facility under existing designation:  N/A  acres 

 

3. Projected facility under proposed designation:  N/A    acres 

 

4. Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 

 

Standards set forth in the City’s Land Development Code will require any development plans to provide 

parkland and recreation facilities and open space for residents residing with the new development. 

 

This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 

development approval. 

  

258



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

SUNTRUST BANK - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 7 
 

SunTrust Bank 
0.37 +/- acres  

Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: “County” Commercial  

To: “City” Commercial 
Proposed Change of Zoning: 

From: “County” R-2 
To: “City” C-1 

Parcel ID #: 11-21-28-0750-00-050 
 
 

VICINITY MAP 

  259



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

SUNTRUST BANK - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 8 
 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 
260



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

SUNTRUST BANK - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 9 
 

 
 

 

 

 261



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

SUNTRUST BANK - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT 
PAGE 10 
 

 

 

AERIAL MAP 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

262



 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2650 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING THE 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM “COUNTY” COMMERCIAL 

TO “CITY” COMMERCIAL FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY 

GENERALLY LOCATED SOUTH OF EAST SEMORAN BOULEVARD 

AND EAST OF SOUTH SHEELER AVENUE, COMPRISING 0.37 ACRES, 

MORE OR LESS AND OWNED BY SUNTRUST BANK; PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka adopted the Apopka Comprehensive 
Plan by Ordinance No. 653 on October 2, 1991, pursuant to Section 163.3184, Florida Statutes 
and most recently amended it by Ordinance No. 2606 on December 20, 2017; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka’s local planning agency (Planning Commission) has, in 
preparation of the amended version of the Apopka Comprehensive Plan, analyzed the proposed 
amendment pursuant to Chapter 163, Part II, F.S., found it to be consistent with the intent of the 
Apopka Comprehensive Plan, and held public hearings providing for full public participation. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 
Florida, as follows: 
 
 Section I. Purpose and Intent. 
 
 This Ordinance is enacted to carry out the purpose and intent of, and exercise the authority 
set out in, the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation 
Act, Sections 163.3184 and 163.3187, Florida Statutes. 
 
 Section II. Future Land Use Element. 
  
 Page 1-15 (Map 1-3) of the Future Land Use Element of the City of Apopka 
Comprehensive Plan, as most recently amended by Ordinance No. 2606, is amended in its entirety 
to change the land use from “County” Commercial (Max. FAR 3.0) to “City” Commercial (Max. 
FAR 0.25), for certain real property generally located South of East Semoran Boulevard and East 
of South Sheeler Road,  comprising 0.37 acres more or less, and owned by SunTrust Bank; as 
further described in Exhibit “A” attached hereto. 
 
 Section III. Applicability and Effect. 
 
 The applicability and effect of the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan shall be as provided 
by the Local Government Comprehensive Planning and Land Development Regulation Act, 
Sections 163.3161 through 163.3215, Florida Statutes. 
 
 Section IV.  Severability. 
 
 If any provision or portion of this Ordinance is declared by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be void, unconstitutional, or unenforceable, then all remaining provisions and 
portions of this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 

263



 

 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 2650 
PAGE 2 
 
 
 Section V.  The Community Development Director is hereby authorized to amend the 
Future Land Use to comply with this ordinance. 
 
 Section VI. Effective Date. This Ordinance shall become effective upon adoption. 
 
 ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, this 
6th day of June 2018. 
 

 
READ FIRST TIME:  

 
May 16, 2018 

 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     

 
 
June 6, 2018 

 
 
 
 ______________________________________ 
       Bryan Nelson, Mayor                         
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
 
DULY ADVERTISED FOR HEARING: April 24, 2018; May 25, 2018 

  

264



 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 
ORDINANCE NO. 2650 

SunTrust Bank 
Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From: “County” Commercial (Max. 3.0 FAR) 
To: “City” Commercial (Max 0.25 FAR)  

Parcel ID #:  11-21-28-0750-00-050 
Acreage: 0.37 +/- 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

265



 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2651 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 

THE ZONING FROM “COUNTY” R-2 TO “CITY” C-1 (COMMERCIAL 

RETAIL) FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED 

EAST OF SOUTH SHEELER AVENUE AND SOUTH OF EAST SEMORAN 

BOULEVARD, COMPRISING 0.37 ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND 

OWNED BY SUNTRUST BANK; PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO 

THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY, 

CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, to manage the growth, the City of Apopka, Florida, finds it in the best interest 

of the public health, safety and welfare of its citizens to establish zoning classifications within the 

City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has requested a change in zoning on said property as 

identified in Section I of this ordinance; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the proposed C-1 (Commercial Retail) zoning has been found to be consistent 

with the City of Apopka Comprehensive Plan, and the City of Apopka Land Development Code. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

 Section I. That the zoning classification of the following described property be designated 

as Commercial Retail (C-1), as defined in the Apopka Land Development Code, and with the 

following provisions subject to the following zoning provisions: 

 

 Section II.  That the zoning classification is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan of the 

City of Apopka, Florida. 

 

 Section III.  That the Community Development Director, or the Director’s designee, is 

hereby authorized to amend, alter, and implement the official zoning maps of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, to include said designation.   

 

 Section IV. That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force or effect of any other section or portion of section or subsection or part of this 

ordinance. 

 

 Section V.  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed.   

  

266



ORDINANCE NO. 2651 
PAGE 2 
 

 

Section VI.  That this Ordinance shall take effect upon adoption of Ordinance No. 2650. 
 
 

             Bryan Nelson, Mayor                                  
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: April 24, 2018; May 25, 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

READ FIRST TIME:  May 16, 2018 
 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     

 
 
June 6, 2018 

 
 
 
 

 

267



ORDINANCE NO. 2651 
PAGE 3 

SunTrust Bank 

0.37 +/- acres  
Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From: “County” Commercial  
To: “City” Commercial 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” R-2  

To: “City” C-1 
Parcel ID #: 11-21-28-0750-00-050  

 

VICINITY MAP 
 

 

268



 
CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 6, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 

X OTHER:   Vicinity Map 

    Adjacent Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 

    Ordinance No. 2651 
  
SUBJECT:    ORDINANCE 2651 - CHANGE OF ZONING – SUNTRUST BANK 

    

REQUEST:  SECOND READING & ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE 2651 – CHANGE OF 

ZONING – SUNTRUST BANK – FROM “COUNTY” R-2 TO “CITY” C-1 

(COMMERCIAL RETAIL) 
  
SUMMARY:  

 
OWNER:    SunTrust Bank 
 
APPLICANT:    Causseaux, Hewett, and Walpole, Inc. 
 
LOCATION:  920 E Semoran Blvd  
 
PARCEL ID NUMBER:  11-21-28-0750-00-050 
 
EXISTING USE:   Vacant  
 
CURRENT ZONING:   “County” R-2  
 
DEVELOPMENT POTENTAIL: 4,029 sq. ft. commercial space 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: “City” C-1 (Commercial Retail) (Note: this Change of Zoning request is 

being processed along with a request to amend the Future Land Use from 
“County” Commercial (Max. 3.0 FAR) to “City” Commercial (Max. 0.25 
FAR) 

 
TRACT SIZE:    0.37 +/- acres 
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT UNDER EXISTING:  48,351 sq. ft. commercial space 
ZONING DISTRICT:                          PROPOSED:  4,029 sq. ft. commercial space 
  
FUNDING SOURCE:  N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 
G:\CommDev\PLANNING ZONING\REZONING\2018\Suntrust 
  

269



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

SUNTRUST BANK - REZONING 
PAGE 2 
 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS: Presently, the subject property has not been assigned a “City” zoning 
category.  The applicant is requesting the City to assign a zoning classification of C-1 (Commercial Retail) 
to the property. 
 
The subject parcel was annexed into the city on April 18, 2018 by Ordinance Number 2642 
 
A request to assign a change of zoning to C-1 is compatible to the adjacent zoning classifications and with 
the general character of abutting properties and surrounding area. The change of zoning request is being 
processed in conjunction with a future land use amendment from “County” Commercial to “City” 
Commercial. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The existing and proposed use of the property is consistent 
with the proposed C-1 (Commercial Retail) Future Land Use designation. 
 
SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT: The proposed future land use change will result in commercial 
development and non-residential uses that will not impact student enrollment at Orange County Public 
Schools Therefore, the property is exempt from school capacity enhancement and school concurrency per 
the School Interlocal Planning Agreement. 
  
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on April 2, 2018.  
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
May 8, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

May 16, 2018 - City Council (7:00 pm) - 1st Reading 

June 6, 2018 – City Council (1:30 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  
 
DULY ADVERTISED:  
April 24, 2018 - Public Notice and Notification 

May 25, 2018 – Public Notice 

   
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 
The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 
Change of Zoning from “County” R-2 to “City”C-1 for the property owned by SunTrust Bank, and located 
at 920 E Semoran Blvd.  
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on May 8, 2018, found the proposed amendment consistent with 
the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas; and unanimously 
recommended approval of the proposed Change of Zoning from “County” R-2 to “City”C-1 for the property 
owned by SunTrust Bank, and located at 920 E Semoran Blvd. 
 
The City Council, at its meeting on May 16, 2018, accepted the First Reading of Ordinance 2651 and held 
it over for Second Reading and Adoption on June 6, 2018.  
 
Adopt Ordinance No. 2651. 
 
Note: This item is considered Quasi-Judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 
into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

  

270



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

SUNTRUST BANK - REZONING 
PAGE 3 
 

ZONING REPORT 
 
RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) “County” Commercial “County” C-3 Retail Uses 

East (City) “City” Commercial “City” C-1 and C-2 Auto Parts Vendor and Vacant Lot 

South (City) “City” Commercial “City” C-2 Vacant  

West (City) Commercial “City” C-1 and C-2 Bank and Vacant Lots 

 

LAND USE & TRAFFIC  

COMPATIBILITY: The property is currently accessed by East Semoran Blvd. 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  

COMPLIANCE:  The proposed C-1 zoning is consistent with the proposed Future Land 

Use designation, “Commercial” (Max 0.25 FAR) and with the 

character of the surrounding area and future proposed development. 

Development Plans shall not exceed the density allowed in the 

adopted Future Land Use designation.   
    

ALLOWABLE USES:   

 

1. Any nonresidential permitted use in the PO/I or CN districts. 

2. Retail establishments. 

3. Banks, savings and loan and other financial institutions. 

4. Bowling alleys, skating rinks, billiard parlors and similar 

amusement centers, provided such activities and facilities are 

enclosed within a sound-proof building. 

5. Churches and schools. 

6. Day nurseries, kindergartens and other child care centers. 

7. Drive-in restaurants, with property lines no closer than 200 feet 

from any residential districts or uses. 

8. Florist shops, the products of which are displayed and sold 

wholly within an enclosed building. 

9. Hotels, motels, bed and breakfast facilities. 

10. Personal service establishments such as barbershops, beauty 

parlors, professional and other offices, parking garages and lots, 

laundry and dry cleaning pickup station, self-service coin-

operated laundry and dry cleaning establishments, shoe shine 

and repair, tailoring, travel services, watch and clock repair and 

locksmiths, etc. 

271



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

SUNTRUST BANK - REZONING 
PAGE 4 
 

11.  Post offices. 

12.  Restaurants. 

13.  Theaters, enclosed in structures. 

14.  Clubs and lodges. 

15.  Funeral parlors, when the sole use of the facility shall be for 

funeral rites. 

16.  Animal clinics for the treatment of small animals, excluding 

farm animals, but including those animals no larger than a dog, 

commonly kept as pets in a residence, provided the care, 

treatment or housing of such animals shall not be allowed on the 

outside. 

17.  Other uses which are similar and compatible to the uses 

permitted herein which adhere to the intent of the district and 

which are not prohibited as specified in this code. Use 

determination shall be based upon the community development 

director's recommendation. 

  

272



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

SUNTRUST BANK - REZONING 
PAGE 5 
 

 

SunTrust Bank 

0.37 +/- acres  
Proposed Small Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From: “County” Commercial  
To: “City” Commercial 

Proposed Change of Zoning: 
From: “County” R-2 

To: “City” C-1 
Parcel ID #: 11-21-28-0750-00-050  

 

VICINITY MAP 
  

273



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

SUNTRUST BANK - REZONING 
PAGE 6 
 

 
 

ADJACENT ZONING MAP 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
274



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

SUNTRUST BANK - REZONING 
PAGE 7 
 

 

 

AERIAL MAP 
 

 

 

Subject Parcels 

275



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 6, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 

X OTHER: Ordinance  Vicinity Map 

    Adjacent Zoning Map 

    Adjacent Uses Map 

    Ordinance No. 2653 
  
SUBJECT:    ORDINANCE 2653 - CHANGE OF ZONING – LAURA R. MURPHY 

    

REQUEST:  SECOND READING & ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE 2653 – CHANGE OF 

ZONING – LAURA MURPHY – FROM AGRICULTURE TO R-1 (SINGLE 

FAMILY RESIDENTIAL); AND HOLD OVER FOR SECOND READING 

FOR ADOPTION. 
  
SUMMARY:  

 
OWNER/APPLICANT:  Laura R. Murphy 
 
LOCATION:  359 W. Lester Road 
 
PARCEL ID NO:  28-20-28-0000-00-060 
 
CURRENT ZONING:  Agriculture 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: R-1 (Single Family Residential)  
 
EXISTING USE:   Errol Equestrian Center  
 
DEVELOPMENT POTENTAIL: 52 Single Family Homes (Proposed) 
 
TRACT SIZE:    19.94 +/- acres 
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT UNDER  EXISTING: 1 single family home 
ZONING DISTRICT:                         PROPOSED: 69 single family homes 
  
FUNDING SOURCE:  N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 

G:\CommDev\PLANNING ZONING\REZONING\2018\Laura Murphy 

276



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

LAURA R. MURPHY - REZONING 
PAGE 2 
 
ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The future land use, for the subject parcel, was amended on May 2, 2018 
from “Agriculture” to “Residential Low Suburban”. The existing Future Land Use, “Residential Low 
Suburban” and the proposed zoning, “R-1”, are the same conditions as the nearby subdivision, “Rock 
Springs Estates”.  
 
A request to assign a change of zoning to R-1 is compatible to the adjacent zoning classifications and with 
the general character of abutting properties and surrounding area.  
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The existing and proposed use of the property is consistent 
with the proposed Residential Low Suburban (0-3.5 du / ac) Future Land Use designation. 
 
ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on April 2, 2018. 

 

ORANGE COUNTY PUBLIC SCHOOLS:  The applicant obtained a Capacity Enhancement Agreement 

(CEA) with Orange County Public Schools (OCPS) prior to the subject property’s Future Land Use 

amendment on May 2, 2018. The applicant is required to obtain a concurrency mitigation agreement prior 

to adoption of the Final Development Plan. 

 

Elementary School: Rock Springs Elementary 

Middle School: Apopka Middle School 

High School: Apopka High School 
 
PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 
May 8, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

May 16, 2018 - City Council (7:00 pm) - 1st Reading 

June 6, 2018 – City Council (1:30 pm) – 2nd Reading and Adoption  
 
DULY ADVERTISED:  

April 24, 2018 - Public Notice and Notification 

May 25, 2018 – Public Notice 

  
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 

The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas, recommending approval of the proposed 
Change of Zoning from Agriculture to R-1 for the property owned by Laura Murphy, and located at 359 W. 
Lester Road 
 
The Planning Commission, at its meeting on May 8, 2018, found the proposed amendment consistent with 
the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding areas; and unanimously 
recommended approval of the proposed Change of Zoning from Agriculture to R-1 for the property owned 
by Laura Murphy, and located at 359 W. Lester Rd.  
 
The City Council, at its meeting on May 16, 2018, accepted the First Reading of Ordinance No. 2653, and 
held it over for Second Reading and Adoption on June 6, 2018.  
 
Adopt Ordinance No. 2653. 
 
Note: This item is considered Quasi-Judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 
into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

277



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

LAURA R. MURPHY - REZONING 
PAGE 3 
 

ZONING REPORT 
 
RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (County) “County” Low Density Residential “County” A-1 Woodlands 

East (City) “City” Agriculture “City”AG Bird Reconditioning Center 

South (City and 

County) 

“City” Residential Low & “County” Low 

Medium Density Residential 

“City” R-2 & 

“County” A-2 

Single Family Homes 

West (County) “County” Low Density Residential “County” A-1 Greenhouse 

 

LAND USE & TRAFFIC  

COMPATIBILITY: The property is currently accessed by W. Lester Rd. A multi-use trail, 

which links to the West Orange Trail, is on the south side of W. Lester 

Road. The Rock Springs Estates Subdivision, sharing the same future 

land use and proposed zoning is southwest of the subject property. 

East adjacent of the subject property is the Avian Reconditioning 

Center. 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  

COMPLIANCE:  The proposed R-1 zoning is consistent with the proposed Future Land 

Use designation, “Residential Low Suburban” (0-3.5 du / ac) and with 

the character of the surrounding area and future proposed 

development. Development Plans shall not exceed the density 

allowed in the adopted Future Land Use designation.   
          

ALLOWABLE USES:   

1. Single-family dwellings and their customary accessory 

structures and uses in accordance with article VII of this code. 

 

2. Guest/granny quarters in accordance with article VII of this 

code. 

 

R-1 ZONING REGULATIONS: Minimum Site Area: 8,000 sq. ft. 

Minimum Lot Width: 75 ft. 

Front Setback: 25 ft. (30 ft. for front loaded garages) 

Side Setback: 10 ft. 

Rear Setback: 20 ft. 

Corner Setback: 25 ft. 

Minimum Living Area: 1,500 sq. ft.  

 

  

278



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

LAURA R. MURPHY - REZONING 
PAGE 4 
 

Laura R. Murphy, Property Owner 

+/- 19.94 
Rezoning 

From: Agriculture  
To: R-1 (Single Family Residential)  

Parcel ID # 28-20-28-0000-00-060 
 

VICINITY MAP 
  

279



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

LAURA R. MURPHY - REZONING 
PAGE 5 
 

 

 

 
ADJACENT ZONING MAP 

 

 

 

280



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

LAURA R. MURPHY - REZONING 
PAGE 6 
 

 

 

ADJACENT USES MAP 
 

 

 

281



ORDINANCE NO. 2653 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA CHANGING 
THE ZONING FROM AGRICULTURE TO R-1 (SINGLE FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL) FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT 359 
WEST LESTER ROAD, COMPRISING 19.94 ACRES, MORE OR LESS 
AND OWNED BY LAURA MURPHY; PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS 
TO THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY, 
CONFLICTS, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
 WHEREAS, to manage the growth, the City of Apopka, Florida, finds it in the best interest of 
the public health, safety and welfare of its citizens to establish zoning classifications within the City; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, Laura Murphy has requested a change in zoning on said property as identified in 

Section I of this ordinance; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the proposed R-1 zoning has been found to be consistent with the City of Apopka 
Comprehensive Plan, and the City of Apopka Land Development Code. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 
Florida, as follows: 
 
 Section I.  That the zoning classification of the following described property, being situated in 
the City of Apopka, Florida, is hereby R-1, as defined in the Apopka Land Development Code.  
 
 Legal Description: 
 
 THE W1/2 OF SE1/4 OF SW1/4 SEC 28-20-28 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Parcel ID No: 28-20-28-0000-00-060 

Contains: 19.94 +/- Acres 

282



ORDINANCE NO. 2653 

PAGE 2 

 

 

Section II.  That the zoning classification is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan of the 

City of Apopka, Florida. 

 

Section III.  That the Community Development Director, or the Director’s designee, is 

hereby authorized to amend, alter, and implement the official zoning maps of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, to include said designation.   

 

Section IV. That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance 

proves to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the 

validity, force or effect of any other section or portion of section or subsection or part of this 

ordinance. 

 

Section V.  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed.   

  
 

                     

  
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: April 24, 2018; May 25, 2018 

 

 

READ FIRST TIME: May 16, 2018 
 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:     

 
 
June 6, 2018 

 
 
 
  
Bryan Nelson, Mayor 

283



CITY OF APOPKA 
CITY COUNCIL 

 
 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 6, 2018 

X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Zoning Report 

X OTHER: Master Plan   Vicinity Map 

    Adjacent Zoning Map 
    Adjacent Uses Map 
    Existing Use Map 
    Ordinance No. 2656 

    Ex. A – Master Plan 
  

SUBJECT:  ORDINANCE NO. 2656 - CHANGE OF ZONING – AHIFO-18, LLC 

 
REQUEST: FIRST READING OF ORDINANCE NO. 2656 - CHANGE OF ZONING – 

AHIFO-18, LLC, FROM “COUNTY” PD (ZIP – PLANNED DEVELOPMENT) 

TO “CITY” KPI-MU (KELLY PARK INTERCHANGE    MIXED USE); 

ASSIGNMENT OF KELLY PARK INTERCHANGE NEIGHBORHOOD 

OVERLAY DISTRICT; APPROVAL OF MASTER PLAN – BRIDLE PATH 

SUBDIVISION; AND HOLD OVER FOR SECOND READING AND 

ADOPTION. 
  
SUMMARY: 

 
OWNER:    AHIFO-18, LLC 
 
APPLICANT:    VHB – c/o Jim Hall  
 
LOCATION: West of Plymouth-Sorrento Road and east of SR 429, approximately  

one-half mile north of the intersection of Kelly Park Road and 
Plymouth-Sorrento Road 

 
PARCEL ID NUMBERS:  12-20-27-0000-00-032; 12-20-27-0000-00-090 
 
 
EXISTING USE: Vacant, abandoned two story house and horse stables 
 
FLUM DESIGNATION:  Orange County Rural Settlement  
 
CURRENT ZONING: Orange County Planned Development (PD/ZIP) 
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT: 152 single family homes (all 50-t. wide lots; 110 ft. typical depth) 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: Kelly Park Interchange Mixed-Use (KPI-MU) 
 
TRACT SIZE:    51 +/- acres 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
 284



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

BRIDLE PATH – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 2 
 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION: The owner of the subject property is requesting a rezoning of 51 acres 

of property from Orange County Planned Development (PD/ZIP) to Kelly Park Interchange Mixed-Use 

(KPI-MU), with a Neighborhood character zone to develop a single-family residential subdivision subject 

to the requirements of the Kelly Park Interchange Form Based Code. The subject property is comprised of 

two parcels and is located east of SR 429 and west of Plymouth-Sorrento Road, approximately one-half 

mile north of the intersection of Kelly Park Road and Plymouth-Sorrento Road. The owner of the properties 

is AHIFO-18, LLC.   

 

Development Profile: 

 

No. of residential lots: 152 single family homes, detached 

Minimum lot width:      50 feet (all lots 50 feet wide) 

Minimum lot depth: 110 feet (all lots 110 feet deep) 

Minimum lot size: 5,500 sq. ft. (all proposed\FBC has no minimum lot size) 

Minimum house livable area: 1,500 sq. ft. (proposed\FBC does not address) 

 

Setbacks:   

 Front: Min. 15 ft. – Max. 30 ft. 

 Rear: Min. 20 ft. 

 Side: Min. 5 ft. 

 Garage: Same as front 

Overflow Parking None 

Driveway length: Min. 15 ft. – Max. 30 ft. 

On-street parking: One side-of street provides parking (see Exhibit “C”) 

Max. number of floors: Two 

Parking: Two spaces per house within the lot (enclosed or exterior; FBC does 

not require enclosed parking) 

 

Amenities:   

 Pool house with cabana; no parking 

 Walking paths around stormwater ponds (concrete or asphalt surface on all paths) 

 Regional Trails:  two – along Plymouth-Sorrento Road, and internal along stormwater pond and 

wetland edges. 

 

In accordance with the requirements of the Kelly Park Interchange Form Based Code, the owner has 

submitted a Master Plan in conjunction with the rezoning application detailing the development of 152 

single-family homes on 51 acres. The property currently has a future land use designation of Orange County 

Rural Settlement. The property is located within the one-mile radius from the SR 429/Kelly Park Road 

interchange.   

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION: The Master Plan proposes development of the property with a total of 152 

single-family homes on 50-foot by 110-foot wide lots and a minimum living area of 1,500 square feet. There 

are no minimum and maximum lot size and living area requirements in the Form Based Code. Notes 

provided on the Master Plan indicate the project may be developed in multiple phases, with each phase 

determined upon submittal of the Final Development Plan. The Master Plan details design of the proposed 

subdivision in accordance with the requirements of the Kelly Park Interchange Form Based Code, and the 

Neighborhood character zone, which primarily allows single-family homes as permitted uses. The 

surrounding properties consist of single-family residential and agricultural uses.  285



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

BRIDLE PATH – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 3 
 

 

Access to the site is proposed via Plymouth-Sorrento Road. A dedication of a 30-foot wide strip for future 

right-of-way needs for Plymouth-Sorrento Road is detailed on the Master Plan. Behind this strip, a 30-foot 

area will be reserved for a landscape buffer along Plymouth-Sorrento Road. A wetland area exists in the 

northwest corner of the development. A spring is located within the wetland area. Per the Comprehensive 

Plan, a 300-foot buffer will be provided around the spring. Stormwater ponds are located in the southwestern 

corner of the site. Four-foot wide walking paths are provided around the perimeter of the ponds. 20-percent 

of the total site area will remain as open space in accordance with the requirements of the Form Based Code. 

Common recreation elements include a clubhouse with a pool, an internal trail system, preserved wetlands, 

upland buffers, and a park/stormwater facility.   

 

The Master Plan details the design of the internal street system with public streets utilizing a walkable grid 

design, which is a fused grid design that includes varied street, sidewalk and pedestrian pathways 

throughout a development that links developments. Three roadway connections will be provided to allow 

cross-access to the properties to the north and south at such time they develop. A 10-foot wide trail will be 

constructed within the development, and connections to the properties to the north and south will be 

provided to facilitate development of a regional trail system. A cul-de-sac is provided in the southwestern 

corner of the site, adjacent to the park and stormwater pond, and is provided to accommodate trail 

connection and to create an open space corridor along stormwater pond system and wetland area. Properties 

adjacent to the cul-de-sac will have access to the trail system which will allow pedestrian access to the 

common areas internal to the development. The developer will provide a 12-foot wide multi-purpose trail 

along the portion of the development abutting Plymouth-Sorrento Road to help facilitate the construction 

of the regional trail system. 

 

DEVELOPMENT AND ZONING CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL:  That the zoning classification of 

the following described property be designated as Kelly Park Interchange Mixed-Use (KPI-MU), 

Neighborhood character zone, as defined in the Kelly Park Interchange Form Based Code, and with the 

following provisions: 
 

1. Development of the property is subject to the requirements of the Kelly Park Interchange Form 

Based Code, Neighborhood character zone.  

 

2. The architectural design of the buildings must be consistent with Section K.2.g, and Appendix A of 

the Kelly Park Interchange Form Based Code.  

 

3. A 10-foot wide trail will be constructed within the development, connecting to future developments 

to the properties located to the north and south will be provided to facilitate development of a 

regional trail system, generally as shown on the Exhibit within the Staff Report. (Policy 20.19,  

FLUE; Sec. Q, FBC) 

 

4. A 12-foot wide multi-purpose trail will be constructed along the portion of the development abutting 

Plymouth-Sorrento Road to facilitate the construction of a regional trail system. (Policy 20.19, 

FLUE; Sec. Q, FBC).  The trail shall be placed in an easement or tract. 

 

5. Perpetual easements dedicated to the City of Apopka shall be provided over the internal pedestrian 

pathways and trail networks to allow public access. 

 286



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

BRIDLE PATH – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 4 
 

6. A minimum living area of 1,500 square feet shall be provided.  

 

7. A development agreement shall address the extension of utilities, dedication of rights-of-way, and 

public access to regional trail facilities. 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is consistent with the 

Mixed-Use Interchange Future Land Use designation and is consistent with the Kelly Park Interchange 

Form Based Code.   

 

SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT: A School Capacity Enhancement Agreement has been approved by 

OCPS. The location is served by the following schools: Zellwood Elementary, Wolf Lake Middle, and 

Wekiva High School.  No development activity shall occur on the subject property until the developer has 

obtained a school concurrency mitigation agreement or letter from OCPS.   

 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: Pursuant to Section 7 of the Joint Planning Area agreement, 

Orange County was notified on April 3, 2018.   

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 

May 8, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

June 6, 2018 - City Council (1:30 pm) - 1st Reading 

June 20, 2018 – City Council (7:00 pm) - 2nd Reading 

 

DULY ADVERTISED: 

April 27, 2018 - Public Notice; Letter, Poster 

April 27, 2018 - Public Notice  

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

 

The Development Review Committee finds the proposed rezoning to Kelly Park Interchange Mixed-Use 

(KPI-MU), and assignment of a Neighborhood character zone consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and 

Kelly Park Interchange Form Based Code, and recommends approval of the Bridle Path Master Plan. 

 

The Planning Commission, at its meeting on May 8, 2018, found the proposed amendment consistent with 

the Comprehensive Plan; and unanimously recommended approval of the proposed rezoning to Kelly Park 

Interchange Mixed-Use (KPI-MU), and assignment of a Neighborhood character zone, and Bridle Path 

Master Plan, subject to a minimum living area of 1,500 square feet being provided, and all internal multi-

use paths and the 12-foot path along Plymouth-Sorrento Road being constructed of either concrete or asphalt 

surface.  

 

City Council: Accept the First Reading of Ordinance No. 2656 and Hold it Over for Second Reading and         

Adoption on June 20, 2018.  

 

Note: This item is considered quasi-judicial.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated 

into and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

287



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

BRIDLE PATH – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 5 
 

ZONING REPORT 

 

RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City) Rural A-1 (ZIP) Single-family residential/woodlands 

East (County) Rural A-1 Woodlands/Plymouth-Sorrento Road 

South (City) Rural RCE-2 (ZIP) Equestrian track 

West (City) None SR 429 right-of-way  SR 429 

 
LAND USE &  
TRAFFIC COMPATIBILITY: The property is accessed via Plymouth-Sorrento Road. Internal streets 

are public and will be owned and maintained by the City of Apopka. 
Future land use designations and zoning categories assigned to 
properties to the north, south, east, and west are predominantly 
residential, and agricultural.    

 
COMPREHENSIVE 
PLAN COMPLIANCE:  The proposed Kelly Park Interchange Mixed-Use (KPI-MU) zoning 

is compatible with policies set forth in the Comprehensive Plan.  
 
ALLOWABLE 
USES:  Single-family residential uses as set forth within the Master Plan. 
  

288



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

BRIDLE PATH – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 6 
 

Project: BRIDLE PATH 

Owned by:  AHIFO-18, LLC 

Located: WEST OF PLYMOUTH-SORRENTO ROAD AND EAST OF SR 429 

Parcel ID#s: 12-20-27-0000-00-032, 12-20-27-0000-00-090 

 

VICINITY MAP 

 
 
 

 

289



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

BRIDLE PATH – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 7 
 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 
 

 

  

290



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

BRIDLE PATH – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 8 
 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 

 

 

 
 

 

 

  

291



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

BRIDLE PATH – CHANGE OF ZONING 
PAGE 9 
 

 

Kelly Park Crossing Form-Based Code Area 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Subject properties  

292



 

ORDINANCE 2656 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, CHANGING 

THE ZONING FROM “COUNTY” PLANNED DEVELOPMENT (PD/ZIP) 

TO “CITY” KELLY PARK INTERCHANGE MIXED-USE (KPI-MU), AND 

ASSIGNING A KELLY PARK CROSSING NEIGHBORHOOD OVERLAY 

DISTRICT,   FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED 

WEST OF PLYMOUTH-SORRENTO ROAD AND EAST OF SR 429, 

APPROXIMATEY ONE-HALF MILE NORTH OF THE INTERSECTION 

OF KELLY PARK ROAD AND PLYMOUTH-SORRENTO ROAD, 

COMPRISING 51 ACRES MORE OR LESS, AND OWNED BY AHIFO-18, 

LLC; PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, SEVERABILITY,CONFLICTS,AND AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 WHEREAS, to manage growth, the City of Apopka, Florida, finds it in the best interest of 

the public health, safety and welfare of its citizens to establish zoning classifications within the 

City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, AHIFO-18, LLC has requested a change in zoning on property as identified 

in Section II of this ordinance; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the subject property is located within the Kelly Park Interchange Form-Based 

Code Area; and 

 

 WHEREAS, if a site, or any portion of a site is located within a one mile radius of the 

interchange of Kelly Park Road and State Road 429, the entire site is subject to the form based 

standards contained within the Kelly Park Form-Based Code; and 

  

 WHEREAS, properties within the Kelly Park Interchange Form Based Code Area may be 

rezoned to the Kelly Park Interchange Mixed-Use (KPI-MU) zoning category; and  

 

WHEREAS, in conjunction with the rezone of property to Kelly Park Interchange Mixed 

Use, an overlay designation to assign a character zone to the site must be requested; and  

 

WHERAS, AHIFO-18, LLC has requested a rezoning to Kelly Park Interchange Mixed-

Use (KPI-MU) zoning, with the assignment of Neighborhood character zone; and  

 

WHEREAS, the proposed Kelly Park Interchange Mixed-Use (KPI-MU) zoning, and 

Neighborhood character zone has been found to be consistent with the City of Apopka 

Comprehensive Plan, and the Kelly Park Interchange Form Based Code. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows: 

 

293



ORDINANCE NO. 2656 

PAGE 2 

 

  

Section I.  That the zoning classification of the following described property be designated 

as Kelly Park Interchange Mixed-Use (KPI-MU), Neighborhood character zone as defined in the 

Kelly Park Interchange Form Based Code, and with the following Master Plan provisions:  

 

1. Development of the property is subject to the requirements of the Kelly Park Interchange 

Form Based Code, Neighborhood character zone.  

 

2. The architectural design of the buildings must be consistent with Section K.2.g, and 

Appendix A of the Kelly Park Interchange Form Based Code.  

 

3. A 10-foot wide trail will be constructed within the development, connecting the subject 

property to future developments located to the north and south to facilitate development of 

a regional trail system. 

 

4. A 12-foot wide multi-purpose trail will be constructed along the portion of the development 

abutting Plymouth-Sorrento Road to facilitate the construction of a regional trail system.  

Said trail shall be placed in an easement or tract. 

 

5. Perpetual easements dedicated to the City of Apopka shall be provided over the internal 

pedestrian pathways and trail networks to allow public access. 

 

6. A minimum living area of 1,500 square feet shall be provided.  
 

7. All internal multi-use paths, and the 12-foot path along Plymouth-Sorrento Road shall be 

constructed of either concrete or an asphalt surface. 

Section II.  That the zoning classification of the following described property, being 

situated in the City of Apopka, Florida, is hereby Kelly Park Interchange Mixed-Use (KPI-MU), 

Neighborhood character zone as defined in the Kelly Park Interchange Form Based Code. 

 

Legal Description: Attachment “A” 

 

 Section III.  That the zoning classification is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan of 

the City of Apopka, Florida. 

 

 Section IV.  That the Community Development Director, or the Director’s designee, is 

hereby authorized to amend, alter, and implement the official zoning maps of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, to include said designation. 

 

 Section V. That if any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance proves 

to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the validity, 

force or effect of any other section or portion of section or subsection or part of this ordinance. 

 

 Section VI.  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed.  

 

294



ORDINANCE NO. 2656 

PAGE 3 

 

 Section VII.  That this Ordinance shall take effect upon the date of adoption. 
 
 

                     
 
 

       _____________________________________ 
       Bryan Nelson, Mayor                                  
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
__________________________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: April 27, 2018     
     
  

 
READ FIRST TIME:  June 6, 2018 
 
READ SECOND TIME 
AND ADOPTED:      

295



ORDINANCE NO. 2656 

PAGE 4 

 

 

ATTACHMENT “A” 

 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

Parcel ID Nos.: 12-20-27-0000-00-032; 12-20-27-0000-00-090 

Combined Acreage: 51.061 +/- Acres 

 

A portion of land being in the East half of Section 12, Township 20 South, Range 27 East, Orange 

County, Florida and being more particular described as follows: 

 

Commence at the northeast corner of the northeast quarter of said section 12; thence run along the 

East line of said northeast quarter, South 00° 01' 00” East, 1876.78 feet, thence leaving said East 

line run North 85° 37' 03” West, 30.08 feet to a point on the West Right of Way line for Plymouth 

Sorrento Road, said point also being the POINT OF BEGINNING; thence run along said West 

Right of Way line, South 00° 01' 00” East, 930.76 feet; thence leaving said West Right of Way 

line run, South 89° 12' 07” West, 2091.52 feet to a point on the easterly Right of Way line of State 

Road 429 (Wekiva Parkway), said point being on a non-tangent curve, concave to the East, having 

a radius of 3300.00 feet, central angle of 027° 07' 49”, a chord bearing of North 16° 12' 47” East 

and a chord distance of 1548.04 feet; thence run along said easterly Right of Way line and arc of 

said curve 1562.59 feet to a point of non-tangency; thence leaving said Right of Way line run, 

North 89° 17' 05” East, 339.10 feet; thence run, South 00° 09' 41” West, 429.58 feet; thence run, 

South 85° 37' 03” East, 1324.83 feet to the POINT OF BEGINNING. 

 

Said portion of land contains 51.061 Acres more or less. 

 

296



Latest Issue:  May 14, 2018

Date Issued:  September 6, 2017

Issued for: Zoning Approval

Ahifo-18 LLC.

Phone:  407.839.4006  

Owner:

Surveyor:

Site Location Map

1800 N Military Trl Ste 470
Boca Raton, Florida  33431

Urban Planner/Civil Engineer:

225 E. Robinson Street, Suite 300
Orlando, Florida  32801
Phone:  407.839.4006 · Fax:  407.839.4008

VHB

 Property Information

Master Plan
Bridle Path Mixed KPI
Concept Plan
City of Apopka, Florida
Parcel ID:  12-20-27-0000-00-032

  Sheet Index
Number Drawing Title Latest Issue

2 Existing Conditions 9/6/2017

3 Concept Plan & Site Data 5/14/2018

SV-1 Boundary Survey 9/1/2017

225 E. Robinson Street, Suite 300
Orlando, Florida  32801
Phone:  407.839.4006 · Fax:  407.839.4008

VHB

 Site 

A portion of land being in the East half of Section 12, Township 20 South, Range 27 East, Orange County, Florida and being more particular described as follows:

Commence at the northeast corner of the northeast quarter of said section 12; thence run along the East line of said northeast quarter, South 00° 01' 00” East,

1876.78 feet, thence leaving said East line run North 85° 37' 03” West, 30.08 feet to a point on the West Right of Way line for Plymouth Sorrento Road, said point

also being the POINT OF BEGINNING; thence run along said West Right of Way line, South 00° 01' 00” East, 930.76 feet; thence leaving said West Right of Way

line run, South 89° 12' 07” West, 2091.52 feet to a point on the easterly Right of Way line of State Road 429 (Wekiva Parkway), said point being on a non-tangent

curve, concave to the East, having a radius of 3300.00 feet, central angle of 027° 07' 49”, a chord bearing of North 16° 12' 47” East and a chord distance of

1548.04 feet; thence run along said easterly Right of Way line and arc of said curve 1562.59 feet to a point of non-tangency; thence leaving said Right of Way

line run, North 89° 17' 05” East, 339.10 feet; thence run, South 00° 09' 41” West, 429.58 feet; thence run, South 85° 37' 03” East, 1324.83 feet to the POINT OF

BEGINNING.

Said portion of land contains 51.061 Acres more or less.

E
n

g
i
n

e
e
r
s
 
|
 
S
c
i
e
n

t
i
s
t
s
 
|
 
P

l
a
n

n
e
r
s
 
|
 
D

e
s
i
g

n
e
r
s

225 E. Robinson Street, Suite 300
Orlando, Florida 32801
407.839.4006 • FAX 407.839.4008
Certificate of Authorization Number FL #3932

12-20-27-0000-00-090

297



P
L
Y

M
O

U
T

H
 
S

O
R

R
E
N

T
O

 
R

D

B

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
E

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
T

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
W

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Y

7

0
7

0

75

8

0

8

5

9
0

9

5

1

0

0

105

75

7

0

1
1
0

1
1
5

1

2

0

P
L
Y

M
O

U
T

H
 
S

O
R

R
E
N

T
O

 
R

D

B

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
E

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
T

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
W

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Y

6410

6460

5300

6430

2510

4200

2510

4200

4200

4200

1180

2150

2110

2430

4340

4410

1180

P
L
Y

M
O

U
T

H
 
S

O
R

R
E
N

T
O

 
R

D

B

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
E

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
T

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
W

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Y

6170

3

28

5
4

47

3

3

6

5

P
L
Y

M
O

U
T

H
 
S

O
R

R
E
N

T
O

 
R

D

B

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
E

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
T

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
W

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Y

C-2

Floodplain (100 Year)

Flood Prone Area

Source:

Orange County GIS, 2017

Topography

Topographic Contour

Source:

Orange County GIS, 2017

105

Soils

Soil Code Description

3 Basinger Fine Sand, depressional

4 Candler Fine Sand, 0 to 5 percent slopes

5 Candler Fine Sand, 5 to 12 percent slopes

6 Candler-Apopka Fine Sand, 5 to 12 percent slopes

28 Florahome fine sand, 0 to 5 percent slopes

47 Tavares-Millhopper fine sand, 0 to 5 percent slopes

Source:

Orange County GIS, 2017

Vegetation
Code Description

2510 Horse Farms

4200 Upland Hardwood Forests

4340 Upland Mixed Coniferous/Hardwood

6170 Mixed Wetland Hardwoods

Source:

FLUCFCS, 2017

Certificate of Authorization Number 3932
407-839-4006 • FAX 407-839-4008
Orlando, Florida 32801
225 E. Robinson Street, Suite 300

Environmental Services
Land Development
Transportation

Bridle Path PD

City of Apopka, Florida

April 10, 2018 61924.00

Planning + Design Studio

Appvd.DateRevisionNo.

Environmental

Conditions

298



Dowman Dr

P
l
y
m

o
u

t
h

 
S
o

r
r
e
n

t
o

 
R

d

(ZIP)

Park

Spring

ANNEX

RURAL

ANNEX

RURAL

RURAL

ANNEX

RURAL

RURAL

(ZIP)

(A-1)

(A-R)

(A-1)

(A-1)

(R-CE)

(ZIP)

Park/Stormwater

Pond

SINGLE-FAMILY

RESIDENTIAL

Clubhouse and Pool

Project Entrance

Landscape Buffer

& Trail

Landscape

Buffer

Landscape Buffer

B

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
E

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
L

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
T

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
W

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Y

Access to Adjacent Property

30' R.O.W of Expansion

Park/Stormwater

Pond

Pedestrian Access to

Adjacent Property

Upland Buffer-

25' Avg./15' Min.

(Typ.)

Wetland (Typ.)

300' Buffer from Existing Spring

Pedestrian Access to

Adjacent Property

Pedestrian Access to

Adjacent Property

50'

Lot Width

(Typical Lot)

110'

Lot Depth

40'

15' Front

75'

20' Rear

5' 5'

Typical 50'x110' Single-Family Lot

Scale: 1"=xx'

R/W

R/W

STREET

C-3

Project Boundary

       RURAL Future Land Use

        (A-1)      (Zoning)

Trail

Legend

Certificate of Authorization Number 3932
407-839-4006 • FAX 407-839-4008
Orlando, Florida 32801
225 E. Robinson Street, Suite 300

Environmental Services
Land Development
Transportation

Bridle Path PD

City of Apopka, Florida

April 10, 2018 61924.00

Planning + Design Studio

Appvd.DateRevisionNo.

Site Plan

TYPICAL LANDSCAPE BUFFER CROSS SECTION ALONG PLYMOUTH SORRENTO ROAD (N.T.S.)TYPICAL LANDSCAPE BUFFER CROSS SECTION ALONG ORLANDO BELTWAY (N.T.S.) * Recreation trail may be constructed within 30' R.O.W. dedication if
agreed to by Orange County at time of final engineering design.

*

299



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 6, 2018 
X PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 
 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Land Use Report 
X OTHER: Ordinance  Vicinity Map 
    Future Land Use Map 
    Adjacent Zoning Map 
    Adjacent Uses Map 
    Ordinance No. 2658 

  
SUBJECT:    ORDINANCE NO. 2658 - COMPREHENSIVE PLAN – LARGE SCALE – 

FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – EAGLES LANDING AT OCOEE, LLC 
    
REQUEST:  FIRST READING OF ORDINANCE NO. 2658 – COMPREHENSIVE PLAN - 

LARGE SCALE - FUTURE LAND USE AMENDMENT – EAGLES LANDING 
AT OCOEE, LLC – FROM MIXED USE (0-10 DU/AC) AND AGRICULTURE 
(0-1 DU/5AC) TO INDUSTRIAL; AND AUTHORIZE TRANSMITTAL TO 
THE FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITY 

  
SUMMARY:  

 
OWNERS:   Eagles Landing at Ocoee, LLC 
 
APPLICANT:   BlueScope Properties Group 
 
LOCATION: South of Peterson Road and West of State Route 429 
 
PARCEL ID #(S): 12-21-27-0000-000-015; 12-21-27-0000-000-017; 12-21-27-0000-000-021 
 
EXISTING USE:  Vacant 
 
DEVELOPMENT  
POTENTIAL:   977,486 sq. ft. industrial, commercial wholesale, or commercial services space 
 
CURRENT ZONING: R-1AA (Single Family Residential), A-1 (ZIP), Agriculture, and Mixed Use-

Employment Center 
 
PROPOSED ZONING: Planned Unit Development  
 
MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE 
DEVELOPMENT UNDER EXISTING FLU: 511 Dwelling Units 
FLUM:    PROPOSED FLU: 977,486 sq. ft. 
 
TRACT SIZE:   37.4 +/- acres (34.05 acres Mixed Use, 3.35 acres Ag)  

  
FUNDING SOURCE:  N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 
  

300



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EAGLES LANDING AT OCOEE, LLC 

PAGE 2 

 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The applicant intends to use the subject properties for an industrial park, 

and requests the City to assign a future land use designation of Industrial to the property.  A industrial 

warehouse developer has proposed to city staff to couple the subject site to industrial-zoned parcels to the 

north and northeast for an industrial complex. 

 

The subject properties were annexed into the City on May 20, 1998 via Ordinance 1171 and on July 3, 2006 

via Ordinance 1833.  The proposed Large Scale Future Land Use Amendment is being requested by the 

owner/applicant.  Pursuant to Florida law, properties ten acres or more are required to undergo review by 

State planning agencies. 

 

A request to assign a Future Land Use Designation of Industrial is compatible with the designations assigned 

to abutting properties.  The FLUM application covers approximately 37.4 acres.  

 

Industrial FLUM Uses: 

 

“The primary use shall be industrial, intensive commercial, agricultural and business/research 

parks. Also allowed are public facilities and supporting infrastructure. The use of the Planned Unit 

Development process shall be encouraged. The maximum floor area ratio shall be 0.60.” [Emphasis 

added] 

 

In conjunction with state requirements, staff has analyzed the proposed amendment and determined that 

adequate public facilities exist to support this land use change (see attached Land Use Report).  Based on 

the findings of the Land Use report, the proposed FLUM amendment is compatible with the surrounding 

and nearby land uses and the character of the general area. 

 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN COMPLIANCE: The proposed use of the property is consistent with the 

Institutional/Public Use designation and the proposed Professional Office\Institutional zoning. 

 

SCHOOL CAPACITY REPORT:  Since the proposed use, an industrial park, is a non-residential use, a 

capacity enhancement agreement with OCPS is not required. 

 

ORANGE COUNTY NOTIFICATION: The JPA requires the City to notify the County 30 days before 

any public hearing or advisory board.  The City properly notified Orange County on May 9, 2018. 

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 

June 12, 2018 - Planning Commission (5:30 pm) 

June 20, 2018 - City Council (7:00 pm) - 1st Reading & Transmittal 

 

DULY ADVERTISED: 

May 11, 2018 – Public Notice (Apopka Chief) and Notification (letters and posting) 

June 8, 2018 --  Public Notice (Apopka Chief) 

  

301



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EAGLES LANDING AT OCOEE, LLC 

PAGE 3 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 

The Development Review Committee finds the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive 

Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding area, and recommends transmittal of the change 

in Future Land Use from Agriculture (0-1 du/5 ac) and Mixed Use to Industrial for the properties owned by 

Eagles Landing at Ocoee, LLC. 

 

The Planning Commission, at its meeting on May 22, 2018, found the proposed amendment consistent 

with the Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the character of the surrounding area; and unanimously 

recommended transmittal of the Future Land Use Map designation from Agriculture and Mixed Use to 

Industrial to the Florida Department of Economic Opportunity. 

 

Recommended Motion:  Find the proposed amendment consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and 

compatible with the character of the surrounding area, and recommend transmittal of the Future Land Use 

Map designation from Agriculture and Mixed Use to Industrial to the Florida Department of Economic 

Opportunity. 

 
Note: This item is considered legislative.  The staff report and its findings are to be incorporated into 
and made a part of the minutes of this meeting. 
 

 

302



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EAGLES LANDING AT OCOEE, LLC 

PAGE 4 

 

LAND USE REPORT 

 

I. RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 

 

Direction Future Land Use Zoning Present Use 

North (City) “City” Industrial PUD and I-1 Industrial and Vacant Properties; 

Peterson Road ROW 

East (City and 

County) 

“City” Industrial and “County” Rural “City” I-1 and 

“County” A-1 

Vacant industrial land (City); 

Vacant land (County) 

South 

(County) 

“County” Rural A-2 Lake Apopka Restoration Area 

West 

(County) 

“County” Rural A-2 Lake Apopka Restoration Area 

 

II. LAND USE ANALYSIS 
 

The applicant intends to use this site for industrial or commercial wholesale business.  A warehouse business 

has submitted concept plans to couple this parcel with those owned by Mod-Florida Freezer Warehouse 

LTD to the northeast, and development a warehouse or industrial complex.  As the subject site current has 

access through planned industrial areas via from undeveloped Peterson Road right-of-way and an easement 

to the public road segment of Hermit Smith Road, the site is not attractive for residential development.   Use 

of the subject site for industrial, commercial wholesale, or commercial services is more compatible with 

the character of the planned and existing uses along Hermit Smith Road and undeveloped Peterson Road. 
 
North: Abutting the subject property to the north are industrial properties and vacant woodlands. 
 
West: The property to the west of the subject site is the Lake Apopka Restoration Area.  
 
South: Lake Apopka Restoration Area 
 
East: To the east of the subject site are vacant wooded properties.  
 
The proposed future land use designation of “City” Industrial is consistent with the surrounding future land 

use designations to the west and south, considering the proposed use, and with current uses along Hermit 

Smith Road. 

 

Therefore, staff supports the proposed future land use changes. 
 

Other Information:  
  

Wekiva River Protection Area: No 
 Area of Critical State Concern: No 
 DRI / FQD: No 
 

Wekiva Parkway and Protection Act:   The proposed amendment has been evaluated against the 
adopted Wekiva Study Area Comprehensive Plan policies.  While located within the Wekiva River Basin 
Study Area, the subject property is not located within the Protection Area. The proposed amendment is 
consistent with the adopted mandates and requirements.  The proposed Future Land Use Map (FLUM) 
amendment has been reviewed against the best available data, with regard to aquifer and groundwater 
resources.  The City of Apopka's adopted Comprehensive Plan addresses aquifer recharge and stormwater 
run-off through the following policies: 

303



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EAGLES LANDING AT OCOEE, LLC 

PAGE 5 

 

 Future Land Use Element, Policies 4.16, 14.4, 15.1, 16.2 and 18.2 

 Infrastructure Element, Policies 1.5.5, 4.2.7, 4.4, 4.4.1, 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 

 Conservation Element, Policy 3.18 

 

Karst Features: The Karst Topography Features Map from the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection shows that there are no karst features on this property. 

 

 Analysis of the character of the Property:  The properties do not front a paved public road at this 

time. The concept plan, submitted with the Planned Unit Development Rezoning Application, shows a 

configuration of industrial buildings and roads.  

 

 Analysis of the relationship of the amendment to the population projections: The proposed future 

land use designation for the property is Industrial.  Based on the housing element of the City's 

Comprehensive Plan, this amendment will not increase the City’s future population. 

 

CALCULATIONS: 

ADOPTED (City and County designations): 1 Unit(s) x 2.659 p/h = 3 persons 

PROPOSED (City designation): Industrial Park, 977,486 sq. ft. of building space 

 

 Housing Needs: This amendment will not negatively impact the housing needs as projected in the 

Comprehensive Plan.   

 

 Habitat for species listed as endangered, threatened or of special concern: Per policy 4.1 of the 

Conservation Element, a habitat study is required for developments ten (10) acres or more in size.  This site 

is greater than ten acres.  A habitat study will be required at the time of a development plan application. 

 

 Transportation: The City of Apopka is a Transportation Concurrency Exception Area.  Refer to 

Chapter 3 of the City of Apopka 2010 Comprehensive Plan. 

 

 Potable Water, Reclaimed Water & Sanitary Sewer Analysis: The subject property is located within 

the City of Apopka service area for potable water, reclaimed water and sanitary service.    
 

 Sanitary Sewer Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard:  None; 81 GPD/Capita ; 81 

GPD / Capita 

 

 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of Apopka 

 

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:  1,372    GPD 

 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:    146,623  GPD 

 

4. Capacity available:  Yes 

 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation: 81  GPD/Capita 

 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  81 GPD/Capita 

 

 
304



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EAGLES LANDING AT OCOEE, LLC 

PAGE 6 

 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result if proposed amendment: 

None 

  

Potable Water Analysis 

 

1. Facilities serving the site; current LOS; and LOS standard: None; 177 GPD/Capita ; 177 

GPD / Capita 
  
 If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider:  City of Apopka 
  

2. Projected total demand under existing designation:     1,470  GPD 
 

3. Projected total demand under proposed designation:   195,497  GPD 
 

4. Capacity available: Yes 
 

5. Projected LOS under existing designation:  177  GPD / Capita 
 

6. Projected LOS under proposed designation:  177  GPD / Capita 
 

7. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 
amendment: None 

 
8. Parcel located within the reclaimed water service area:  Yes 

 
 Solid Waste 
 

1. Facilities serving the site:  City of Apopka 
 

2. If the site is not currently served, please indicate the designated service provider: City of 
Apopka 

 
3. Projected LOS under existing designation:     72    lbs/  day 

 
4. Projected LOS under proposed designation:   1,955    lbs /  day 

 
5. Improved/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None  
 
 This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 
development approval. 
 
 Infrastructure Information 
 
 Water treatment plant permit number: CUP No. 3217 
 
 Permitting agency: St. John’s River Water Management District 
 
 Permitted capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  9.353  MGD 
 
 Total design capacity of the water treatment plant(s):  33.696  MGD 
 
 Availability of distribution lines to serve the property: Yes 
 
 Availability of reuse distribution lines available to serve the property: Yes 

305



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EAGLES LANDING AT OCOEE, LLC 

PAGE 7 

 
 Drainage Analysis 
 

1. Facilities serving the site:   None 
 

2. Projected LOS under existing designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm  
 

3. Projected LOS under proposed designation: 100 year – 24 hour design storm 
 

4. Improvement/expansion: On site retention / detention ponds 
 
 Recreation 
 

1. Facilities serving the site; LOS standard: City of Apopka Parks System ;  3 acre / 1000 
capita 

 
2. Projected facility under existing designation:  0.054  acres 

 
3. Projected facility under proposed designation:   N/A   acres 

 
4. Improvement/expansions already programmed or needed as a result of the proposed 

amendment: None 
 
This initial review does not preclude conformance with concurrency requirements at the time of 
development approval. 
  

306



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EAGLES LANDING AT OCOEE, LLC 

PAGE 8 

 
Eagles Landing at Ocoee LLC 

Proposed Large Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 
From: Agriculture (0-1 du/5 ac) and Mixed Use (0-15 un/ac) 

To: Industrial (Max. FAR 0.60) 
Proposed Change of Zoning: 

From: “County” A-1 (ZIP) and “City” R-1AA, Mixed-EC, and Agriculture 
To: “City” Planned Unit Development (PUD) 

Parcel ID #s: 12-21-27-0000-000-015, 12-21-27-0000-000-017, 12-21-27-0000-000-021  
 

VICINITY MAP 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

307



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EAGLES LANDING AT OCOEE, LLC 

PAGE 9 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  308



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EAGLES LANDING AT OCOEE, LLC 

PAGE 10 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Subject 

Properties 

309



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

EAGLES LANDING AT OCOEE, LLC 

PAGE 11 

 

 

 

ADJACENT USES 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Subject 

Properties 

310



ORDINANCE NO. 2658 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, AMENDING 

THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE APOPKA 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN OF THE CITY OF APOPKA; CHANGING THE 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION FROM MIXED USE AND 

AGRICULTURE TO INDUSTRIAL FOR CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY 

GENERALLY LOCATED SOUTH OF PETERSON ROAD AND WEST OF 

STATE ROAD 429, OWNED BY EAGLES LANDING AT OCOEE, LLC; 

COMPRISING 37.4 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, on October 2, 1991 adopted 

Ordinance No. 653 which adopted the Comprehensive Plan for the City of Apopka; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka has subsequently amended the Comprehensive Plan for 

the City of Apopka, most recently through Ordinance No. 2560; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Apopka’s Local Planning Agency and the City Council have 

conducted the prerequisite advertised public hearings, as per Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, relative 

to the transmittal and adoption of this ordinance and the requirements for amendment to the 

Comprehensive Plan.   

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Apopka, 

Florida, as follows:  

 

 SECTION I: The City of Apopka hereby amends the Future Land Use Element of the 

adopted Comprehensive Plan as follows:   

 

 The Future Land Use Map is hereby amended for the property identified in Exhibit “A” of 

this Ordinance, and incorporated herein by reference.  

 

 SECTION II: This Ordinance shall become effective following adoption and upon issuance 

by the Department of Economic Opportunity or the Administration Commission, as may be 

applicable, a final order finding the amendment to be in compliance in accordance with Chapter 

163.3184.  

 

 SECTION III: If any section or portion of a section or subsection of this Ordinance proves 

to be invalid, unlawful, or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair the validity, 

force, or effect of any other section or portion of a section or subsection or part of this ordinance.  

 

 SECTION IV:  That all ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby 

repealed. 

 

 

 

311



ORDINANCE NO. 2645 

PAGE 2 

 

 

SECTION V: This Ordinance shall become effective upon issuance of a final order by the 

Florida Department of Economic Opportunity finding the plan amendment in compliance in 

accordance with s.163.3184 (2)(a), Florida Statute. 

 

 ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Apopka, Florida, this 

____ day of _____________, 2018. 

 

 

READ FIRST TIME: June 6, 2018 

  

READ SECOND TIME 

AND ADOPTED: 

 

 

 

 

_______________________________________                                                                       

       Bryan Nelson, Mayor                            

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

_______________________________ 

Linda Goff, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

DULY ADVERTISED FOR PUBLIC HEARING: April 24, 2018 

  

312



ORDINANCE NO. 2645 

PAGE 3 

 

EXHIBIT “A” 
Eagles Landing at Ocoee, LLC 

Property Owners 

37.4 +/- Acres 

Proposed Large Scale Future Land Use Amendment: 

From:  Mixed Use and Agriculture 

To: Industrial 
Parcel ID #s: 12-21-27-0000-000-015; 12-21-27-0000-000-017;  

12-21-27-0000-000-021  
  

 

 

313



 

CITY OF APOPKA 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

 
 

 CONSENT AGENDA  MEETING OF: June 6, 2018 

 PUBLIC HEARING  FROM: Community Development 

 SPECIAL REPORTS  EXHIBITS: Vicinity Map 

X OTHER:  Vacate  Resolution No. 2018-08 

    Ex. A - Plat – Stanton Ridge 

    Ex. B – Legal Ad 
  
SUBJECT:    RESOLUTION 2018-08 – STANTON RIDGE – VACATION OF 

SUBDIVISION PLAT 

    

REQUEST:  ADOPT RESOLUTION 2018-08 TO VACATE THE STANTON 

RIDGE SUBDIVISION PLAT 
  
SUMMARY:  

 
OWNER/APPLICANT:  Central Florida Expressway Authority 
 
LOCATION: West side of State Road 429, west of the intersection of Belgian Street 

and Plymouth Sorrento Road 
 
LAND USE:    Residential Low Suburban (0-3.5 du/ac) 
 
ZONING:    R-1AA 
 
EXISTING USE:   Vacant single-family residential subdivision 
 
AREA TO BE VACATED:  Plat, Stanton Ridge, Plat Book 68, Pages 18-22 
 
RELATIONSHIP TO ADJACENT PROPERTIES: 
 

Direction Land Use Zoning Present Use 
North - City Agriculture AG SR 429 right-of-way 
East - City Residential Low Suburban R-1AA, A-

1 (ZIP) 
Single Family residences, 

agricultural uses 
South - County Low Density Residential  “County” 

A-1, R-1A 
SR 429 right-of-way, Single-

family residences 
West – County, 

City 
“City” Institutional/Public Use, “City” 

Residential Low Suburban, “County” Low 
Density Residential 

“County” 
R-1, “City” 
A-1 (ZIP) 

Single Family residences, 
City of Apopka Plymouth 

Regional Water Plant 

  
FUNDING SOURCE:  N/A 
  
DISTRIBUTION 
Mayor Nelson     Finance Director  Public Services Director  
Commissioners      HR Director   Recreation Director    
City Administrator    IT Director   City Clerk  
Community Development Director  Police Chief   Fire Chief 

 314



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

STANTON RIDGE – VACATION OF SUBDIVISION PLAT 

PAGE 2 

 

 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS:  The Central Florida Expressway Authority has submitted an application 

to vacate the plat for Stanton Ridge. Stanton Ridge was platted as a 65 lot subdivision in 2007. Infrastructure 

for the subdivision was constructed. Following construction of subdivision infrastructure and recording of 

the Stanton Ridge Plan, the property was acquired by the Central Florida Expressway Authority for right-

of-way necessary to accommodate State Road 429 (aka Wekiva Parkway). According to the applicant, the 

expressway authority used approximately 1/3 of the eastern side of the Stanton Ridge subdivision for 

tollway right-of-way.  

 

City staff has followed the process for plat vacation outlined in Florida Statute 177.101, which requires the 

City Council to adopt a resolution vacating a plat and return the property covered by the plat into acreage.   

 

The applicant has submitted the City a new Final Development Plan and Plat for consideration of approval. 

This new plan and plat detail the new configuration following the construction of State Road 429. The 

remaining portions of the property detailed on the new Final Development Plan and Plat will be marketed 

to a home builder.  

 

CONDITON OF APPROVAL:  The plat vacate resolution will be recorded in the official records of 

Orange County until a new plat has been approved by City Council. This process of recording the two at 

the same time will assure that the City retains legal access across the Stanton Ridge property to access the 

City’s sanitary sewer lift station and has a legal means to access the western side of the Stanton Ridge 

subdivision across Belgian Street. 

 

PUBLIC HEARING SCHEDULE: 

June 6, 2018 - City Council (1:30 p.m.) 

 

DULY ADVERTISED: 

May 18, 2018 - Public Hearing Notice (Apopka Chief) 

May 25, 2018 – Public Hearing Notice (Apopka Chief) 

   
RECOMMENDATION ACTION:  
 

The Development Review Committee recommends approval of the request to vacate the subdivision plat 
as described in the legal description. 
 
City Council: Approve Resolution 2018-08. 
 
 

315



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

STANTON RIDGE – VACATION OF SUBDIVISION PLAT 

PAGE 3 

 

 

  

Stanton Ridge 

Proposed Vacation of subdivision plat 
 

 

VICINITY MAP 

 
 

  
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
316



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

STANTON RIDGE – VACATION OF SUBDIVISION PLAT 

PAGE 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

STANTON RIDGE AERIAL MAP 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 317



CITY COUNCIL – JUNE 6, 2018 

STANTON RIDGE – VACATION OF SUBDIVISION PLAT 

PAGE 5 

 

 

Legal Description: 
 

Stanton Ridge, Plat Book 68, Pages 18-22, City of Apopka, Orange County, Florida. 

 

Containing: 31.43 acres, more or less. 

 

EXHIBIT “A”. 

 

 

318



RESOLUTION 2018-08 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF APOPKA, FLORIDA, TO VACATE 

THE PLAT OF STANTON RIDGE, PLAT BOOK 68, PAGES 18 THROUGH 

22; PROVIDING FOR DIRECTIONS TO THE COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR, SEVERABILTY, CONFLICTS, AND AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council is authorized to adopt a resolution vacating plats, 

either in whole or in part, in subdivisions located in the City of Apopka pursuant to Section 

177.101(3), Fla. Stat., and Section 12.02.06.D of the Apopka Land Development Code; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Central Florida Expressway Authority is the owner of the lands of 

the Stanton Ridge plat, and applied to the City of Apopka Community Development 

Department to vacate the plat described as follows: 

 

Stanton Ridge, Plat Book 68, Pages 18 through 22, Lying and being in Section 

36, Township 20 South, Range 27 East, Orange County, Florida, 
 

WHEREAS, as required by Section 177.101(3), Fla. Stat., and Section 12.02.06.D of 

the Apopka Land Development Code, the Central Florida Expressway Authority owns the 

fee simple title to the plat sought to be vacated; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Community Development Department, after conducting an 

investigation required under Section 12.02.06.D the City of Apopka Land Development 

Code, reached a favorable recommendation on the application for the plat vacation; and 

 

WHEREAS, Central Florida Expressway Authority has satisfied the publication of 

legal notice requirements of Section 177.101(4), Fla. Stat, and Section 12.02.06.D the City 

of Apopka Land Development Code, see EXHIBIT "B" attached hereto and by reference 

made a part hereof; and 

 

WHEREAS, the platted subdivisions in entirety lies within the corporate limits of 

Apopka; and 

 

WHEREAS, Central Florida Expressway Authority has certified that all state and 

county taxes (and municipal taxes if applicable) have been paid as required by Section 

177.101(4), Fla. Stat., and Section 12.02.06.D the City of Apopka Land Development Code; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council, in accordance with Section 177.101(3), Fla. Stat., and 

Section 12.02.06.D the City of Apopka Land Development Code, has determined that 

vacating the plat owned by Central Florida Expressway Authority will not affect the 

ownership or right of convenient access of persons owning adjacent properties, and is in the 

best interest of the public welfare. 

319



RESOLUTION NO. 2018-08 

PAGE 2 

 

BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF APOPKA FLORIDA: 

 

Section I. Findings. The City Council finds, determines and declares that the recitals 

in the preamble are true and correct, and hereby incorporates them by reference. 

 

Section II. Approval of the application to vacate the plats. The plat of Stanton Ridge 

as described in Exhibit "A" is vacated, and the property covered by the plat, is returned to 

acreage. 

 

Section III. Streets and alleys. All streets and alleys within the portion of the vacated 

plat that are not highways necessary for use by the traveling public are also vacated. 

 

Section IV. Authority of the Mayor. The Mayor is hereby authorized to execute any 

documents approved by the City Attorney related to that portion of the vacated plat. 

 

Section V. Effective Date. This resolution shall take effect when a certified copy of 

the adopted resolution, together with a copy of the proof of publication of the Notice of Public 

Hearing, and a copy of the proof of publication for the adopted Resolution has been filed with 

the Clerk of the Circuit Court and duly recorded in the public records of Orange County, 

Florida. 

 
 
 

        _______________________  
        Bryan Nelson, Mayor                                  
 
ATTEST:  
 
 
___________________ 
Linda Goff, City Clerk 
 
DULY ADVERTISED: May 18, 2018; May 25, 2018  
 

320



EXHIBIT "A"

321



322



323



324



325



EXHIBIT "B"

326



 

327



 328



 
CAMPUS USA CREDIT UNION            06/1999 – 02/2002 
 
MEMBER SERVICE REPRESENTATIVE/TELLER – HUNTER’S CROSSING BRANCH 
 

 Managed an average $100,000 of cash transactions daily 
 Implemented credit analysis 
 Trained 5-10 new tellers annually 

 
PROFESSIONAL MEMBERSHIPS 
Member, Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) 
Director and Member, Florida Government Finance Officers Association (FGFOA)  
Committee Chair, Florida Government Finance Officers Association (FGFOA) Membership Development Committee  
Sub-Committee Chair, Florida Government Finance Officers Association (FGFOA) Membership Involvement Ad-hoc 
Committee  
Committee Member, Florida Government Finance Officers Association (FGFOA) 2012 School of Government  
Committee Member, Florida Government Finance Officers Association (FGFOA) Technical Resources  
Past President and Member, Central Florida Chapter Florida Government Finance Officers Association (FGFOA)  
 
 
OTHER CERTIFICATION AND ACHIEVEMENTS 
Leadership Osceola Class of 2015 Graduate 
Certified Government Finance Officer (CGFO) #0418, November 2008 
Member, Beta Alpha Psi 
Member, Phi Theta Kappa International Honor Society 
Hawthorne Middle/High School Valedictorian 
 
EDUCATION 
UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH FLORIDA  TAMPA, FL        05/2000 – 08/2002 
Bachelor of Science, Business Administration, Major Accounting 
 
UNIVERSITY OF FLORIDA   GAINESVILLE, FL       08/1999 – 05/2000 
Business Administration, Major Accounting 
 
SANTA FE COMMUNITY COLLEGE GAINESVILLE, FL       08/1996 – 06/1999 
Associate of Arts, Major Accounting 
 
 
 

329


	Top
	1. 06-06-18 - CC - APPROVAL OF MINUTES - 04.11.18 (placeholder)
	04-11-18.docx

	2. 06-06-18 - CC - APPROVAL OF MINUTES 5/16/18 (placeholder)
	05-16-18 draft.docx

	1. 06-06-18 - CC - Employee Recognition
	1. 06-06-18 - CC - Presentations - Sunshine Laws Overveiw
	2. 06-06-18 - CC - Presentations - PS Woodard &amp; Curran
	Woodard and Curran Meter Management Report Presentation.pptx
	Management Assessment of the Apopka Water Metering and Billing Systems April 2018.pdf

	1. 06-06-18 - CC - Consent Agenda - Recreation - Alcohol Sales - 4th of July
	Staff Report - Event Alcohol Sales 4th of July.pdf

	2. 06-06-18 - CC - Consent Agenda - Appointment of PC Member
	Planning Commission Appointment-staff report 06.06.18.docx
	LDC 11.05.00 The Planning Commission.pdf
	Planning Commission Members 06-01-18.pdf
	City of Apopka Planning Commission Application.pdf
	Butch Stanley Resume.pdf

	3. 06-06-18 - CC - Consent Agenda - Appointment of FD Pension Member
	06.06.18 FD Pension Board Member.docx
	Pension board resignation.pdf

	4. 06-06-18 - CC - Consent Agenda - PD - Private Street Agreement at Townhouses at Wekiva Park
	PD - Townhomes private street Agreement.docx
	Townhomes At Wekiva Park.pdf

	5. 06-06-18 - CC - Consent Agenda - Surplus Jet A Fuel
	06.06.18 Sale of Jet A Fuel.docx

	6. 06-06-18 - CC - Consent Agenda - PS - Award ITB 2018-13 - RWS Extension for Golden Gem
	Golden Gem RW Main Extension Contract Staff Report.pdf

	7. 06-06-18 - CC - Consent Agenda - Public Services - Extension of Piggybacking Agreement for Disaster Recovery and Debris Removal Services
	2018 Disaster Recovery and Debris Removal Contract Staff Report.docx
	CrowderGulf Extension Agreement.pdf

	8. 06-06-18 - CC - Consent Agenda - Updating Bank Signatures
	Glenn - Staff Report Signature Bank FBC 06.06.18.docx

	1. 06-06-18 - CC - Business - FLC designated Voting Delegate
	06.06.18 FLC Conference Delegate.pdf
	FLC - Voting Nomination.pdf

	2. 06-06-18 - CC - Business - Public Services - Approve the Issuance of a Blanket Purchase Order
	Public Services Blanket Purchase Order Staff Report 6-6-18-1.docx

	3. 06-06-18 - CC - Business - Public Services - Water Maintenance Division Budget Amendment
	FINAL Water Maintenance Budget Amendment Staff Report.pdf

	4. 06-06-18 - CC - Business - CA - Award ITB 2018-12 - Captial Improvement Revenue Note
	Staff Report - 2018 Loan (Hilltop comments 6-1-18).docx
	City of Apopka Capital Imprv Revenue Note Series 2018 (Recommendation Letter) 5.25.18.pdf

	5. 06-06-18 - CC - Business - FD Tower Truck
	TOWER 1 Staff Report 3.docx
	Proof Of Loss Statements.pdf
	Truck Pricing.pdf
	Truck Specifications.pdf

	6. 06-06-18 - CC - Business - FD Ambulance
	Ambulance Staff Report.docx
	Ambulance Proposal.pdf

	7. 06-06-18 - CC - Business - Final Development Plan - Carter Electric
	1 Carter Electric FDP CC 6.6.2018.pdf
	3 Architectural Renderings 3-16-18.pdf
	2 Carter Electric FDP - Full Plan Set.pdf

	8. 06-06-18 - CC - Business - Final Development Plan - Church&apos;s Chicken
	1 Church&amp;#39;s Chicken FDP CC 6.6.2018.pdf
	2 11x17 Church&amp;#39;s Chicken  - Final Development Plan.pdf
	3 Church&amp;#39;s Chicken Colored Elevations.pdf

	9. 06-06-18 - CC - Business - PUD Master Plan/Final Development Plan - RaceTrac - 1305 W. Orange Blossom Trail
	1 Racetrac CC 06-06-18.pdf
	2 RaceTrac - site _ landscape plan.pdf
	3 Racetrac EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS.pdf

	1. 06-06-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2646 - 2nd Rd - Comp Plan - Small Scale - FLUM - Fontaine
	1 Fontaine FLU 6-6-18 CC 2nd Rd.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2646.pdf

	2. 06-06-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2647 - 2nd Rd - Change of Zoning - Fontaine
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2647.pdf
	1 Fontaine RZ CC 2nd Rd 6-6-18.pdf

	3. 06-06-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2648 - 2nd Rd - Comp Plan - Small Scale - FLUM - Edmundson
	1 Edmondson FLU 2nd Rd 6-6-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2648.pdf

	4. 06-06-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2649 - 2nd Rd - Change of Zoning - Edmondson
	1 Edmondson RZ CC 2nd Rd 6-6-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2649.pdf

	5. 06-06-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2650 - 2nd Rd - Comp Plan - Small Scale - FLUM - SunTrust Bank
	1 SunTrust FLU CC 2nd Rd 6-6-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2650.pdf

	6. 06-06-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2651 - 2nd Rd - Change of Zoning - SunTrust
	2 Ordinance 2651.pdf
	1 SunTrust RZ CC 2nd Rd 6-6-2018.pdf

	7. 06-06-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2653 - 2nd Rd - Change of Zoning - Murphy
	1 Murphy RZ CC 2nd Rd. 6-6-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2653.pdf

	8. 06-06-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2656 - 1st Rd - Change of Zoning - AHIFO-18, LLC (aka Bridle Path)
	1 CC Staff Report Bridle Path Rezoning Master Plan - ZON - CC 06 12 18.pdf
	2 Ord  2656 - Bridle Path.pdf
	3 Exh A Bridle Path Master Plan.pdf

	9. 06-06-18 - CC - Ordinances - Ord. #2658 - 1st Rd - Comp Plan Large Scale FLUM - Eagles Landing at Ocoee, LLC
	1 Eagles Landing FLU CC1 6-6-2018.pdf
	2 ORDINANCE NO 2658.pdf

	10. 06-06-18 - CC - Resolutions - Resolution No. 2018-08 - Vacate - Stanton Ridge Plat
	1 Staff Report CC 06 06 18 Stanton Ridge plat vacation.pdf
	2 Resolution Stanton Ridge plat vacation.pdf
	3 Ex A - Stanton Ridge plat.pdf
	4 Ext B Stanton Ridge Plat vacation Aff of Pub.pdf

	1. 06-06-18 - CC - Mayors Report - Finance Director
	2018_04_26 Finance Director -Jamie Roberson - RESUME.pdf

	2. 06-06-18 - CC - Mayors Report - Community Center
	Bottom

